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About JKX Oil & Gas

> page 3

> page 5

> page 9

The opportunity for us  Ukraine, Russia and Hungary are the key  
regional markets in which we have chosen to operate. Ukraine, south  
west Russia and Hungary are all significant net consumers of oil and gas.  
We expect local governments to continue to encourage investment through 
attractive gas pricing. 

We are an established operator in Ukraine and an early mover into the 
independent gas sector in Russia and are well positioned to exploit these 
opportunities. In Ukraine and Russia we have proven gas, condensate and 
oil reserves and significant local operations which present an exciting 
opportunity for JKX to prosper.

Our operational focus  We are an upstream oil and gas company.  
We focus on the areas and geology we know best. The oil, condensate  
and gas that we produce is sold at our processing facilities. In 2011, our 
average daily production was 9,045 boepd and at 31 December 2011 we have 
proved and probable gas reserves of 524.1 Bcf and oil reserves of  
3.3 MMbbl (total 90.7 MMboe).

Our strategy  JKX’s deep understanding of the oil and gas markets in 
central and eastern Europe, considerable local expertise and established 
infrastructure underpins our ability to benefit from the attractive Ukrainian 
and Russian gas markets and return long-term value to shareholders. 

Our position as the most experienced western operator in Ukraine 
underlines our proven operational skills.

State-of-the-art 
facilities 
Construction of our 
state-of-the-art Gas 
Processing Facility (GPF) 
in Russia was completed. 
Production and gas sales 
are imminent >p32

Russian gas reserves 
increase by 98 Bcf
Following our extensive 
well testing and reservoir 
analysis for the 
Koshekhablskoye field,  
our gas reserves in 
Russia increased to 364.8 
Bcf (2010: 267.0 Bcf) 
>p32

Gas and oil  
realisations increase 
Realisations from gas 
were $9.74 per Mcf  
(2010: $7.59 per Mcf) 
and from oil were 
$98.27/bbl (2010: 
$69.15/bbl) >p37

LPG operation success 
Liquefied Petroleum Gas 
(LPG) sales commenced 
in July on time and on 
budget enhancing 
realisations from our 
Ukrainian gas 
production >p30

Gas realisations

Oil realisations

Russian gas  
reserves

28%

42%

36%

Highlights
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The opportunity we see

In Ukraine and Hungary the demand for oil and gas significantly exceeds  
local supply; they are net consumers. Whilst overall, as a country, Russia is a 
net producer of oil and gas, the Republic of Adygea, where we operate, and the 
neighbouring Krasnodar region, are significant net consumers. 
We believe that the opportunities open to us in these attractive gas markets 
will continue to expand as governments and relevant authorities look to 
encourage investment by non-state companies in oil and gas exploration and 
production; this is an attractive route towards rapidly increasing production 
regionally. We are well positioned to continue to exploit these opportunities.  

 Gas production and consumption (Bcf per annum)

Ukraine and Hungary

In Ukraine and Hungary oil and 
gas consumption continues to 
outstrip production many times 
over and is forecast to do so for 
the foreseeable future. 

Adygea and Krasnodar 
regions, Russia

The region of Krasnodar, of 
which the Republic of Adygea, 
where we operate, is an 
enclave, is a significant net 
consumer of oil and gas. 

Krasnodar region is located 
1,500km south of Moscow with 
a population of 5m people, of 
which 54 percent live in urban 
areas. 

Adygea is an autonomous 
republic in the south of  
Russia which spans  
7,600sq.km and has a 
population of approximately 
0.5m people.

Oil production                 Oil consumption

Gas production               Gas consumption

Sources: (1) Programme of Energy Efficiency to 2020 – Government of Adygea; (2) Presentation of gas supply-demand – Krasnodar 
Mezhriongas; (3) USA Energy Information Administration.

Oil production and consumption (‘000 bpd)(3)
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Gas realisations ($ per Mcf)

When the Ukraine domestic gas 
market opened up in 2003 we 
focused on increasing production 
to benefit from the increasing 
domestic gas prices. 

In September 2010 the Russian 
government made a final decision 
to increase gas sector tariffs by 
15% on 1 July 2012 and by 15% 
per annum in 2013 and 2014. 

We believe that the Russian 
domestic gas price will, after 
accounting for net-backed 
transportation costs, converge 
with the gas prices in western 
Europe by around 2020.

Our Ukrainian annual and cumulative 
revenue to date ($m)

We have maintained our leading position as one of 
the largest non-state producers of oil and gas within 
Ukraine. PPC continues to be the only non-state oil and 
gas company with a connection to the Souyez pipeline 
which transports gas directly into mainland Europe.

Capital expenditure ($m) 

Our significant local expertise and presence in our 
core regions means that we are well placed to quickly 
develop any value-creating opportunities.

Our reserves across the region have grown through 
continued investment and our technical expertise has 
been bolstered during the year with the addition of six 
technically skilled staff in the London office.

Group reserves at the end of year (MMboe)

In Russia our assessment of reserves at our 
Koshekhablskoye field have increased 2P reserves to 
364.8 Bcf of gas and 0.4MMbbl of oil (total 61.2 MMboe) 
and forecasts gas production for many years to come.

Our gas/oil production mix (%) 

Our primary focus is on gas which made up 75% of 
our total production this year. Our future production 
is expected to continue to be gas-focused in order to 
capitalise on anticipated gas price rises in Russia 
and continued strong gas realisations in Ukraine and 
Hungary.
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Historical and future gas prices – Ukraine and Russia

Ukraine gas realisations  Ukraine forecasted (F/c) figures

Russia gas realisations  Russia forecasted (F/c) figures
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Oil
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Cumulative
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Operational focus and assets

We have a strong track record of successfully developing our assets. 
In Ukraine and Russia we have built signifi cant gas production and processing 
facilities which we own and operate. In Hungary our oil and gas operations and 
assets are held in a 50/50 joint venture and operated by our partner. 

We established our presence in Ukraine in 1994 and our cumulative revenues 
in Ukraine have exceeded $1.4bn. 

Our business has matured over recent years and as part of that journey we 
have built a superior operating capability in Ukraine. We have developed a 
strong local presence in Ukraine and Russia, drawing on extensive industry 
and country-specifi c knowledge and experience to deal with the local 
operating environment. 

We focus on central and eastern Europe and on geology that we know 
best. We have proven expertise in oil and gas and proven management and 
administrative functions locally where there can be signifi cant bureaucratic 
processes to everyday business.

Our focus on delivering value to shareholders is demonstrated by our 
profi t record.

In Ukraine and Russia we have built signifi cant gas production and processing In Ukraine and Russia we have built signifi cant gas production and processing 
facilities which we own and operate. In Hungary our oil and gas operations and facilities which we own and operate. In Hungary our oil and gas operations and 
assets are held in a 50/50 joint venture and operated by our partner.assets are held in a 50/50 joint venture and operated by our partner.

in 1994 and our cumulative revenues in 1994 and our cumulative revenues 

Our business has matured over recent years and as part of that journey we Our business has matured over recent years and as part of that journey we 
have built a superior operating capability in Ukraine. We have developed a have built a superior operating capability in Ukraine. We have developed a 
strong local presence in Ukraine and Russia, drawing on extensive industry strong local presence in Ukraine and Russia, drawing on extensive industry 
and country-specifi c knowledge and experience to deal with the local and country-specifi c knowledge and experience to deal with the local 

We focus on central and eastern Europe and on geology that we know We focus on central and eastern Europe and on geology that we know 
best. We have proven expertise in oil and gas and proven management and best. We have proven expertise in oil and gas and proven management and 
administrative functions locally where there can be signifi cant bureaucratic administrative functions locally where there can be signifi cant bureaucratic 

Our focus on delivering value to shareholders is demonstrated by our Our focus on delivering value to shareholders is demonstrated by our 

administrative functions locally where there can be signifi cant bureaucratic administrative functions locally where there can be signifi cant bureaucratic 
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RUSSIA / Koshekhablskoye gas processing facility
Total reserves 61.2 MMboe

Our wholly owned 
subsidiary, 
Yuzhgazenergie (YGE), 
has redeveloped the 
Koshekhablskoye gas 
fi eld and constructed a 
state-of-the-art Gas 
Processing Facility 
(GPF). Gas production 
and sales will 
commence in 2012. 
>p32

Total 2P gas 
reserves 
(Bcf)

61.2

0

365

Total 2P 
reserves
(MMboe)

Lost 
Time 
Incidents

HUNGARY / Hajdunanas gas processing plant
Total reserves 1.0 MMboe

Our Hajdunanas and 
Gorbehaza fi elds in 
Hungary produce from 
three wells to a single 
separator and then via 
a 14.5km export line to 
an existing facility for 
input to the Hungarian 
gas pipeline system. 
>p34

Producing 
wells

7

11.6

3

Exploration 
wells 
drilled

Gas 
realisations 
per Mcf ($)

UKRAINE / Novo-Nikolaevskoye complex
Total reserves 28.5 MMboe

We have continued to 
maintain signifi cant 
production from the 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye 
Complex of fi elds with 
more than 40 producing 
wells. The Complex’s 
LPG facility is now fully 
operational. >p25

Wells 
drilled

21

42

2.9

8

Wells 
worked 
over

Av. drilling 
days per 
well

Av. drilling 
cost per
well ($m)

2011 highlights

2011 highlights

2011 highlights
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Operational focus and assets continued

In our core regions of Ukraine, Russia and Hungary, our portfolio now  
extends to 14 assets with activities spanning the full-cycle E&P value chain 
from exploration, appraisal and development through to production.

We seek to maximise output from our current production base in Ukraine and 
commercialise undeveloped discoveries already held in the portfolio in Russia 
and in Hungary. 

First Gas from the Koshekhablskoye field will demonstrate that one of our core 
strengths is the ability to turn reserves into production revenue and cash flow 
to re-invest across the business.

We continually review our portfolio of assets to maximise return on investment 
and cash flow from our exploration and production assets through strategic 
portfolio management. 

JKX has 100% interest in its licences except for the following:  * JKX has a 50% interest in this licence area  ** JKX has a 25% interest in this 
licence area  *** JKX has a 18% carried interest in this licence area

Asset life cycle     Licence area
    

UKRAINE

RUSSIA

HUNGARY

BULGARIA

SLOVAKIA

Country Exploration Appraisal Development Production

Ignatovskoye

Molchanovskoye North

Molchanovskoye Main

Novo-Nikolaevskoye

Rudenkovskoye

Molchanovskoye Wedge Zone

Elizavetovskoye

Zaplavskoye

Svidnik**

Medzilaborce**

Snina**

Provadia***

Koshekhablskoye Oxfordian

Koshekhablskoye Callovian

Hajdunanas*

Gorbehaza*

Turkeve*

Hernad I, II*

Veszto**
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Reserves proved and probable MMboe/depth as at 31 December 2011

Fields

Ignatovskoye

>p26

Molchanovskoye 

North
 & Main

>p27

Novo-

Nikolaevskoye

>p25, 28

Rudenkovskoye

Elizavetovskoye

>p29 >p31

Koshekhablskoye

>p32

Hajdunanas 

and Gorbehaza

>p34

UKR AINE RUSSIA HUNGARY

Remaining total reserves as at 31 December 2011

 1 Jan 2011 Revisions Production 31 Dec 2011

TOTAL 
Oil MMbbl 7.0 (2.8) (0.9) 3.3
Gas Bcf 468.5 70.3 (14.7) 524.1
Oil + Gas MMboe 85.1 8.9 (3.3) 90.7

UKRAINE 
Oil MMbbl 6.5 (3.0) (0.9) 2.6
Gas Bcf 195.3 (26.1) (13.9) 155.3
Oil + Gas MMboe 39.1 (7.4) (3.2) 28.5

RUSSIA 
Oil MMbbl 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.4
Gas Bcf 267.0 97.8 0.0 364.8
Oil + Gas MMboe 44.8 16.4 0.0 61.2

HUNGARY 
Oil MMbbl 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.3
Gas Bcf 6.2 (1.4) (0.8) 4.0
Oil + Gas MMboe 1.2 (0.1) (0.1) 1.0

At 31 December 2011 we updated our estimation of the Group’s proved and probable reserves. The estimations for our 
reserves in Ukraine and Russia have been reviewed by an independent engineer, Senergy (GB) Limited.

1km

2km

3km

4km

5km

6km

Oil Gas

0.2 1.0

1.0 0.3

0.1

2.3 0.8

2.1

1.2

0.4

20.4

60.8

0.3 0.7

0.3
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Our strategy to develop the opportunity

What makes JKX special?  We are successful because of the core strengths 
that we have built through the people that we employ and through many  
years of operational experience in the oil and gas industry in central and 
eastern Europe.

3. Superior stakeholder 
management

• Effective licencing 
management – continued 
acquisition of new 
acreage in Ukraine and 
commissioning of LPG 
(Ukraine) and GPF 
(Russia) plants in 2011

• Many years experience of 
stakeholder management 
in Ukraine from national 
government to employee 
level

• Significant Board 
expertise in our 
challenging operating 
environments

• Local management with 
western education and 
governance standards 
with extensive experience 
managing local 
relationships

1. Visionary:   
market identification/
analysis/positioning

•  Identified price and 
production gap in eastern 
European Markets  
(in Ukraine, Russia and 
Hungary)

• Positioned Company to 
be the first mover in 
target markets 

2. World class  
subsurface expertise

• Highly experienced 
technical teams both 
in-country and in head 
office in London

• In-house subsurface 
expertise being used to 
manage asset portfolio

4. Organisational acumen

• Organisational infra-
structure well established 
in country with tried and 
tested policies and 
procedures – 17 years of 
commercial production in 
Ukraine

• Ability to replicate our 
expertise in new markets 
(eg Russia) through cross 
fertilisation and use of 
basic but tested 
organisational framework 

• Demonstrated ability to 
manage all phases of oil 
operations from 
exploration, appraisal and 
development through to 
production

5. Demonstrated 
operational excellence/ 
low cost drilling 
and extensive field 
management experience

• 41 wells drilled/worked 
over in 2011 

• Currently over  
40 producing wells

• Proactive amendment and 
efficient management of 
licence requirements in 
Russia (reducing our 
commitment from 5 wells 
to 2 workovers)

• Continuous review of 
prospect inventory to 
prioritise spend on high 
impact drilling

JKX core strengths

5

 2
1

4

3
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How do we make decisions?  The decision making process is key to our 
continued success.

Commercial source
Technical subsurface source

Financial source

Strategic significance

Application of multi-disciplinary  
teams (technical, financial, commercial, 
operational)

Financial impact

Commercial merit

Technical evaluation

Project opportunity 
identification

Project analysis 
rigour discipline

Project risk return 
assessment
Stop/go

Transaction/
project 
management

Project/
transaction 
completion/  
results delivery

Outcome: 
increased 
shareholder 
value
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Our strategy – objectives

Our vision is to be the leading independent upstream exploration and 
production company in central and eastern Europe. 

We have been able to achieve this by applying our core strengths, focusing 
our efforts on opportunities where we have a strategic advantage and a deep 
understanding of the subsurface and where we can leverage on our track 
record and build strong partnerships with key stakeholders.

Strategic priority

Growth

• Production growth

• Oil and gas reserves growth

• Explore new opportunities across our existing 
portfolio

• Increase exposure to Ukrainian and Russian  
gas markets

• Acquire new licences

Achievements

• Group reserves increased by 8.9 MMboe  
(before 2011 production) mainly as a result of 
the successful reappraisal of Koshekhablskoye, 
Russia, which was offset by a reduction in 
Ukraine reserves

• Completion of construction of the 
Koshekhablskoye GPF

• Appraisal of various potential value-accretive 
opportunities in Ukraine

• Seven exploration wells drilled in Hungary

• Recruited a London-based team of subsurface 
experts

>

The LPG plant was opened 
by the Deputy Head of 
Poltava State Administration, 
Boris Galushko, in July.  
The process extracts 
propane and butane from 
our export gas stream for 
sale as LPG. This reduces 
the gas available for export 
however the value of the 
LPG revenue significantly 
exceeds the sales value of 
the gas lost and therefore 
enhances our economic 
performance by increasing 
overall realisations.
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Strategic priority

Health, Safety, Environment and 
Community (HSEC)

• Maintain our strong record on Health and  
Safety ensuring the safety of our people and 
operations

• Maintain and improve on our Environmental 
performance by reducing our impact on the 
environment with a policy of compliance with 
legislation and industry targets as a minimum 
level of achievement

• Attract, retain and support the best people in 
achieving their goals

• Support the local communities in which we 
operate

Strategic priority

Long-term shareholder value

• Maintaining a balance between exploration, 
appraisal and development investment with 
funding from production

• Continue to invest in investment opportunities 
in line with a consistent strategy

• Continual improvement in our corporate 
governance across all operations to effectively 
manage and mitigate risk

• Continual improvement in our policies, 
procedures and controls to ensure our systems 
and people deliver at the highest level

• Grow the Group’s reserves base and enhance its 
production profile

Achievements

• No significant accidents or incidents in over  
2.3 million man-hours of safety exposure  
in 2011

• A decrease in the AIFR (All Injury Frequency 
Rate*) to 0.17 (2010: 0.62)

• No Lost Time Injuries during the construction of 
our GPF plant at Koshekhablskoye, Russia

• Completion of LPG plant in Ukraine with  
zero accidents and no harm to people or the 
environment

• Final approval of the Health, Safety, 
Environment and Community (HSEC) 
Management System at our gas processing 
plant in Koshekhablskoye, Russia

• Purchased equipment and constructed a 
playground at the boarding school in Andriivka, 
Ukraine

 * All Injury Frequency Rate represents the health and 
safety incidents per 200,000 man-hours

Achievements

• Three new Board members from different 
backgrounds were appointed during the year 
bringing new skills and perspective to the Group

• One new female Board member appointed 
during the year and consequently we have made  
progress towards Lord Davies’ targets on 
gender diversity

• Developed, communicated and trained our staff 
in our Global Code of Conduct and supporting 
Statement of Ethics which are compliant with 
the Bribery Act 2010 and its guidance 

• Added LPG production and sales to the Group’s 
product portfolio

• Increased Koshekhablskoye field 2P reserves to 
364.8 Bcf of gas and 0.4 MMbbl of oil (total  
61.2 MMboe) forecasting gas production for 
many years to come

• Took a strategic decision to exit from our 
primary Bulgarian interest following an 
extensive but unsuccessful appraisal process

> >

2011 revenue  
from LPG

$10.9m
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Measuring our progress

We measure our progress through eight KPIs that are closely aligned with 
delivering our strategy.

Strategic priority

Growth 
KPI context  Appraisal Principle challenges

>

Production volumes (boepd)

The Board considers the future 
production profile of the Group’s 
interests to underpin the value of its 
asset portfolio.

The 12% decline overall was a 
function of reduced Ukrainian 
production and workover delays on 
the Hajdunanas field in Hungary.

• Continued success with our 
exploration and development 
drilling in Ukraine  >p24

• Success with the multi-frac 
programme for our deep tight gas 
Rudenkovskoye field later in the 
year >p29

• Completion and start-up of the 
Koshekhablskoye field in southern 
Russia

11 9,045

10 10,324

09 11,665

Capital expenditure ($m)

Capital expenditure is used by 
management to monitor levels of 
investment and maximise returns on 
investment and cash flow from our 
portfolio of oil and gas assets.

Our main focus was to complete the 
Russian gas processing facility and 
well redevelopment activities for the 
Koshekhablskoye gas field. We spent 
over $100m during the year to bring 
this project to fruition.

• Freeing up available funds for 
additional capital investment from 
our gas sales and profits in Russia  

• Deviations in timing and quantum 
of exploration and development 
expenditures can expose the Group 
to capital expenditure funding 
challenges  >p41

11 162.0

10 178.5

09 107.6

Production costs ($ per boe)

We have built an operation that can 
produce oil and gas at a low cost in 
and around Ukraine.

The underlying cost of production 
increased by 10% which is mainly 
due to reduced production volumes 
and inflationary pressures in 
Ukraine.

• Maintaining or increasing 
production volumes in Ukraine is 
key to keeping production costs  
per boe low

• With production imminent in 
Russia there is a strong focus to 
control our production-related 
costs

11 5.22

10 4.74

09 4.85

Ukrainian gas realisations ($ per Mcf)

The Board continues to pursue a 
strategy to maximise exposure to, and 
deliver value from, the Ukrainian and, 
in future, the Russian gas markets.

We have benefited from strong and 
stable oil and condensate 
realisations during the period which 
are projected to continue during 
2012. Strong rises in oil and gas 
realisations in both Ukraine and 
Hungary more than offset the 
production shortfalls.

• There is evidence of potential 
easing in the Ukrainian gas market 
during 2012 >p38

• Gas prices are set by the 
government and are impacted by 
their on-going gas price 
negotiations with Russia >p38

11 9.63

10 7.30

09 7.16
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Return on average capital employed (%)

The Board’s strategic objective of 
returning value to shareholders is 
most appropriately measured by the 
return on average capital employed.

The 147% increase includes the 
impact of the impairment to our 
Russian assets in 2010. Excluding 
the impairment effect there has been 
a 30% decrease in the year which 
reflects the significant Russian 
investment programme and 
decreased net profit due to new 
Ukrainian tax regimes.

• Group profits have been rebased in 
2011 with a higher level of taxation 
in Ukraine >p37 

• We will need to pay down our 
existing short-term borrowings, 
reshape our statement of financial 
position and provide greater 
liquidity to our operations >p19

Strategic priority

Health, Safety, Environment and Community (HSEC) 
KPI context  Appraisal Principle challenges

Strategic priority

Long-term shareholder value 
KPI context  Appraisal Principle challenges

>
>

All Injury Frequency Rate (AIFR)

We are committed to continuously 
improving our health and safety 
performance.

We have maintained an outstanding 
HSEC record this year with zero LTI’s 
(lost time injuries) in over  
2.3 million man-hours of safety 
exposure and a significant  
decrease in AIFR to 0.17 per 200,000 
man-hours worked.

• Maintaining a low AIFR and 
exceeding the industry 
performance benchmark in a 
hazardous industry >p51

• Production operations will 
commence in Russia in 2012 whilst 
maintaining our focus on safe and 
secure people and environment

11 0.17

10 0.62

09 1.50

11 12.1

10 4.9

09 23.1

Staff turnover – (%)

Our strategy relies on our ability to 
attract and retain the best people 
with appropriate skills at every level.

6.0% of staff left the Group in 2011, 
compared with 7.5% in 2010. We have 
improved our performance this year 
despite the rapid growth in our 
workforce which grew by over 20%  
in 2011.

• The long-term future of our 
operations are built using a high 
percentage of skilled local 
employees  >p15

• We are committed to provide 
continued career development and 
international opportunities 
supported by competitive 
remuneration >p14

11 6.0

10 7.5

Reserves at the end of the period (MMboe)

A significant contributor to adding to 
shareholder value is increasing our 
reserves base to secure long-term 
sustainable growth.

We completed a reserve review of our 
licence portfolio as of  
31 December 2011 and after 2011 
production of 3.3 MMboe, our 2P 
reserves have increased to  
90.7 MMboe (a reserves replacement 
ratio of 2.7).

• Our continued appraisal 
programme in Russian has the 
potential for another high reserves 
replacement ratio  >p33

• We expect continued success with 
our exploration programmes in 
Ukraine and Hungary that are 
planned for 2012 >p24

11 90.7

10 85.1

09 88.7
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Employee profile  Training and support

Workforce  
locally employed

Workforce  
locally employed

Our human capital

The success of our strategy relies on our ability to attract and retain the best 
people with appropriate skills at every level. We provide career development, 
international opportunities, a non-discriminatory workplace and competitive 
remuneration within a decentralised culture. 

Staff by region 2011

94%

97%

Workforce  
locally employed

97%

Male 80%

Male 85%

Male 77%

Female 20%

Female 15%

Female 23%

UKRAINE

RUSSIA

REST OF 
WORLD

UKRAINE 632 / Kiev,Poltava and Sokolova Balka

RUSSIA 267 / Moscow,Maikop and Koshekhablskoye

REST OF WORLD 39 / London,Tblisi and Amsterdam

Gene Palenka, Finance Director, 
CIS Region

“ I have been the Finance Director at 
Poltava Petroleum Corporation since 
1998 and was recently appointed as 
Finance Director of the CIS Region 
which includes Yuzhgazenergie, 
JKX’s Russian subsidiary. 

 This decentralised business model 
remains a key motivator for me.  
It allows key business decisions to 
be made where the best information 
exists.  

 This JKX model creates a strong 
sense of ownership and empowers 
management to take prompt 
decisions and to build meaningful 
partnerships with local 
stakeholders.“

39

632

267

938
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Employee profile  Training and support

Training 
investment

Staff  
turnover

Training 
investment

Staff  
turnover

Entrepreneurial spirit and 
engaged employees 
We maintain a lean corporate 
structure with approximately  
30 people at the London centre. 
The decentralised business model, 
underpinned by a robust  
governance framework which 
incorporates an emphasis on 
effective internal communication 
and consistent risk management 
processes, sets us apart.

We use expatriate teams to bring 
high governance standards and 
values during the formative stages 
of a project. The long-term future is 
then built using a high percentage 
of local employees. 

Teams from our Ukrainian 
subsidiary have been regularly 
working in Russia in recent 
months using their experience in 
building our Ukrainian business 
to assist with the conversion of 
the construction phase to the 
operational phase. 

$18,904 14.5%

$17,262 10.0%

Training 
investment

Staff  
turnover

$53,938 3.6%

Skill split

Skill split

Skill split

Technical 86

Technical 82

Technical 13

Managerial /  
Admin 162

Managerial /  
Admin 36

Managerial /  
Admin 18

Operations 384

Operations 149

Operations 8

Paul Wood, Field Operations, PPC

“ We researched the potential of the 
LPG market in Ukraine for many 
months before construction was 
approved. Delivering an operational 
LPG plant just 15 months after Board 
approval was a great achievement. 

It demonstrates our level of 
expertise in the upstream oil and gas 
industry.

After 34 years in technical roles in 
the oil and gas industry and 15 years 
with JKX, I continue to be motivated 
by the stream of technical 
challenges that JKX’s ambition 
provides.”

632

267

39
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Our financial performance

 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010

PRODUCTION SUMMARY 

Production     

Oil (Mbbl) 833  401  432 1,113 

Gas (Bcf) 14.8  7.1  7.7 15.9

Oil equivalent (Mboe)  3,301   1,586  1,715 3,768 

Daily production     

Oil (bopd)  2,281   2,179  2,385 3,049 

Gas (MMcfd) 41 39 43 44

Oil equivalent (boepd) 9,045  8,621  9,476 10,324 

 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010 
 $m $m $m $m

OPERATING RESULTS 

Revenue     

Oil 81.5 41.6 39.9 78.8 

Gas 143.1 75.4 67.7 112.9 

Liquefied petroleum gas 10.9 10.9 - - 

Other 1.4 1.2 0.2 1.2

 236.9 129.1 107.8 192.9 

Cost of sales     

Operating costs (17.3) (8.2) (9.1) (17.9) 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation - oil and gas assets (32.3) (16.0) (16.3) (33.2) 

Production based taxes (67.1) (34.1) (33.0) (5.2)

 (116.7) (58.3) (58.4) (56.3)

Provision for impairment of oil and gas assets/write off of exploration  

and evaluation costs (12.9) (6.6) (6.3) (13.7) 

Exceptional item – impairment of Russian assets - - - (74.6)

Total cost of sales (129.6) (64.9) (64.7) (144.6)

Gross profit 107.3 64.2 43.1 48.3 

Operating expenses     

Administrative expenses (25.7) (14.4) (11.3) (25.3) 

Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange 0.5 (0.7) 1.2 (2.6)

Profit from operations before exceptional item 82.1 49.1 33.0 95.0 

Profit from operations after exceptional item 82.1 49.1  33.0 20.4 
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 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010

EARNINGS 
Net profit ($m) 59.1 35.0 24.1 21.2

Basic weighted average number of shares in issue (m) 172 172 172 171

Earnings per share before exceptional item (basic, cents)  34.37 20.37 14.00 47.56

Earnings per share after exceptional item (basic, cents)  34.37 20.37 14.00 12.38

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ($m) 1 116.3 66.1 50.2 55.8

 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010

REALISATIONS 
Oil (per bbl) $98.27 $98.61 $97.92 $69.15

Gas (per Mcf) $9.74 $10.95 $8.68 $7.59

 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010

COST OF PRODUCTION ($/boe) 
Production costs $5.22 $5.20 $5.23 $4.74

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation $9.80 $10.11 $9.51 $8.82

Production based taxes $20.33 $21.48 $19.26 $1.39

 
 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010

CASH FLOW 
Cash generated from operations ($m) 124.2 65.3 58.9 146.3

Operating cash flow per share (cents) 72.1 36.2 35.9 85.6

 Total Second half First half Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2010

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
Total cash 2 ($m)  28.9   28.9  63.6 62.0

Gross Borrowings 3($m)  40.5   40.5  58.9 -

Net (debt)/cash 4($m)  (11.6)  (11.6) 4.7 62.0

Net (debt)/cash to equity (%)  (2.3)  (2.3) 0.1 13.2

Return on average capital employed (%) 5 12.1 13.8 8.7 4.9

Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets($m)     
Ukraine  41.4 15.3 26.1 56.1

Russia 103.4 40.2 63.2 107.8

Hungary 12.4 1.7 10.7 9.8

Other 4.8 3.8 1.0 4.8

Total  162.0   61.0  101.0 178.5 

1. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation is a non-IFRS measure and calculated using Profit from operations of $82.0m 
(2010: $20.3m) and adding back depletion, depreciation and amortisation of $34.3m (2010: $35.5m).

2. Total cash is Cash and cash equivalents plus Restricted cash.
3. Gross Borrowings is Borrowings gross of unamortised effective interest and arrangement fees.
4. Net (debt)/cash is Total cash less Gross Borrowings.
5. Return on average capital employed is the annualised Profit for the period divided by average capital employed.
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Chairman’s statement

As I complete my first year as Chairman of your Company, I reflect on a year 
which has demanded in full the capabilities of the organisation in order to bring 
to fruition our large development project in Russia which has depended on 
the cash flow from our Ukraine operations, albeit a cash flow depleted by the 
increase in taxation. 

A year of demand 
I am pleased to report that 
commercial production is imminent 
in Russia and we have met our 
2011 revenue targets in Ukraine. 

We have benefitted from strong  
and stable oil and condensate 
realisations during the period 
which are projected to continue 
during 2012. The Ukrainian gas 
market also remained buoyant in 
2011 although concern has been 
evident in the market that the 
current level of gas realisations 
may need to ease during 2012. 

Gas realisations in Russia are 
forecast to continue their annual 
upward movement towards 
European netback convergence 
following the recent presidential 
elections, although the date for this 
convergence is now anticipated 
towards the end of the decade.

Strategy
The Company remains committed 
to its strategy of acquiring and 

developing production assets 
in eastern and central Europe. 
Ukraine and Russia remain our 
primary markets and we are 
actively seeking to broaden our 
development and operational 
footprint in both countries. 

Acquisition of new assets in 
Ukraine remains difficult, although 
we have been successful in 
extending our exploration acreage 
in Poltava in the period; we are 
excited about the possibilities of 
this large area which is contiguous 
to our existing production licences. 

The independent gas sector in 
Russia continues to grow and, 
following the start-up of our 
production at Koshekhablskoye, 
provides a number of opportunities 
for us to pursue in southern 
Russia.

Performance 
A key factor in the growth of our 
operating capability is the 
continuous improvement of the 

quality and expertise of our 
personnel, particularly at our 
Ukrainian and Russian operating 
centres. The rapid increase in the 
last 18 months in the Russian 
workforce has placed additional 
demands on our supervisory staff 
and they are to be commended for 
their resilience and professionalism. 

In particular, I would highlight 
the outstanding record for health, 
safety, environmental matters and 
community liaison that we have 
achieved in 2011 with zero lost time 
injuries in more than 2.3 million 
manhours of safety exposure, and 
an all injury frequency rate which is 
well below the industry benchmark.

Production in Ukraine again 
underpinned the operations of 
the Group. The development 
drilling programme at Poltava 
has continued on schedule and 
has achieved success in finding 
additional reserves within our 
licence areas. Strong product 
prices and the successful start-

Sir Ian Prosser
Chairman

“ With production from our 
Russian gas plant imminent we 
are entering one of the fastest 
growing gas markets and are well 
positioned for growth.”
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All Injury Frequency Rate  
(AIFR)

Earnings per share  
(basic, cents)

111009 1110090807

0.17

34.37

0.62

47.56

1.50 54.23
49.8547.97

73% 28%

up of our LPG facility at mid-year 
in Poltava have both contributed 
to a record Company revenue 
generation of $236.9m for the 
period. 

Delays on completion of our large 
Russian project have pushed 
initiation of gas sales into this year, 
and this together with our cost of 
borrowings, has continued to put 
pressure on our cash position. This 
is forecast to ameliorate during 
the second half of 2012 with the 
reduction of capital spend in Russia 
and inflow of Russian production 
revenues.  

Progress has been made in our 
exploration programme with 
a successful well on our new 
Ukrainian acreage and a gas 
discovery in Hungary. We have 
also initiated a review of available 
exploration prospects in Russia in 
the vicinity of our Koshekhablskoye 
licence.

We have completed a reserve  
review of our licence portfolio as of  
31 December 2011, and I am 
pleased to announce that, after 
a total 2011 production of 3.3 
MMboe, we have increased our 2P 
reserves to 90.7 MMboe (a reserves 
replacement ratio of 2.7).

 

Your Board
This year has seen a number of 
changes in the composition of  
the Board. I noted in my Interim 
Statement that your Board 
supports the longer term 
aspirations of Lord Davies’s report 
on gender diversity on appointment 
of directors to boards. I would 
have been indeed prescient if I had 
been aware that we were shortly 
to appoint a woman as Finance 
Director who met our criteria for  
“…the highest quality people with 
the most appropriate experience 
for the requirements of the 
business, be they men or women.” 

Cynthia Dubin joined the Company 
as Finance Director in November 
and brings with her a wide 
experience of the oil and gas and 
energy sectors. Cynthia has a 
strong project finance and banking 
background and is an invaluable 
addition to the management team. 

November also saw Alastair 
Ferguson join the Board as a 
Non-Executive Director. Alastair 
has held a wide range of senior 
positions with BP during his 33 
years in the oil and gas industry, 
culminating in an eight year 
assignment in Moscow leading the 
gas and power business of TNK-BP 
in Russia and Ukraine. Alastair’s 

extensive knowledge of the specific 
area in which we are working will 
be of great benefit to the Company. 

Bruce Burrows retired as Finance 
Director at the end of September 
and I thank him and wish him well 
for the future.

Michel-Marc Delcommune retired 
from the Board in December and 
I thank him on behalf of the Board 
and all staff and shareholders for 
his contribution to the Company 
over the last three and a half years. 

Lord Oxford has stepped down as 
Senior Independent Director (SID), 
but I am delighted that he has 
agreed to remain as a member 
of the Board. Nigel Moore, the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
has taken over the role of SID, 
effective 1 November 2011. 

Dividend
In my Interim Statement, I 
highlighted the impact on available 
cash flow of the combination of a 
significant increase in taxation in 
Ukraine in 2011, the delay in start-
up of the Russian project and the 
attendant increased project costs. 
This led to our decision to forgo an 
interim dividend for 2011. These 
pressures continue. Your Board 
recognises that we will need the 
rest of this year to pay down  

> >
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Chairman’s statement continued

our existing short-term borrowings, 
reshape the balance sheet and 
provide a greater element of 
liquidity to our operations going 
forward. Consequently, the Board 
is not recommending any final 
dividend is paid for 2011.

Outlook 
The critical issue for your Company 
in the coming second quarter of 
2012 is to complete all aspects of 
our Russian project to enable the 
Company to sell its gas at plant 
capacity. Further work is also 
required on well 25 to bring it  
into production.

Our financial resources over the 
next 6 months will be stretched 
and it may be necessary to delay 
some drilling projects and the frac 
in Ukraine until later in the year.  
Ukraine remains the engine of the 
Group and we will continue our 
endeavours to broaden our licence 
position there.

Finally, I wish to thank all our 
shareholders for their continuing 
support of the Company and all 
staff for their sterling work in what 
has been a demanding year.
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Chief Executive’s statement

We have added an important operating centre in Russia to our production 
portfolio which now covers three countries in our core area.

Our performance
2011 was dominated by completion 
of construction activities on our 
Russian project and maintaining 
the pace of development drilling 
and start-up of our LPG facility in 
Ukraine.

Average oil and gas production for 
the year decreased by 12% to 9,045 
boepd (2010: 10,324 boepd) due 
to a modest decline in Ukrainian 
production and workover delays on 
the Hajdunanas field in Hungary. 

Production shortfalls were more 
than offset by strong rises in oil and 
gas realisations in both Ukraine 
and Hungary. Additionally, our 
Ukrainian LPG plant came on-
stream in July and made a $10.9m 
contribution to Group revenue 
which saw a 23% rise for the year to 
a record $236.9m (2010: $192.9m). 

Operating profit declined on 
a like to like basis by 14% to 
$82.1m (2010: $95.0m excluding 
exceptional impairment provision of 
$74.6m), reflecting the significant 
rise in Ukrainian production taxes 
in 2011 to $67.1m (2010: $5.2m).

Milestones and progress
In last year’s Report, I identified 
a number of near term objectives 
which support our long term 
strategy. Progress against these 
objectives are summarised below:

• Design/perform multi-frac of 
1km horizontal wellbore of well 
R-103 in the Rudenkovskoye 
field, Ukraine: Geological and 
geotechnical studies and design 
of the multi-frac were completed 
in the period. Tenders were issued 
to a number of international 
contractors for frac operation, 
and award is now scheduled in the 
second quarter of this year for the 
operation to be carried out in the 
second half of the year, subject to 
financial resources.

• Delivery, hook-up 
commissioning and start-up of 
the LPG facility in Ukraine: 
Installation of the facility was 
completed on-time and on-
budget, with start-up in early  
July 2011.

• Complete workover of Callovian 
well-09 and deepen well-22 to 
the Callovian reservoir in the 
Koshekhablskoye field, Russia: 

The workover of well-09 was 
successfully completed in the 
period. Side-tracking out of the 
existing casing into virgin 
reservoir is underway and is 
scheduled for completion in the 
second quarter. Well-22 was 
worked over to the Oxfordian 
horizon in the period. Completion 
of the workover is now scheduled 
for the second half of this year 
when equipment for repair of 
damage to the existing casing is 
sourced.

• Test Oxfordian well-25 and 
Callovian wells 09 and 22 in the 
Koshekhablskoye field, Russia: 
Well-25 was tested in the period 
with sustained gas flows of  
6 MMcfd. It is apparent that an 
obstruction still exists deep in  
the well, below the packer, which 
is choking back the flow.  
A workover is planned to clear the 
obstruction in the second quarter. 
Testing of Callovian well-09 will 
take place following the 
completion of the side-track in the 
second quarter. Testing of well-22 
will follow the deepening of the 
well in the second half of the year.

Dr Paul Davies
Chief Executive

“ We are looking forward to 
increasing Group production 
volumes in 2012 with the start-up 
of our Russian plant and are 
focused on expanding our licence 
portfolio in our core regions.”
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Chief Executive’s statement continued

• Complete installation, hook-up, 
testing and commissioning of 
facility and start-up of 
production of the 
Koshekhablskoye field, Russia: 
All construction activities were 
completed in the period. Delays 
were experienced in starting our 
operations in the first quarter 
both due to a change to the 
well-head piping required by the 
local regulator, and an extended 
period in obtaining regulatory 
approval of all as-built 
documentation which is required 
before a Permit to Operate can 
be requested for issue by the 
federal authorities in Moscow. 

• Add reserves and double 
production in Hungary: 
Operator delays in executing 
workovers on the Hajdunanas field 
have caused a fall in production in 
2011. Limited exploration success 
on the Turkeve area farm-in has 
not provided the increase in 
reserves anticipated.

• Continue to develop exploration 
portfolio in Hungary, Ukraine, 
Slovakia and Bulgaria: 
Exploration activity in 2011 has 
included seismic acquisition and 
exploration drilling in Hungary, 
workover and drilling preparation 
in Ukraine and seismic 

acquisition in Slovakia and 
Bulgaria.

Our business model, which is 
centred on the development of 
onshore production, is robust but 
we will experience changes in the 
fiscal regimes where we operate 
and also experience some delays 
in bringing production on-stream 
from deep and complex reservoirs.

In Ukraine, the success of the 
LPG project has demonstrated the 
strength and breadth of expertise 
of our operating company PPC. 
Drilling operations continue  
apace and most recently we have 
seen exploration success with the 
Z-04 well in the recently awarded 
extension to our Zaplavskoye 
exploration licence. 

Encouragingly, we have finally 
reached an agreement with 
the state Naftogaz of Ukraine 
company to begin workover 
operations on three existing 
wells on our Elizavetovskoye 
exploration licence. We anticipate 
gas deliveries to commence in the 
second quarter.

Completion of the 
Koshekhablskoye field in southern 
Russia adds an important 
operating asset to our production 
portfolio. We are optimistic that the 

significant Oxfordian reserve 
position will be enhanced by 
positive results this year from  
the appraisal wells to the 
underlying Callovian reservoir.  
The independent gas market in 
Russia is growing and we intend to 
pursue opportunities to extend our 
operations in southern Russia, a 
region rich in potential.

Our operations in Hungary, where 
we are non-operator, have not 
progressed in 2011 to the extent 
we had hoped. We have a more 
modest exploration programme 
scheduled for 2012, with the 
emphasis shifting to restoring 
full production at the Hajdunanas 
facility. 

Organisation
We have made a number of 
key organisational and staffing 
changes this year. Cynthia Dubin 
has joined us as Finance Director 
and will be implementing a 
restructuring of our finance, 
accounting and compliance 
functions during 2012. We have 
made an important change to our 
London-based technical group in 
the period with the establishment 
of an experienced sub-surface 
function staffed by experienced 
geologists and geophysicists. 

Group reserves  
(MMboe)

1110090807

90.7
85.188.789.2

76.2

After 2011 
production

7%

>

Production volumes 
(boepd)

1110090807

9,045
10,324

11,665
11,012

12,579

12%

>
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Finally, we have changed the 
senior management at our Russian 
subsidiary and strengthened the 
technical and financial support 
provided to it by its experienced 
Ukrainian sister company.

Managing our risks
Risk is intrinsic to our industry and 
we expend considerable resources 
and expertise in managing it. 
During 2011, we revised our 
risk register and reviewed our 
procedures to ensure that robust 
risk management processes were 
in place, with continued oversight 
at Board level. We have reviewed 
our existing policies and introduced 
new processes and procedures to 
comply with the UK Bribery Act and 
its guidance.

Outlook
The Company is anticipating an 
increase in production volumes in 
2012 as Russian gas production 

begins in the second quarter and 
builds to the processing plant 
capacity by mid-year. Ukrainian 
production will show a moderate 
decline until the proposed multi-
frac is performed on our deep tight 
Rudenkovskoye gas field later in 
the year. 

We anticipate oil realisations to 
remain buoyant during 2012 but  
are budgeting an easing in 
Ukrainian gas realisations going 
forward. The Company has 
absorbed substantially increased 
production related taxes in Ukraine 
in 2011 but we are pleased to 
report that the production tax for 
oil has been reduced for 2012 by 
approximately 30%. 

Prospects for 2012 are bright with 
significant progress anticipated on 
development of the Rudenkovskoye 
field and further exploration 
success on the Zaplavskoye 
licence. We await test results from 

the underlying Callovian reservoir 
on our Russian licence, in the 
second quarter, which will allow 
us to complete our scoping work 
for the second production train at 
Koshekhablskoye before the end of 
the year. 

I anticipate that 2012 will be a  
year of operational consolidation, 
with increased focus on expansion 
of our licence portfolio.

Amine distillation column in Koshekhablskoye, Russia, where the Hydrogen Sulphide and Carbon Dioxide is removed from our gas 
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In Ukraine we have focused on drilling in-fill production wells on existing  
fields in addition to completing our LPG facility; in Russia we completed our 
state-of-the-art Gas Processing Facility (GPF) and gas sales are imminent 
and in Hungary we continued to build on our existing understanding of our 
reservoirs and exploration acreage through production and additional drilling.

Regional production update at a glance

Martin Miller
Technical Director

“ The year has been focussed on 
achieving first gas in Russia, 
improving efficiency in our 
production facilities and building 
our existing reserves base across 
our three core regions.”

Ukraineupdate

Completed:
• 21 workover operations
• production from our LPG plant
• average cost per well below $3m 
• improvements to our processing 

facilities improving efficiencies.

Planned:
• additional appraisal and 

development wells on our existing 
Ignatovskoye and Molchanovskoye 
fields

• additional appraisal and 
development wells on our 
Elizavetovskoye exploration licence 
ahead of a decision to upgrade 
temporary facilities or install 
permanent facilities

• analysis of results from successful 
exploration well Zaplavskoye-04 
completed in March 2012

• completion of R-103 multistage frac 
design and tender process

Russia
Completed:
• construction and commissioning of 

all parts of our Koshekhablskoye 
GPF 

• completion and tie-back to plant of 
3 Oxfordian production wells to 
enable production start-up 
imminently.

Planned:
• results from workover and testing 

of the Callovian horizon in well 9 
• results from deepening of well 22, 

an existing dry Oxfordian appraisal 
well, to the Callovian reservoir 

• reassessment of Callovian reserves 
• reassessment of Oxfordian reserves 

using production data during 2012
• preparing for forthcoming 

exploration licence auctions in 
Adygea.

Hungary
Completed:
• workover Hn-2 well which is now 

back in production at 3.5 MMcfd 
and 80 bcpd (gross)

• tested liquids at Hn-1 well at 
production rates of approximately 
around 400 bpd of predominantly 
black oil. 

Planned:
• installation of a permanent 

separator at Hn-1 to ensure that 
full market price is obtained for the 
liquids tested there 

• reservoir stimulation programme 
at Tiszavasvari-6 well after 
encountering a 300m gross 
reservoir interval with excellent  
gas shows.
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UKRAINE
Our main Ukrainian assets 
comprise the Novo-Nikolaevskoye 
Complex in the Poltava Oblast, 
eastern Ukraine.

2011 update
The focus of our busy year in 
Ukraine has been the completion of 
the LPG plant adjacent to our 
Central Processing Facility and 
drilling in-fill production wells  
on existing fields. 

Our key achievements have been:

• the start-up of LPG production  
in July on time and on budget 
with an average production rate 
of 61 tonnes per day

• the drilling of a successful 
exploration well (M-170) in the 
Molchanovskoye ‘Wedge Zone’ 
encountering a 116m gas column 
with a net pay of 54m

• the drilling, testing and/or 
completing of a further eight 
appraisal and development wells

• completing 21 workover 
operations, including three 
recompletions, nine well repairs, 

one fishing operation and eight 
well abandonments

• restoration of a faulty key 
compressor unit in just 18-days 
downtime

• the upgrade and de-bottlenecking 
of the production facility 
enhancing future production and 
compressor capacity.

Ukrainian reserves
A reassessment of the reserves in 
the Ignatovskoye, Molchanovskoye 
and Novo-Nikolaevskoye 
production licences was made 
during 2011. This, together with the 
existing reserves within the 
Rudenkovskoye production licence 
and taking account of 2011 
production, has resulted in proved 
and probable remaining reserves 
at the end of the year of 155.3 Bcf  
of gas and 2.6 MMbbl of oil (total 
28.5 MMboe).

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 1.3 1.3 2.6 
(MMbbl)

Gas 25.8 129.5 155.3  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 5.6 22.9 28.5  
(MMboe)

Novo-Nikolaevskoye 
Complex

km2

324.5

LICENCE AREA

In Ukraine our wholly-owned subsidiary Poltava Petroleum Company 
(‘PPC’) holds 100% interest in four production licences in the Poltava 
region of Ukraine (Ignatovskoye, Molchanovskoye, Novo-Nikolaevskoye, 
Rudenkovskoye) . Each production licence contains distinct fields which 
together form the Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex. PPC also holds two 
exploration licences being Zaplavskoye (within the Novo-Nikolaevskoye 
Complex) and Elizavetovskoye which comprise a total exploration area  
of 208sq.km.

Elizavetovskoye  

Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex  

Kiev

THE
BLACK SEA
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1
Wells  
drilled

4
Wells 
worked 
over

Ignatovskoye

km2

25.3

LICENCE AREA

The Ignatovskoye production licence is located in the centre of the 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex and contains the first field to be 
developed by the Company. Evaluation of two additional structural 
trends continues, one to the west, and one to the southwest of the  
main field.

The main field is an uplifted fault block containing Devonian sandstone 
and overlying Carboniferous Tournasian sandstone and limestone.  
On top of that is a carbonate reef build up of Visean age. There is also a 
series of thin sandstone channels on the flank of the structure, also of 
Visean age. 

Black oil is found in the Devonian sandstone and the lower parts of the 
Tournasian and Visean reservoirs; the oil is overlain by a rich condensate 
bearing gas cap and the Visean channels can be oil or gas bearing. 
Reservoir quality in the Devonian sandstone and Visean reef is generally 
good whilst both the Tournaisian sandstone and limestone are variable 
and often dependent on local depositional and tectonic influences. 
Reservoir stimulation in these reservoirs is usually necessary and, 
although this can give high initial flow rates, the rates often decline  
to a more modest plateau production.

2011 update
During 2011 one new well was 
drilled and four workovers took 
place on the Ignatovskoye field:

• well IG-137 (Bis) was a re-drill  
of the junked 2009 well and 
produced at approximately  
100 bopd with 100 Mcfd gas

• well I-106 was recompleted in 
the Devonian sandstone finally 
testing at 6.2 MMcfd with  
53 bcpd

• well I-128 workover involved 
successful water shut-off and 
gas lift installation, doubling  
oil production to 228 bopd with 
0.4 MMcfd gas

• the replacement of the rod 
pumping system in well I-105  
by a surface driven progressing 
cavity pump to counter reliability 
issues with the rods, 
unfortunately this proved to be 
unsuccessful too

• following the subsequent 
re-installation of the rod pump in 
well I-105 it currently produces 
around 45 bopd with 50 bbl water.

Plans for 2012 include drilling the 
deferred west flank well I-135, a 
further Tournasian (T-2) Carbonate 
infill well and a possible extension 
of the western flank play. 

Recompletions will also form a 
significant part of the continuing 
development of the Ignatovskoye 
area but timing is dependent on 
the depletion of the deeper 
reservoirs. 

Ignatovskoye reserves
Reserves in Ignatovskoye are 
unchanged with remaining 
reserves at 14.9 Bcf gas and 1.0 
MMbbl oil (total 3.5 MMboe).

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 0.9 0.1 1.0 
(MMbbl)

Gas 13.7 1.2 14.9  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 3.2 0.3 3.5 
(MMboe)
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3
Wells  
drilled

2
Wells 
worked 
over

The Molchanovskoye production licence is located 8 km to the south  
of the Ignatovskoye Field and contains the southernmost producing 
field within the complex. The licence now contains three distinct  
field areas: Molchanovskoye North, Molchanovskoye Main and 
Molchanovskoye Wedge Zone.

Molchanovskoye North is a black oil reservoir with a gas cap in the 
Devonian sandstone and an overlying Tournasian sandstone gas 
condensate reservoir. There are also irregularly distributed overlying 
Tournasian carbonate and sandstone gas condensate reservoirs that 
extend over the Ignatovskoye licence boundary.

Molchanovskoye Main produces gas condensate in the Devonian 
sandstone and still has potential for additional reserves in the overlying 
Tournasian carbonate and Visean sandstone reservoirs. 

Molchanovskoye Wedge Zone (‘Wedge Zone’) is a downthrown tilted fault 
block which separates the Molchanovskoye North and Molchanovskoye 
Main fields.

2011 update

Molchanovskoye North  
and Main reservoirs
Work in Molchanovskoye North and 
Main reservoirs in 2011 focused on 
optimising oil recovery from the 
Devonian sandstone with three new 
wells to ensure maximum oil 
recovery ahead of gas blow-down 
from the upper parts of the 
reservoir; two workovers were also 
performed: 

• development well M-169 was 
completed in March 2011 as a 
600m horizontal well in the 
Molchanovskoye North Devonian 
reservoir. It replaced both wells 
M-151 and M-152 which had 
watered out. Optimisation of the 
flowlines enabled the gas rate to 
be increased to 8.1 MMcfd with 
260 bcpd

• development well M-171 was 
drilled and completed in 29 days 
with a 150m horizontal section in 
the Devonian sandstone on the 
Molchanovskoye North field. It is 
in production after testing at 309 
bopd with 1.8 MMcfd gas

• development well M-166ST was 
drilled in the Molchanovskoye 
North field as a recompletion of 
the 600m long horizontal well 
M-166 which was rapidly 
watering out. Well M-166ST was 
completed with a shorter 170m 

horizontal section in the 
Devonian sandstone, offset and 
some 11m higher than the 
original well and close to the 
overlying gas-water contact. 
After testing, the well was choked 
back and commenced production 
at 1,616 bopd with 3.2 MMcfd gas 
at a FWHP of 874 psi

• workover of well M-162 in the 
Tournaisian sandstone restored 
gas production to more than  
1 MMcfd

• recompletion of well M-152  
in the Molchanovskoye North 
Devonian reservoir for water 
shut-off was unsuccessful and 
the well was subsequently 
replaced by well M-169.

Activity planned for 2012 includes 
at least one more in-fill well in the 
Devonian reservoir and a second 
well to appraise the Visean V-16 
sandstone reservoir in Well I-161 
which was drilled in 2010. 

Molchanovskoye Wedge Zone 
Two wells were drilled on this field 
early in the year:

• exploration well M-170 was 
drilled early in the year and 
encountered a 116m gas column 
with a net pay of 54m in a lower 
Devonian sandstone beneath the 
main uppermost Devonian 
reservoir which is water bearing

Molchanovskoye  
North & Main

km2

7.9

LICENCE AREA

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 0.3 0.0 0.3 
(MMbbl)

Gas 2.2 2.6 4.8  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 0.7 0.4 1.1 
(MMboe)
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2011 update
Activity during the year on the 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye licence 
comprised three new wells  
drilled and one workover:

• development well N-75 was 
drilled and completed in the 
Visean V-16 reservoir, some 
260m to the west of the surface 
location. Following a workover 
operation the well was 
recompleted and production 
increased to 1.53 MMcfd and  
4 bcpd

• development well N-76 targeted 
the same reservoir some 670m to 
the east of the same surface 
location as N-75. Well N-76 came 
on-stream at a modest initial rate 
and increased slowly to plateau 
at 1.34 MMcfd with 80 bopd

• the Skytop rig then drilled well 
N-77 to a bottom hole location in 
the northwest of the of the field. 
Log results from both the V-15 
and V-16 reservoirs indicated 
poorly developed structures and 
subsequent testing, with very  
low flow rates, confirms these 
results. A beam pump is under 
consideration

• the TW-100 worked over and 
recompleted well N-73 to the 
Visean V-15 reservoir (following 
water influx in the V-16 reservoir); 
current production is now 1.7 
MMcfd with 15 bcpd.

Despite the disappointment of well 
N-77, further drilling is planned in 
2012 with well N-78 due to spud in 
the second quarter.

Novo-Nikolaevskoye reserves
The continuing success of develop-
ment drilling in Novo-Nikolaevs-
koye Field added 15.1 Bcf gas and 
0.2 MMbbl oil (total 2.8 MMboe) to 
the proved and probable reserves 
with 12.4 Bcf gas and 0.1 MMbbl oil 
(total 2.2 MMboe) remaining after 
2011 production.

Operational review Ukraine

The Novo-Nikolaevskoye production licence lies 3km to the west  
of the Ignatovskoye Field. Following successful drilling in 2009, 
remapping and additional drilling was carried out in 2010 and 2011 
with plans for more wells in 2012.

• a 35m zone in well M-170 was 
perforated and, after an initial 
flow rate of 17.1 MMcfd, 
production settled at around 2.8 
MMcfd with 80 bcpd; this zone is 
approximately 400m deeper than 
any gas or oil found to date in the 
adjacent Molchanovskoye fields 

• following remapping, appraisal 
well M-172 was drilled some 
500m south of the discovery  
well. After reaching the base of 
the Devonian reservoir at a total 
depth of 3203m loggings 
indicated some zones of low 
porosity with possible hydro-
carbons but all the better sands 
were water wet.

 The Devonian reservoir was 
plugged back and the well 
completed in preparation for a 
Visean sandstone reservoir test.

This disappointing result from Well 
M-172 has led to a further review of 
the seal and structural integrity of 
the other potential prospects in 
this promising deep Devonian play. 
The 3D seismic on the field is being 
reprocessed and drilling activity 
has been deferred until the review 
is complete. 

Molchanovskoye reserves
Reserves in the Molchanovskoye 
licence area have been revised 
downwards by 10.7 MMboe and 

remaining proved and probable 
reserves are now 4.8 Bcf gas and 
0.3 MMbbl oil (total 1.1 MMboe). 
This reflects the disappointing 
results from early recompletions to 
the overlying reservoirs in the 
Molchanovskoye Main structure 
which have proved to be productive 
elsewhere in the complex. 

Reserve additions in the Devonian, 
Tournasian and Visean reservoirs 
of Molchanovskoye North have 
been small this year. No reserves 
have been recognised for the deep 
Devonian discovery in well M-170 
while appraisal is in progress.

Novo-Nikolaevskoye 

km2

7.8

LICENCE AREA

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 0.1 0.0 0.1 
(MMbbl)

Gas 9.9 2.5 12.4  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 1.8 0.4 2.2 
(MMboe)

3
Wells  
drilled

1
Wells 
worked 
over
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The Rudenkovskoye production licence is the most northern of the 
four production licences. Reservoirs in the licence are the Tournaisian 
and Devonian sandstones at depths of between 3,000m and 5,000m 
with further potential in the overlying Visean sandstones. Productive 
areas have been identified in the northern and southern areas of the 
licence and well R-103 was drilled in 2010 with a 1,000m horizontal 
section to appraise the Devonian reservoir in the southern area. 
Despite early promise, the well was unable to fully unload the 
production liquids.

2011 update
During 2011 a workover was 
carried out to replace the 3½” 
tubing in well R-103 by 2 7/8” 
tubing to overcome liquids loading. 
The well is now producing on a 
cyclical basis to promote maximum 
flow rates and liquid recovery.

Preparations for the multi-stage 
frac in the Rudenkovskoye long 
horizontal well R-103 are well 
advanced with the technical 
evaluation completed and bids 
received for the frac operation. This 
is scheduled to be carried out as 
soon as conditions and logistics 
permit in the second half of 2012 , 
subject to financial resources.

Despite a successful frac of the 
uppermost, but thin, Devonian 
reservoir of well R-102 in 2009, 
production continued to decline 
and in 2011 R-102 was worked  
over to add perforations in the 
Tournasian sandstone. Following 
perforation, there was a small 
increase in gas rate but the well 
has since been suspended pending 
the completion of a further 
workover to add another zone of 
potential Tournasian reservoir.

Rudenkovskoye reserves
Reserves in the Rudenkovskoye 
field areas will be fully reassessed 
after the results of the R-103 
multi-frac and the subsequent 
drilling programme.

Rudenkovskoye

km2

86.0

LICENCE AREA

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 0.0 1.2 1.2 
(MMbbl)

Gas 0.0 122.2 122.2  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 0.0 21.6 21.6 
(MMboe)
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2011 update
The highlight of 2011 for PPC  
was the completion of the LPG 
processing, storage and delivery 
system as an add-on to the existing 
plant at the Central Processing 
Facility. 

The system was commissioned on 
time and on budget with first LPG 
sale taking place on 5 July and 
stabilised production achieved by  
8 July. 

Average LPG sales through the 
second half of the year were 61 
tonnes per day. By the end of 2011 
total revenues from our LPG sales 
had exceeded the value of the 
capital cost of the new system.

Other gas production facilities
The K-300 compressor provides 
support for the lower pressure gas 
wells and makes an increasingly 
significant contribution to 
production as natural reservoir 
pressures decline. 

An unexpected failure of its gas 
engine crankshaft in May reduced 
PPC’s overall production by nearly 
20% over an 18-day period. A 
replacement crankshaft was 
installed during the May field 
shut-down. This coincided with a 

planned upgrade to the unit which 
resulted in an increase of almost 
10% to PPC’s field production. 

2011 saw continued improvements 
to the Central Production Facility at 
Poltava aimed at enhancing 
production from the available well 
stock with work continuing 
throughout the year on 
debottlenecking the plant, 
enhancing the compressor 
capacity, re-routing flowlines to 
reduce back pressure and wax 
clearance. 

Other improvements were 
principally to the infrastructure and 
included upgrades to the roads, 
sewage system and camp facilities.

A major upgrade to the K-220 
compressor will take place in 2012 
and, together with the newly 
installed low pressure manifold, 
will further increase the facility’s 
flexibility in handling declining 
reservoir pressure.

Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) production facilities 

During the year PPC initiated production and sales of LPG at the 
Central Production Facility. The process extracts propane and butane 
from the export gas stream for sale as LPG. 

This reduces the gas available for export however the value of the LPG 
revenue stream enhances PPC’s economic performance by increasing 
overall realisations from its gas production.

The LPG processing plant was designed and built in Canada and 
mobilised to Ukraine during the second quarter of this year. Storage  
and loading facilities were constructed in Ukraine with installation 
completed in June. 

The off-take of daily LPG production is contracted to pre-qualified 
wholesale distribution companies and dispatched by road tanker.
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The Zaplavskoye exploration 
licence surrounds the 
Ignatovskoye, Molchanovskoye and 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye licenses and, 
following its extension in 2010, now 
comprises an area of 197.5sq.km 
and is valid until 2014.

Exploration well Z-04 has recently 
been completed and tested. During 
a multi-choke test the well flowed 
at a rate of 20.8 MMcfd of gas and 
1,040 bpd of condensate though a 
41/64” choke with a flowing 
wellhead pressure of 2,684 psi.  
The well was tied back to the main 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye complex 
processing facility with a 9km flow 
line and placed on production. 

Well Zap-04 was drilled to a total 
depth of 2,937m and penetrated 
over 20m of Visean sandstones. 
The well is located to the northwest 
of the Novo-Nikolaevskoye group of 
fields within the recently acquired 
41.9sq.km extension of the existing 
Zaplavskoye exploration licence. 

Condensate rich gas is being 
produced for the first time in the 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye area from this 
particular Visean reservoir layer. 
These initial flow rates are 
expected to decline and the well 
will be monitored closely as we 
seek to assess the extent of the 
accumulation and the potential for 
further appraisal of this discovery.

The Elizavetovskoye exploration 
licence is located in the central 
part of the Dnieper-Donets basin 
and covers an area of 70sq.km. It is 
approximately 45km from PPC’s 
existing production licences. 

Three shut-in production wells on 
the licence are owned by 
Ukrgasvydobuvannya, a subsidiary 
of Naftogaz of Ukraine, the state oil 
and gas company, and are tied into 
its production facility. 

2011 update
Agreement has been reached  
with Ukrgasvydobuvannya and  
its associate company KhAS to 
re-start the three shut-in wells  
on the basis of a Joint Production 
Agreement (JPA). PPC will receive 
33.3% of the production and control 
the operation. 

Operations have commenced on 
well M-53 and production is 
expected to start early in the 
second quarter. Well M-53 will 
provide valuable reservoir 
performance data ahead of a 
decision to complete the remaining 
two wells and upgrade the 
temporary facilities.

The data will also enable PPC to 
assess whether it is commercially 
viable to drill the proposed E-301 
well and install its own permanent 
facility. If successful, PPC would 
own 100% of gas production from 
well E-301.

Under the terms of the licence 
renewal, PPC had an obligation to 
install a hot tap to the nearby gas 
trunk line together with a short 
spur line which was completed  
in 2011.

Elizavetovskoye reserves
Reserves recognised for the 
Elizavetovskoye Field are  
restricted to the 2 Bcf gas  
(0.3 MMboe) representing potential 
production under the JPA. Further 
resources can be added once the 
updated field development plan has 
been prepared and approved.

Zaplavskoye Elizavetovskoye

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Gas 0.0 2.0 2.0  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 0.0 0.3 0.3 
(MMboe)
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Koshekhablskoye 
Field

km2

32.7

LICENCE AREA

JKX completed the purchase of its wholly-owned Russian subsidiary 
Yuzhgazenergie LLC (‘YGE’) in November 2007. YGE holds 100% 
interest in the licence for the redevelopment of the Koshekhablskoye 
gas field which is located in the southern Russian autonomous 
Republic of Adygea. The licence covers an area of 34.7sq.km.

The field was discovered in 1972 and produced a total 89 Bcf of gas 
before operations were suspended in January 2006. In June 2006, YGE 
was granted a new 20 year licence to rehabilitate and further appraise 
and develop the field. 

Following the acquisition, the detailed technical and environmental 
re-evaluation by JKX concluded that the existing production facility 
would have to be completely replaced because it could meet neither 
the new gas specification required for entry to the Gasprom transit 
system nor the environmental standard for emissions to the 
immediate environment.

RUSSIA
The Koshekhablskoye field is 
located in the southern Russian 
autonomous Republic of Adygea.

2011 update

Koshekhablskoye Field 
redevelopment 
The Koshekhablskoye Gas 
Processing Facility (GPF) was 
designed, fabricated and shipped 
from Sharjah, United Arab 
Emirates, in modular form at the 
end of 2010, arriving at 
Novorossiysk in January 2011. 
Heavy rain and landslides delayed 
its arrival on site until late March. 

Progress was made with site 
preparation during this time and 
the modules were put in place 
quickly. Hook up of the modules 
took longer than expected with 
numerous small modifications 
required to comply with local 
regulations and to complete the 
work. This inevitably led to further 
delays taking completion of 
construction to the end of 2011. 

Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 0.2 0.2 0.4 
(MMbbl)

Gas 114.0 250.8 364.8  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 19.2 42.0 61.2 
(MMboe)

Maikop

Koshekhablskoye

THE
BLACK SEA
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Construction of the utilities and 
services was taking place 
simultaneously during the year. 
The generator station, firewater 
storage and distribution, boiler 
house and steam generation 
systems were all commissioned 
during the fourth quarter. 

Also completed were the flare 
stack, thermal oxidiser, manifold 
and separators, condensate, 
nitrogen, methanol and water 
storage systems, together with  
the offices, laboratory, workshop, 
canteen, power distribution centre 
and, finally, the control room –  
the centre of this highly  
automated plant.

Mechanical completion and plant 
commissioning permitted the 
introduction of gas to the GPF in 
mid March. The plant is ready to 
process the gas and is awaiting 
final technical approval from the 
authorities to finalise the 
specification and commence 
exporting.

Upstream of the plant:
• all flowlines are in place and 

connected to the manifold at  
the GPF

• wells 20 and 27 have been tested 
and suspended in preparation  
for production. A change to the 
well-head pipeline was required 
by an update to the local 
regulations. Once this is 
complete the two wells should 
provide most of the initial 
throughput to the plant

• completion and stimulation of 
well 25, at 5500m the deepest  
in the field, has proved to be 
problematic and at start-up its 
contribution is expected to be 
modest; a workover is planned

• Oxfordian well 26 remains 
suspended with 1,376m of tubing 
still stuck in the hole. It is 
planned to return with a smaller 
rig to complete fishing more 
economically

• Oxfordian well 15 remains 
suspended following a successful 
sidetrack operation but 

unsuccessful test – possibly  
due to an obstruction deep in  
the well. 

Downstream of the plant:
• the metering system is in place 

and commissioning is complete

• the export line has been laid  
and the final flange to tie in to the 
nearby gas trunk line will be set 
as soon as technical authority 
has been received

• the gas sales contract has been 
concluded with Kubangazifikatzia. 

Koshekhablskoye Field 
exploration and appraisal 
Through its wholly-owned Russian 
subsidiary, YGE, JKX inherited an 
obligation to drill an exploration 
well to appraise the production 
potential of the underlying 
Callovian sandstone reservoir. 

YGE has subsequently undertaken 
a significant amount of exploration 
and appraisal activity on the 
Callovian reservoir and the drilling 
obligation has been replaced by the 
Company’s proposal to work over 
and test the Callovian horizon in 
well 9 (an exploration well drilled in 
the 1980s) and to deepen an 
existing dry Oxfordian appraisal 
well (well-22) to the Callovian 
reservoir. Both operations have 
commenced.

Callovian well 9 is being 
sidetracked and will re-drill the full 
Callovian reservoir sequence and, 
if successful, will deliver additional 
throughput to the plant as well as 
providing invaluable information  
on the potential for further 
development of the Callovian 
reservoir.

Callovian well 22 remains 
suspended while equipment to 
repair the casing is sourced.

Koshekhablskoye Licence 
Obligations
YGE maintains a regular dialogue 
with Rosnedra, the licencing 
authority, to ensure that the 
authorities are kept abreast with 
progress on the field development 

and the associated exploration 
and reserves determination 
commitments. 

Rosnedra, is fully aware that there 
are commitments under our 
Koshekhablskoye licence which 
have not, and will not, be met. At 
our meeting with Rosnedra in 
February 2012 we confirmed that 
production was imminent.  We also 
agreed to submit a proposal to 
complete the assessment of 
reserves at a later date and are 
working with Rosnedra to agree 
our proposed changes to the 
timetable.

Koshekhablskoye reserves
Following the results of the well  
27 and well 20 tests, the production 
characteristics of the field have 
been revised and the reserves 
reassessed. This has resulted in  
an increase of the proved and 
probable reserves from  
44.8 MMboe assessed in 2009 to 
61.2 MMboe at the year-end (being 
364.8 Bcf of gas and 0.4 MMbbl oil).

In line with licence requirements 
the Oxfordian reserves will be 
reassessed later this year once the 
results of the well 25 testing can be 
incorporated. 

Callovian reserves, which we also 
expect to revise during 2012, are 
dependent on the results from well 
09 and well 22.
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Hernad (I and II) Exploration 
Licences and Gorbehaza Mining 
Plot (development and production 
licence) (JKX 50%) 

2011 update
The Hadjunanas and Gorbehaza 
fields produce from three wells 
(Hn-1, Hn-2 and Gh-1) into a single 
separator, and then via a 14.5 km 
export line to an existing facility for 
input to the Hungarian gas pipeline 
system. 

Production in 2011 was affected by 
water influx which caused the 
operator to shut-in both fields in 
August. Remedial work in 
September brought well Hn-2 back 
into production and work on well 
Hn-1 has focused on a 
recompletion of the oil reservoir in 
the Miocene volcanoclastics. 

The wellhead pressure on well 
Gh-1 fell below the line back 
pressure and the well has been 

suspended until a small 
compressor can be sourced 
and fitted. 

At year-end in Hungary:
• Hn-2 well was back in production 

at 3.5 MMcfd and 80 bcpd (gross) 

• Hn-1 well had tested liquids 
production rates at around 
400 bpd of predominantly black 
oil, and was still cleaning up. 
A permanent separator will be 

Operational review Hungary

JKX holds 50% equity in the northern Pannonian Basin Hernád 
licences in a joint venture with the operator, Hungarian Horizon 
Energy (‘HHE’). The Hernad I licence covers 2,903sq.km and the 
Hernad II licence covers 2,507sq.km. 

JKX farmed-in for a 33.3% interest in 120sq.km of the adjacent Nyírseg 
licence in late 2008 and subsequently increased its holding to 50%, as 
did HHE, by buying out the minority partners. Following the expiration of 
the exploration licence in 2009 the Gorbehaza Mining Plot (3.3sq.km) 
was established in 2010.

The Hajdunanas Field was discovered in May 2008 with successful gas 
tests from three levels in well Hn-1. The discovery was confirmed by a 
second well Hn-2 which encountered a thicker sequence of Pannonian 
sands. The reservoirs include two Pannonian sand intervals and a 
Miocene fractured volcanoclastic sequence. 

The Gorbehaza discovery well Gh-1 has been tied in the Hadjunanas 
facility. Gas quality is excellent and requires minimal processing before 
export.

HUNGARY
Within our Hungarian portfolio all 
our production currently comes 
from the Hajdunanas area of the 
Hernad/Nyirseg licences. 

Hernad fi eld

km2

5,410

LICENCE AREA

Budapest

Hernad

Turkeve Veszto
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Remaining reserves 
as at 31 December 2011

 Proved Probable Prov+Prob

Oil 0.0 0.3 0.3 
(MMbbl)

Gas 0.9 3.1 4.0  
(Bcf)

Oil + Gas 0.2 0.8 1.0 
(MMboe)

installed at the end of the first 
quarter 2012 to ensure that the 
full market price can be obtained 
for the product

• a small compressor was about to 
be installed on well Gh-1 for a 
February re-start of gas 
production

• a second production well is under 
consideration in Gorbehaza but is 
contingent on the performance of 
well Gh-1 after it re-commences 
production

• the local gas market remains 
strong with 2011 realisations in 
excess of $13/Mcf.

Further Hernad  
exploration activity
• The Tiszavasvari-6 well was 

tested in January 2011 after 
encountering a 300m gross 
reservoir interval with excellent 
gas shows below 2,580m. Three 
reservoir intervals were tested 
with a maximum rate of 1.5 
MMcfd being recorded. The well 
was suspended in anticipation of 
a possible reservoir stimulation 
programme. 

• A larger tilted fault block 
structure with amplitude 
supported Lower Pannonian 
reservoir intervals lies updip 
from the first structure and 

appraisal drilling is planned for 
the second half of 2012. 

• The Tiszavasvari-5 well was 
drilled in May 2011 to a TD of 
800m and tested a new play on 
the northern end of the Pegasus 
Ridge. The stacked sands 
encountered were all water wet 
and the well was plugged and 
abandoned.

• The 200sq.km 3D seismic data 
acquisition in the Jaszsag area to 
the south of the Hernad II licence 
was completed and interpretation 
of the preliminary data indicated 
a number of small but low risk 
prospects. Two of these 
prospects were selected for 
drilling in the first quarter 2012.

• The larger of the two prospects 
Pely-02, was drilled in January 
but with disappointing results: 
the primary target reservoir 
interval was poorly developed 
and a secondary objective, while 
evidently gas bearing, had 
insufficient reservoir quality to 
justify completing and testing. 
The well has been plugged and 
abandoned and the decision to 
drill the second well has been 
deferred pending further study of 
the seismic and Pely-02 well 
correlation.

Hernad (I and II) and  
Gorbehaza reserves
Hadjunanas Field: the unsurprising 
consequence of the water influx in 
the main Pannonian gas reservoirs 
during the year has been to reduce 
the reserves and field life; this has 
been partially offset by the success 
of the Miocene oil reservoir test. 

Remaining gross reserves in the 
field are now 8.0 Bcf gas and  
0.6 MMbbl oil (JKX net 1.0 MMboe).

In March 2009, JKX farmed-in for a 
25% interest in a 15.6sq.km area of 
the Veszto exploration licence held 
by HHE in the east Hungarian 
Pannonian Basin.

Following the extended well test 
production in 2010, a Mining Plot is 

under application and is expected 
to be granted in the first quarter of 
2012. The Operator is continuing 
the evaluation of appraisal 
locations and a further well is 
under consideration for the second 
half of 2012, following award of the 
Mining Plot.

JKX entered into a farm-in 
agreement to participate in the 
drilling of up to seven shallow wells 
located in the Turkeve area of north 
east Hungary in late 2010. Under 
the terms of the agreement, JKX 
funded 66.67% of the drilling and 
completion costs to earn 50% of 
future mining plots formed to 
develop discoveries, and funding 
75% of any pipeline connection 
costs. 

• Six wells were drilled during the 
period of which five were dry or 
sub-commercial.

• Turkeve Ny-7 well encountered 
gas, flowing at 2.0 MMcfd 
through a 6mm choke with a 
WHP of 1,680 psi, but with more 
than 25% of carbon dioxide. The 
operator is evaluating treatment 
and development options with a 
view to bringing the field into 
production.

• Limited rate pilot production is 
planned from Ny-7 for the second 
quarter of 2012 with full rate 
production expected to start 
towards the end of 2012 once a 
suitable development option is 
approved. 

Turkeve reserves
Based on the proposed 
development plan, Turkeve P50 
reserves are 3.2 Bcf gas and  
70 Mbbl condensate (net to JKX  
0.3 MMboe).

Veszto 

Turkeve

7
Wells  
drilled

2
Wells 
worked 
over
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Operational review Slovakia / Bulgaria

Svidnik, Medzilaborce and Snina

SLOVAKIA 

(JKX 25%)
JKX holds a 25% interest in the 
Svidnik, Medzilaborce and Snina 
exploration licences, covering a 
total area of 2,278sq.km in the 
Carpathian Fold Belt in north  
east Slovakia. 

Acquisition of 500 km of 2D seismic 
data in 2008 through 2010 provided 
basic regional information in the 
two eastern licences, as well as 
infill data in the western Svidnik 
licence. 

During 2011:
• acquisition of a further 300km of 

regional 2D seismic data 
acquisition was completed

• the Cierne-1 exploration well 
location in the westernmost 
Svidnik licence was selected and 
drilling is expected to commence 
in the fourth quarter of 2012. The 
well will be drilled to more than 
3,500m with multiple targets 
identified in this sub-thrust play. 

BULGARIA 

(JKX 40% and operator)
JKX operate the B1 Golitza licence, 
covering 971sq.km in eastern 
Bulgaria. 

Following the lack of success in the 
2010 drilling programme JKX and 
its co-venturers reviewed the 
information from these wells 
together with the 3D seismic data 
and concluded that there was 
insufficient prospectivity to justify 
applying for a production licence.

There are now no plans for further 
activity and the licence expires in 
March 2012.

(JKX 18%)
JKX has a 18% carried interest in 
the 1,787sq.km Provadia licence 
operated by Overgas. The 380 km 
2D seismic survey has been 
completed and the data is now 
being processed.

Martin Miller
Technical Director

Golitza

Provadia
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Financial review

Strong commodity prices, particularly for Ukrainian gas and LPG sustained our 
profitability in 2011 from our Ukrainian subsidiary Poltava Petroleum Company 
(‘PPC’) despite reduced production volumes.

In 2011 we produced $82.1m in 
profit from operations compared to 
$95.0m (before exceptional items) 
in 2010. This is an extraordinary 
result given reduced production of 
12% and the absorption of the 
effect of the new tax code which 
increased our production based 
taxes in Ukraine by $61.9m from 
$5.2m in 2010 to $67.1m in 2011. 
The new tax code is discussed in 
detail in note 25 of the financial 
statements. 

Cash flow from operations of 
$124.2m (2010: $146.3m) in 
addition to gross borrowings* 
of $40.5m has provided us with 
the required funding to complete 
construction of our Russian 
subsidiary’s gas processing 
facility, continue investment in our 
Ukrainian asset complex, explore 
in Hungary and to maintain a year-
end total cash balance of $28.9m 
(2010: $62.0m). 

Profit for the year
The profit after tax was $59.1m for 
2011 (2010: $21.2m). On a 
comparative basis, this was $22.2m 
below profit in 2010 of $81.3m 

Cynthia Dubin
Finance Director

“ We have had another capital 
intensive year funded by 
operating cash flow and new 
borrowings. Our profits and 
cash flow have been rebased by 
the new production tax burden 
in Ukraine however we expect 
the realisations from our oil 
and gas production to remain 
strong through 2012 to enable 
us to pay down our short term 
borrowings.”

* Gross Borrowings is Borrowings gross of 
unamortised effective interest and 
arrangement fees.

(excluding exceptional items).  
This translates into basic earnings 
per share of 34.37 cents (2010: 
47.56 cents). 

This is the combined result of a 
23% increase in revenues to 
$236.9m (2010: $192.9m) due to 
increased oil and gas realisations, 
despite a 12% overall production 
decline, maintaining operating and 
administrative charges at $49.6m 
(2010: $51.1m) and absorbing a 
$61.9m additional production tax 
cost (2011: $67.1m versus 2010: 
$5.2m).

The Group profit before tax of 
$82.1m was reduced to a $59.1m 
net profit by a current tax charge of 
$21.8m (2010: $30.3m) and 
deferred tax charge of $1.2m  
(2010: credit $30.7m).

Revenue
The Group benefited from high 
international oil and gas prices.  
The Group enjoyed a 42.1% 
improvement in the oil price 
achieved moving from $69.15/bbl in 
2010 to $98.27/bbl in 2011. From a 
total revenue perspective, the gas 

Total revenue 
($m)

1110090807

236.9

192.9196.5207.0
184.5

23%

>
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price strengthening dwarfed the  
oil price increase as volumes of gas 
sold represent 75% (2010: 69%) of 
our total production volume. 

The Group gas price achieved rose 
28.4% from $268/Mcm in 2010 to 
$344/Mcm in 2011. 

The Ukrainian gas price achieved 
had the biggest impact increasing 
from $284/Mcm at the beginning of 
the period to $418/Mcm at 
year-end, giving an absolute price 
increase of 47.2% during the year.

The other important component to 
impact this year’s revenue was the 
commissioning of the new LPG 
facility within the PPC operational 
complex in July. The Group 
achieved $10.9m in LPG revenue 
for the second half of the year as 
we were able to take advantage of 
high LPG prices in Ukraine, 
realising an average price of just 
under $1,000/tonne. 

These positive price movements 
more than offset the production 
decline of 12% (7% and 5% 
attributable to oil and gas, 
respectively, on a boe basis) due to 
reduced production from Hungary, 
greater than expected oil decline 
rates in producing wells and some 
disappointing well results in 
Ukraine. 

Future Ukrainian gas prices 
Recent press contains much 
speculation concerning Ukrainian 
gas prices and the Ukrainian push 
for a renegotiation of the gas 
supply agreement between Russia 
and Ukraine; this has a direct 
impact on the industrial tariff that 
applies to our Ukrainian gas sales. 
The two countries have yet to reach 
any agreement on whether this 
contract will or will not be adjusted 
and consequently, the terms of the 
Supply Agreement of January 2009 
still prevail. This resulted in a 
border price of $416/Mcm during 
the first quarter of 2012, translating 
into the price of gas in the 
industrial market in excess of $430/
Mcm. The Ukrainian Parliament 
recently passed the Budget Law on 
the assumption that the import 
price remains at $416/Mcm for the 
remainder of 2012.

Operating profit
The operating profit of $82.1m  
was 13.6% below the same figure 
of $95.0m in 2010 (before 
exceptional item). This is a small 
reduction in comparison to the 
stark increase in production based 
taxes in Ukraine, increasing the 
Group’s production based taxes by  
1,363% from $1.39/boe to $20.33/ 
boe. Our charge for production 
based taxes increased by 1190% 

from $5.2m in 2010 to $67.1m in 
2011 as a direct result. 

Within cost of sales, underlying 
operating costs remained constant 
at $17.2m (2010: $17.9m). 

Despite the 12.4% fall in production, 
the depreciation, depletion and 
amortisation fell only 2.8% as the 
unit of production charge was 
increased due to higher capital costs 
in the year, increasing the unit of 
production charge from $8.82/bbl in 
2010 to $9.80/bbl in 2011.

Administrative expenses remained 
constant at $25.7m (2010: $25.3m). 

Taxation 
The total tax charge for the year 
was $22.9m (2010: credit $0.4m) 
comprising current tax of $21.8m 
(2010: $30.3m) and deferred tax 
$1.2m (2010: credit $30.7m). The 
fall in current tax charge reflects a 
combination of the lower 
profitability being driven down by 
the production based taxes noted 
above, in addition to a reduced rate 
of corporation tax applicable in 
Ukraine. 

The effective all-in total tax rate 
(i.e. combining production and 
corporation taxes) has increased 
despite the fall in the corporation 
tax charge.

Revenue – Gas  
($m)  

Gas realisations  
($ per Mcf)

Revenue – Oil  
($m)

1110090807 11100908071110090807

143.1 9.74

81.5

112.9 7.59

78.8

118.1
7.19

76.483.1 5.47

121.8

59.4 3.95

122.5

27% 28%3%

> >>
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1. The all-in effective tax rate is calculated as the income tax expense plus production related taxes and removing the tax effect of non-
recurring items, divided by profit before tax which is adjusted for production based taxes, special items and other non-recurring items.

In December 2010 a new Ukrainian 
corporation tax rate was introduced 
starting at 25% to March 2011 and 
progressively reducing to 16% by  
1 January 2014. 

In addition a new tax code became 
effective in Ukraine on 1 January 
2011 in the area of production 
related tax. The fees are levied on 
production volumes in accordance 
with a rates schedule which may 

Oil realisations  
($ per bbl)

Production based taxes  
($m)

1110090807 1110090807

98.27 67.1

69.15

5.2

53.90

4.0

84.34

4.0

60.37

3.3

42% 1,190%

> >

change from time to time. The 
production based taxes expense for 
the year is $67.1m (2010: $5.2m) 
and has been recognised in cost  
of sales. 

Effective tax rate
The table below shows the Group’s 
effective tax rate as well as the 
all-in effective tax rate which takes 
into account the impact of 

production based taxes and 
removes the effect of special items 
and non-recurring items on the 
Group’s tax charge. 

The effective rate of tax for 2011 
was 27.9% compared to a rate of 
(1.8)% in 2010. The effective tax rate 
in 2010 was distorted mainly by the 
recognition of a deferred tax asset 
of $5.7m in respect of the UK; 
adding back this deferred tax asset 
to the 2010 tax charge results in an 
effective tax rate of 25.7% in 2010.

The all-in effective tax rate, which 
is a more representative tax rate on 
the recurring profits of the Group’s 
subsidiary businesses, was 59.1% 
in 2011 compared to 29.6% for the 
same period in 2010. The Group’s 
all-in effective tax rate is higher in 
2011 when compared to the prior 
year mainly due to the proportion-
ately higher production based taxes 
charged as compared to the 
increased underlying profitability of 
the Group.

Rental fees charged on oil and gas 
production comprise more than 
90% of the Group’s production 
taxes for the year. This production 
tax is not only influenced by 
volumes but also by the rise or fall 
of commodity prices.

 2011 2010 
 $000 $000

Profit before tax  82,077 20,792 

Add: Production based taxes 67,102 5,219 

Add: non-recurring items 5,914 81,270

Adjusted profit before tax 155,093 107,281 
   

Total taxation 22,940 (364) 

Add: Production based taxes 67,102 5,219 

Add: tax effect of non-recurring items 1,567 26,892

Adjusted taxation charge  91,609 31,747 
 

Effective tax rate  27.9% (1.8)%

Effective all-in tax rate   59.1% 29.6% 1
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Capital expenditure  
($m)

Financial review continued

Capital expenditure 
2011 was a capital intensive year, 
with the Group spending $162.0m, 
9% less than the 2010 programme 
of $178.5m. The Group’s main focus 
was to complete its Russian gas 
processing facility and well 
redevelopment activities for the 
Koshekhablskoye gas field in the 
southern autonomous Republic  
of Adygea. 

The Group spent $103.4m during 
the year to bring this project to 
fruition. At the end of 2011, the 
carrying value of our oil and gas 
assets in Russia totalled $246.2m. 

The remaining portion of capital 
expenditure spent during 2011 was 
$41.4m (2010: $56.1m) in Ukraine 
on the LPG facility and further 
drilling, $12.4m (2010: $9.8m) on 
drilling and exploration activity in 
Hungary and $4.8m (2010: $4.8m) 
on our other exploration interests 
in Slovakia and Bulgaria. The 
carrying value of our Ukrainian oil 
and gas assets at year end was 
$226.7m (2010: $214.3m).

Specifically, in Ukraine, our 
investment in the LPG facility, 
where sales commenced in July, 
has proven to yield far more 
attractive economic returns than 
expected. For the second half of 
2011, it contributed $10.9m to the 
Group’s revenue. Additionally, we 
continued with our development 
drilling programme in order to 
exploit the Group’s reserves as 
further described in the  
Operational Review.

In Hungary, we embarked on an 
exploration programme at the end 
of 2010 in our Turkeve acreage, 
drilling six wells in the year. Only 
one of those wells was considered 
a commercial success and we have 
accordingly written off $6.7m in the 
year relating to the drilling and 
related costs. Additionally, 
disappointing results in Bulgaria 
have necessitated the write off of 
the remaining book value of the 
assets of $6.2m. The total of these 
comprises the $12.9m for 
impairment of oil and gas assets/
write off of exploration costs in the 
consolidated income statement. 

The review of asset carrying values 
in the statement of financial 
position concluded that no other 
impairments were required.

Operating cash flow
The Group continued to reap the 
rewards of past investments with 
cash generated from operations of 
$124.2m (2010: $146.3m). This was 
15% lower than in 2010 due to 
$61.7m (2010: nil) of payments 
made in respect of Ukrainian 
rental fees. Absent this production 
tax increase, cash generated from 
operations would have been 
$185.9m, a 27% increase over the 
same figure of $146.3m in 2010.

On 12 January 2012, the Ukrainian 
government reduced the tax 
applicable to oil production 
decreasing it by 30% on a gross per 
barrel basis. This brought a 
welcome improvement to the 
Group’s forecast cash flow, albeit 
minor in light of the level of our oil 
production in Ukraine. 

The overall production tax burden 
for the Group will remain 
significantly higher than in prior 
years thereby rebasing Group profit 
and cash flow.

Financing cash flow
In the first half of the year the 
Group raised funds through 

entering into a prepaid swap 
arrangement with Credit Suisse 
and drew cash of $49.5m after 
expenses in June 2011. A portion of 
the proceeds ($9.5m) was deposited 
in a debt service reserve over which 
Credit Suisse has security and 
which is restricted exclusively to 
pay amounts due under the facility. 
The remaining proceeds were 
applied towards the completion of 
the redevelopment of the 
Koshekhablskoye field in south 
west Russia. 

Including principal repayments 
due, swap payments and financing 
costs, the net cash generated from 
financing activities (excluding 
dividend payments) was $29.8m 
(2010: $58.4m). 

Financial instruments
The Group employs a number of 
financial instruments to manage 
the liquidity associated with the 
Group’s operations. These include 
cash and cash equivalents, 
together with receivables and 
payables that are typical and arise 
directly from our operations.  

Separate and apart from these, the 
main financial instrument of the 
Group is the Credit Suisse facility 
mentioned above.  

Ukraine  $41.4m

Russia  $103.4m

Hungary  $12.4m

Other  $4.8m

$162.0m

Net cash generated from  
operating activities ($m)

1110090807

99.0

117.7
126.5126.5

119.9

18%
>
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The repayment is structured over 
an 18 month period and 
commenced in October 2011 with 
full repayment due to occur in 
December 2012. Repayments are 
straight line at $3.3m per month.  
At year end, gross borrowings* 
stood at $40.5m (2010: nil).  

There was a zero coupon rate on 
the outstanding balance due; 
however, the overall finance charge 
to JKX is the cost of the related oil 
price hedge on 36,000 bbl/month at 
$94/bbl up to a Urals Med price of 
$130/bbl. Urals Med prices in 
excess of $130/bbl are excluded 
from the calculation of the monthly 
payment due to Credit Suisse and 
any benefit of such prices is solely 
attributable to the Company’s 
account. 

In addition we are still required to 
settle the Ukrainian production 
taxes on the oil production for the 
hedged barrels without realising 
any benefit of the current market 
price of hedged oil above $94/bbl.

As the oil price increases from  
$94/bbl our effective finance charge 
and payment to Credit Suisse 
increases; for every $1 increase in 
the average Urals Med oil price 
above $94/bbl, the monthly finance 
charge increases by $36,000. 

The average Urals Med oil price 
over the term of the finance to date 
has been $110/bbl. If the Urals 
Med price remains at $90/bbl, 
$110/bbl and $120/bbl through to 
the end of the loan period the 
effective interest rate on the Credit 
Suisse loan over the 18 month 
period will be 5.7%, 23.8% and 
34.3% respectively; clearly this is 
likely to place a strain on our cash 
resources in the near term.

Total cash
Total cash (cash and cash 
equivalents plus restricted cash) 
closed at $28.9m comprising 
$19.1m (2010: $62.0m) unrestricted 
cash and $9.8 million of restricted 
cash, the majority of which is 
represented by the $9.5m debt 
service reserve for the prepaid 
swap facility with Credit Suisse.  
We also have in place a net $10.0m 

* Gross Borrowings is Borrowings gross of 
unamortised effective interest and 
arrangement fees.

Cynthia Dubin
Finance Director

working capital facility from Credit 
Agricole which comprises a gross 
facility of $15.0m but requires a 
cash deposit to match any facility 
used over $10.0m.  

The $33.1m decrease in total cash 
balances (cash plus restricted 
cash) is mainly attributable to the 
significant payments made for our 
property, plant, equipment and 
intangible exploration assets of 
$162.7m (2010: $172.8m), of which 
$105.4m related to our Russian 
redevelopment project. 

The continued increase in the cash 
requirements of our Russian 
project due to the schedule delays 
and the short-term repayment 
profile of the Credit Suisse finance 
used to meet the unplanned costs 
has been the largest contributing 
factor to the reduction in our cash 
balances during the year.

Our total net cash used in  
investing activities of $164.2m 
(2010: $175.1m) was only partially 
funded by net cash generated from 
operating activities of $99.0m  
(net of corporation tax and interest 
payments of $25.2m) (2010: 
$117.7m) and net cash from 
financing activities of $32.4m 
excluding the movement in 
restricted cash (2010: $45.2m).  
We also incurred a foreign 
exchange loss on our cash of 
$0.3m (2010: $0.2m).

Dividends paid
Dividends of $7.2 million (2010: 
$13.2 million) paid relate to the 
final 2010 dividend approved by 
shareholders at the AGM in June 
2011. The reduction from the 2010 
level is due to the passing on an 
interim dividend payment in 
relation to 2011. 

Liquidity
Our immediate priority with our 
cash resources is to support 
realisation and operational risks in 
Ukraine and the nascent Russian 
operations.

With the on-going cash require-
ments of the Credit Suisse finance 
repayments through to the end of 
the year and delays experienced 

with our Russian production and 
related cash flow, in addition to 
restrictions over $9.8m of our cash 
balances, Group liquidity will be 
carefully managed. 

Despite the imminent start-up of 
our Russian plant, we do not expect 
our Russian operations to become 
net cash positive until 2013 and 
therefore we may have to delay 
some of the Group’s planned 
capital expenditure in 2012, subject 
to additional financial resources; 
this includes the proposed 
multi-frac of well R103 in the 
Rudenkovskoye field. 

The Group intends to fund its future 
operating and capital expenditures 
through existing working capital, 
cash flow from operations and 
borrowings under its Credit Facility 
with Crédit Agricole. With our 
current low level of gearing we 
have a wide variety of options 
available to maximise our financial 
flexibility to support our operating 
and growth objectives. 

Outlook
In Ukraine and Hungary we expect 
the increased realisations from our 
oil and gas production achieved in 
2011 to ease slightly through 2012 
but to remain strong.

In Russia, gas sales from the 
Koshekhablskoye field will 
commence imminently and the 
cash-intensive investment 
programme on this first phase is 
now complete. We expect to pay 
down our short-term borrowings 
during 2012 and see a 
strengthening of the Group’s 
liquidity toward the end of the year 
and into 2013.
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At each Audit Committee meeting a 
review of the Group risk landscape 
is undertaken and the measures 
being taken to mitigate the most 
significant risks are approved. Risk 
management is regularly reviewed 
and managed by the Board of 
Directors. 

Our assessment of the most 
significant risks and uncertainties 
which could impact long-term 
performance is detailed below. We 
have also presented the key 
performance indicators (KPIs) that 

will be affected as each risk 
increases, our assessment of the 
probability of each risk occurring 
(being Low, Medium or High), its 
potential impact should it occur 
and whether, in our view, the 
overall business risk has increased 
or decreased since the last annual 
report. 

The risks are not set out in any 
order of priority, are likely to 
change and do not comprise all the 
risks and uncertainties that the 
Group faces. 

Principal risks and how we manage them

The Group continuously monitors the major strategic, operational, financial 
and external risks it faces and determines the appropriate course of action to 
manage these risks.

Strategic risks

The Board produces an annual business plan supported  
by a rigorous budgeting procedure which it reviews  
monthly with current information to ensure the annual plan 
is still appropriate.

We have regular, open and transparent communications 
with all stakeholders to ensure there is a clear 
understanding of the Group strategy and its risks and 
potential rewards.  

The Board reviews, prioritises and approves all investment 
decisions after careful consideration and uses financial  
and technical analysis from our specialist teams in 
prioritising all of its investment opportunities. The key 
investment decisions during the year have been the 
balancing of investment in new wells in Ukraine to enhance 
short term production with significant investment 
requirements in our Russian project and further  
exploration in Hungary and Slovakia.

Strategy failure  

An ineffective or poorly-executed strategy could fail to 
create shareholder value or meet shareholder  
expectations, leading to a loss of investor confidence 
and a reduction in the share price.

Our portfolio now extends to 18 assets in  
5 countries however our strategy has mainly been 
focused on the development of our production bases 
and exploration portfolios in Ukraine and Hungary and 
our high potential gas field in Russia.

KPI affected   
Return on average capital employed

Investment decisions  

Our growth is dependent on us investing in the best 
options from our portfolio of oil and gas assets. 
Ineffective investment selection and development 
could lead to loss of value and higher capital 
expenditure.

KPI affected   
Return on average capital employed
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We have continued to recruit specialist and industry-
recognised personnel and consultants to model, monitor 
and manage reservoir performance. Our London in-house 
technical expertise has been bolstered during the year 
with a 300% increase in technically skilled employees 
which includes a subsurface team.

We manage our key activities associated with reservoir 
performance in Ukraine and Russia via skilled and 
experienced local personnel who work with our London- 
based specialists and third party consultants; this 
interaction is key to our operational risk management. 

The continued geographical diversification of our 
producing interests in Russia and Hungary has spread this 
risk away from the previous very high concentration which 
was solely in Ukraine. This risk has been further mitigated 
by the imminent production from our Russian gas plant.

Reservoir performance  

The hydrocarbon reservoirs that generate production 
and cash flow from our wells in Ukraine and, in future 
in Russia, to underpin the Group’s growth may not 
perform as expected, exposing the Group to lower 
profits and challenges in funding planned development. 
Accordingly, forecast reservoir performance is critical 
in deciding on development options for specific assets, 
as well as allocation of financial resources generally 
across the Group. 

KPI affected   
Production volumes

HIGHMED

The Board manages these risks by proactive project 
planning.    

The assessment of our deeper Callovian reserves in 
Russia and the successful multi-frac of Rudenkovskoye in 
Ukraine are key projects planned in our current fields that 
may materially enhance the Group reserves.

In addition, we have experienced and skilled business 
development managers for each of the regions in which 
we operate who are dedicated to identifying and pursuing 
new potential opportunities to add to our reserves base.

For exploration, effective peer reviews by our technical  
staff and thorough diligence on new areas allow us to 
mitigate risk of failure.

Reserves replacement  

Future oil and gas production depends on our ability to 
access to new reserves through exploration, 
negotiations with governments and other owners of 
reserves and acquisitions. Failures in exploration or in 
identifying and finalising transactions to access 
potential reserves could slow our oil and gas 
production and replacement of reserves.

KPI affected   
Reserves

MEDLOW —

—

—

We treat HSEC as a priority and have a London-based 
HSEC manager who reports directly to the CEO. 

The locations in Ukraine, Russia and Hungary all have a 
dedicated HSEC Team of local employees led by an HSEC 
Manager who reports to the HSEC Director for that 
particular region. All locations have HSE Management 
Systems modelled on the ISO 9000 series, OHSAS 18001 
and ISO 14001.These locations are regularly visited and 
reviewed by the Group HSEC manager. The Board 
participate in an annual review of the Group’s HSEC 
performance and the planning of continuous improve-
ment initiatives and objectives for the coming year.

In addition, significant expenditures incurred comply with 
applicable laws and regulations. 

The higher risk construction phase of our project in 
Russia is now complete which has reduced some of our 
HSEC risk in 2011. 

Appropriate insurances are maintained to manage the 
Group’s financial exposure to any unexpected adverse 
events arising out of the normal operations of the Group.

Health, Safety, Environment and Community 
relations (HSEC) 

We are exposed to a wide range of health, safety, 
security and environmental risks influenced by the 
geographic range, operational diversity and technical 
complexity of our activities.

There are risks of technical failure, of natural disasters 
and other adverse conditions where we operate, which 
could lead to loss of containment of hydrocarbons and 
other hazardous material, as well as the risk of fires, 
explosions or other incidents.

This could endanger stakeholders and result in 
significant costs to rectify any contamination or 
damage. Poor HSEC performance could also result in 
damaging publicity for the Group.

KPI affected   
All Injury Frequency rate

HIGHLOW

What’s the risk? How we manage it

Operational risks
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HIGHLOW >
What’s the risk? How we manage it

We have rigorous project and company procedures and 
controls to identify any potential licence infringements. 

The Group conducts rigorous due diligence on licence title 
when reviewing prospective interest acquisitions. 

For licences already held, the Group regularly revisits key 
requirements to ensure compliance with all commitments.  
As soon as it is identified that commitment adherence  
could potentially become out of time or scope, extensions 
and/or waivers are negotiated with relevant authorities. 

Rosnedra, the Russian licencing authority, is fully aware 
that the remaining commitments under our 
Koshekhablskoye licence, have not, and will not be met. 

At our meeting with Rosnedra in February 2012 we 
confirmed that production was imminent.  We also agreed 
to submit a proposal to complete the assessment of 
reserves at a later date and are working with Rosnedra to 
agree our proposed changes to the timetable.

Our key operations in Ukraine and Russia are managed via 
strong local operating companies. These operating  
companies work with London-based Group specialists, as  
well as UK and locally based specialists to ensure maximum 
project management capability is available over the life of 
the project and in the required location. 

For individual capital projects which are material to the  
Group, Project Management teams of specialists are  

Production licences 

The Group operates in regions where title to licences 
can be challenged by state and non-state parties.  
Such challenges may emanate from licence 
provenance or compliance with licence requirements.

Successful title challenges could result in production 
being suspended or terminated.

Our licence in Koshekhablskoye, Russia, requires that 
we drill two Callovian wells and carry out a reserves 
determination on both the Oxfordian and Callovian 
reservoirs by July 2012.

In addition amendments in 2008 to the approved 
Koshekhablskoye field development plan required us 
to have commenced gas production in 2010.

KPI affected   
Production volumes

Capital expenditure 

We operate in a capital intensive business requiring 
long lead time investment decisions. Deviations in 
forecasts of timing and quantum of exploration and 
development expenditures can expose the Group to 

LOWLOW

We prohibit bribery and corruption in any form by all 
employees and by those working for and/or connected 
with the business.

We have appointed a Group Compliance Manager  
responsible for anti-bribery and corruption matters.

We have developed and communicated throughout the 
Group a Global Code of Conduct and a supporting 
Statement of Ethics which is compliant with the Bribery 
Act 2010 and its guidance. The communication of the new 
Code was rolled out through a training programme for 
management, employees and contractor staff globally. 

Employees are expected to report bribery or attempted 
bribery to their line managers, even if only suspected or 
attempted.

We will regularly review the operation and impact of the 
Group’s policies and procedures to ensure a consistent 
application of the Global Code of Conduct in all business 
activities and throughout supply chain processes.

Bribery and corruption  

The UK Bribery Act places onerous requirements on 
UK companies to demonstrate the effectiveness of 
their anti-bribery measures. In addition, during 2011, 
Ukraine passed new legislation on the prevention and 
combating of corruption which came into effect from  
1 July 2011. 

Failing to implement adequate systems to prevent 
bribery and corruption could result in prosecution of 
the Company and its officers.

KPI affected   
Return on average capital employed

Operational risks continued
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What’s the risk? How we manage it

created to oversee planning and implementation. These 
teams report regularly to the Board. Recent examples of 
such teams include those established for the 
Rudenkovskoye development in Ukraine, and at the 
Koshekhablskoye workover programme and gas processing 
facility construction in Russia.

We look to engage only those suppliers that have the  
expertise and proven capability to deliver the required 
service or equipment at market prices and regularly monitor 
costs against the agreed budgets as the project progresses. 
Following the completion of our capital-intensive 
construction programme in Russia during the year, our 
capital expenditure risk has reduced.

We operate policies, procedures and controls intended to 
regularise procurement within strict levels of delegated 
authority. 

All significant purchases are tendered. 

Each operating entity manages a schedule of approved 
suppliers. All contracts are constructed in accordance with 
templates, targeted at the jurisdictions of supply and  
delivery, taking account of reviews of both internal lawyers 
and, where dictated by procedure, by third party legal 
advisers.

Capital expenditure continued 

funding challenges and to projects which may have 
diminished in value or could result in a negative 
economic return. Such deviations can result from a 
number of causes including general economic and 
industry specific cost inflation, variations in foreign 
exchange rates, deficient project planning and control 
of project spend.

KPI affected   
Capital expenditure

Procurement and contract management  

An inability to negotiate, monitor and control purchases 
and contracts can increase costs to the Group and/or 
cause delays to project completions and operations, 
negatively impacting production, cash flow and value 
generation.

KPI affected   
Production costs 
Return on average capital employed

MEDLOW —

Financial risks continued

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s 
liquidity on the basis of expected cash flow to ensure any 
remedial action can be taken with as much lead time as 
possible. 

The Group finances current exploration and development 
activities using a combination of cash on hand, operating 
cash flow generated from the sale of gas, condensate, LPG 
and crude oil production, borrowings under its net $10m 
credit facility with Crédit Agricole (the ‘Credit Facility’) and 
the proceeds from the $50m pre-paid swap with Credit 
Suisse International. 

The timing and nature of some of the Group’s exploration  
and development activities are discretionary and therefore 
the Group prioritises these activities according to the 
available finance.

The Board carefully manages the timing of the Group’s 
discretionary spend to enable the pay down of the short 
term debt and to improve future liquidity.

Liquidity 

Reduction in liquidity and working capital could result in 
delay or cancellation of capital projects. In extreme 
circumstances, this could impact day to day operations 
and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Future capital requirements for exploration, appraisal 
and development activities can be difficult to predict as 
they are driven by the results of the Group’s ongoing 
exploration and development programmes, in particular 
the cash requirements of the Russian project. 

The continued increase in the cash requirements of our 
Russian project during 2011 due to the schedule delays 
and the short-term finance from Credit Suisse that was 
used to meet the unplanned costs will continue to affect 
the Group’s liquidity.

KPI affected   
Return on average capital employed
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The Board and management recognise the constant need 
for expert advice to ensure full compliance with local and 
international regulations and laws. Our strategy is to 
employ skilled local staff in the countries of operation and 
provide them with on-going training opportunities. 

In addition to such specialist staff employed in the Group’s 
operating entities, the Company has established legal, tax  
and accounting advisors. This is aimed at ensuring that 
the Company complies with applicable statutory, 
employment and environmental regulation and laws and 
that its tax and duty obligations are properly assessed and 
paid when due.

We ensure that good relationships are maintained with all  
key stakeholders in our significant assets through regular 
dialogue and on-going communications.

The Board regularly reviews announcements by national 
and local governments in Ukraine and Russia on their 
future  plans with regard to certain economic factors, in 
particular those that impact future oil and gas prices and 
related costs and taxes.

Country exposure 

We operate in a variety of emerging markets. Most of 
our operations and assets are located in Ukraine and 
Russia which display emerging market characteristics 
which means that the legislation and business 
practices regarding banking operations, foreign 
currency transactions and taxation are constantly 
evolving as those governments attempt to manage the 
economies.

Other risks inherent in conducting business in an 
emerging market economy include, but are not limited 
to, volatility in the financial markets and the general 
economy. Over 90% of our oil and gas assets are based 
in Ukraine and Russia.

The Group’s operations and financial position may be 
affected by these uncertainties.

KPI affected   
Return on average capital employed

MEDMED —

—

In Ukraine, PPC has at times since 1994 sought 
clarification of their status regarding a number of 
production related taxes and has been subject to a 
number of such taxes. PPC continues to seek clarification 
from professional advisors and the tax authorities 
concerning rules of calculation and payment of various 
production related taxes to 31 December 2010. 

A new tax code became effective in Ukraine on 1 January 
2011 replacing most of the previous tax laws. The new tax 
code has removed uncertainty over the applicability of 
rental fee payment by PPC from 2011 and accordingly 
PPC has been liable to and is paying such fees. 

We continue to assess the impact on PPC of the new tax  
code and seek professional advice on its interpretation 
where this is unclear.

Tax legislation 

Governments are increasingly concerned about the 
amount of speculation and volatility in many basic 
commodities, particularly energy and regulators are 
playing an increasingly active role in the oil and gas 
industry in various forms, including regulation, 
protectionism and increased taxation.

Emerging markets sometimes bring in new laws which 
are subject to varying interpretations and changes 
which may be applied retrospectively. This can result in 
the Group being subject to uncertainties relating to the 
determination of its tax as well as other liabilities. 

Management’s interpretation of tax legislation may  
at times not coincide with that of the tax authorities.  
As a result, the tax authorities in the countries of 
operation may challenge transactions which could 
result in additional taxes, penalties and fines which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
financial position and results of operations.

KPI affected   
Production costs 
Return on average capital employed

HIGHMED

What’s the risk? How we manage it

External risks
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Most of our gas sold in Ukraine and its share of Hungarian 
gas sales is through market related contracts to 
significant and creditworthy customers. This minimises 
exposure to abrupt price movements, ensuring sales are 
as closely matched as possible, in terms of timing and 
volume, to production. The balance of oil and gas 
production in Ukraine is sold by way of auctions, 
conducted with a frequency aimed to achieve as close as 
practicable the aforementioned matching principle. 

On 14 June 2011 the Group hedged 540,000 barrels of oil 
over the period September 2011 to November 2012  
(36,000 bbl per month), as part of a $50m pre-payment. 
The hedge was set at $94 Urals with a cap of $130 Urals.  

The Urals Med index was used for the hedge as this is the 
closest international benchmark for the range of oil and  
gas produced by JKX and delivered in local markets. The 
volume allocated to the hedge represented approximately 
10% of the Group’s current daily production on a barrel of  
oil equivalent basis.

In Russia the Group has secured a gas sales contract in 
advance of first gas production. The sales price was 
negotiated using current and expected future oil and gas 
prices and production volumes and to maximise returns 
from production.

Commodity prices 

We are exposed to international oil and gas price 
movements and political developments in Russia and 
Ukraine. 

Previous oil and gas price increases have resulted in 
increased taxes in the industry, cost inflation and more 
onerous terms for access and produce resources. As a 
result, increased oil and gas prices may not improve 
the Group results. A prolonged period of low oil and 
gas prices would lead to further reviews for 
impairment of the Group’s oil and gas assets and may 
impact the Group’s ability to support its long-term 
capital investment programme and reduce shareholder 
returns including dividends and share price.

The Group is a price taker and does not usually enter 
into hedge agreements unless required for borrowing 
purposes as may occur from time to time.

KPI affected   
Ukrainian gas realisations

Foreign exchange risk arises in the Group from 
commercial transactions, financing arrangements and 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
and net investments in foreign operations. 

We attempt to match, as far as practicable, receipts and 
payments in the same currency and also follows a range 
of commercial policies to minimise exposures to foreign 
exchange gains and losses. These include minimising 
exposure to the Hryvna denominated sales, which 
continues to account for more than 90% of Group 
revenues, and Rouble-based construction costs which 
have made up a significant portion of the Group’s asset 
additions in respect of the gas processing facility 
construction in Russia. 

The Group’s normal policy is not to hedge foreign 
exchange risk but to continually monitor internal and 
external guidance on expected future currency exchange 
movements and manage the currency of the Group’s 
major cash flows and holdings to minimise our potential 
exposure.

Foreign exchange exposure 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to Ukrainian Hryvna 
and the Russian Rouble. 

The US dollar is the currency which influences the 
majority of the Group’s revenues. 

Although a portion of costs are incurred in US dollars, 
most are influenced by the local currencies of the 
countries where the Group operates, principally 
Ukrainian Hryvna, Russian Rouble and Euro. 

Appreciation of the Ukrainian Hryvnia or depreciation 
of the Russian Rouble against the US dollar or 
prolonged periods of exchange rate volatility may 
adversely affect the Group’s business results.

KPI affected   
Return on average capital employed

LOWMED

MEDMED —

—

What’s the risk? How we manage it

External risks continued
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Corporate Social Responsibility review

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is a never-ending journey, not a 
destination Our greatest assets are our people, the environment and the 
communities where we operate, which are the keys to our business. We 
manage our business with due regard to our stakeholders’ best interests, and 
are committed to being recognised as a good corporate citizen and neighbour. 

We support our people at work as well as in their broader lives and also to 
minimise our impact on the environment. We are committed to ensure local 
communities can participate in the benefits of our success.

Setting good corporate governance procedures in place across all our 
international operations enhances our reputation and builds integrity, making 
it more attractive to customers and investors.

ISO 90003  
Quality Management 
accreditation 
Commenced the 
assessment process 
for ISO 9000 Quality 
Management 
accreditation >p52

Russian HSEC approval 
Final approval of the 
Health, Safety, 
Environment and 
Community (HSEC) 
Management System at 
our gas processing plant 
in Koshekhablskoye, 
Russia >p52

Zero accidents 
Completion of LPG 
plant in Ukraine with 
zero accidents and no 
harm to people or the 
environment >p52

Employee engagement
Employed an internal 
communication 
specialist in Maikop, 
Russia, to assist with 
communications 
throughout our rapidly 
growing organisation in 
this region >p56

  

Maintaining our ISO 
140014 Environmental 
accreditation >p54

Maintaining our OHSAS 
180015 Health and 
Safety accreditation 
>p52

Health & Safety  
accreditation

Environmental 
accreditation

Our CSR achievements in 2011

Notes

1. All Injury Frequency Rate represents the health and safety incidents per 200,000 man-hours.

2.  Lost Time Injuries (LTI) is classified as three or more days lost due to a work related injury or illness.

3.  ISO 9000 standard relates to quality management systems and is designed to ensure that 
organisations meet the needs of customers and other stakeholders.

4. ISO14001 focuses on accrediting systems that minimise the impact on the environment and to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and other environmentally oriented requirements in 
addition to continually improving in these areas.

5. OHSAS18001 is an international occupational health and safety management system to control 
occupational health and safety risks.

A decrease in the All 
Injury Frequency Rate1 
(AIFR) to 0.17 (2010: 
0.62) >p51

No Lost Time Injuries2 
(LTI) across the Group 
in more than 2.3m 
man-hours worked in 
safety exposure >p52

Zero Lost  
Time Injuries

Decrease in  
the AIFR to 0.17
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+
Our CSR process
CSR is led by Paul Davies, the  
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Our 
Health, Safety, Environment and 
Community (HSEC) manager 
reports directly to the CEO and has 
responsibility for creating a 
framework and maintaining the 
HSEC Management System for the 
management of the Group’s 
non-financial impacts. 

We run our operations at a local 
level wherever possible. 
Accordingly, a HSEC Director has 
executive responsibility within each 
operating company for 
implementing HSEC management 
systems. These representatives are 
fully trained and experienced as 
well as being familiar with local 
culture, regulations and working 
practices.

In Ukraine and Russia we have 
recruited and trained a full HSEC 
team locally which is now 
delivering a high standard of HSEC 
management. Our operationally-
based teams report not only to the 
General Director of the local 
operating company but also liaise 
with the Group HSEC manager.

The Board is provided with 
quarterly updates relating to the 
major CSR issues. A management 
review of all HSEC systems is 
carried out every year: a full 

Board-level review of progress was 
completed in December 2011 and 
our plans for 2012 were agreed.

Our CSR objectives 
• Protect people by providing 

information and advice; align our 
CSR strategies with 
organisational goals and 
capabilities 

• Influence stakeholder 
organisations to embrace high 
standards on all HSEC matters 
and to recognise the social and 
economic benefits

• Optimise our resources to 
enhance our reputation as a  
good corporate citizen and  
enjoy successful interaction  
with key internal and external 
stakeholders as well as 
governments and nongovern-
mental organizations (NGOs)

• Develop new ways to maintain an 
effective HSEC culture in a 
changing global economy, so that 
we take our corporate 
responsibilities seriously, the 
workforce is fully involved and 
the risks are properly managed

• Exemplify oil and gas sector best 
practice in managing our 
resources, enforcing the law and 
undertaking and encouraging 
relevant research

• Achieve higher levels of 
recognition and respect for our 
HSEC as an integral part of 
managing our business

• Continue to work to prevent 
catastrophic failures in major 
hazard industries

CSR policies, procedures and 
standards
We aim to comply with all local 
laws and regulations as a 
minimum and to exceed them 
where possible. We expect our 
partners to reach the same 
standards. Our policies and 
standards cover:

• Safety reporting and incident 
management

• Exposure man hours

• Occupational health provision 
and record keeping

• Environmental reporting and 
incident management including 
climate change

• Behavioural based safety 
programmes

• Continuing Professional 
Development and 
implementation

• Human resources practices, 
covering areas such as equal 
opportunities

• Handling of charitable requests

• Local community relations

• Reporting to local Russian, 
Ukrainian and UK authorities 

• Risk management programmes

Operational employees at our Koshekhablskoye facility
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Corporate Social Responsibility review

CSR targets and achievements  Our strategy for 2011 has been to  
consolidate existing systems for managing our HSEC aims and objectives. 
Having completed major construction and experienced changes in our Russian 
operations during 2011, we need to embed the lessons learned within our 
HSEC practices. 

2012 has already seen start-up of our Koshekhablskoye GPF and further 
development activity will pick up in Russia.

Achieved a 73% reduction in AIFR to  
0.17 (2010: 0.62) per 200,000 man-
hours worked

Achieved 0.85 per million man-hours 
worked, the 2011 OGP performance 
benchmark was 1.68 per million 
man-hours

Achieved

Achieved

The first assessment has been 
rescheduled for Q3 of 2012

Progress made, with high levels of 
communication with local stakeholders 
during the year in Koshekhablskoye 
including a Town Hall briefing in Maikop 
involving members of the local 
community

Achieved, with greater participation 
from local staff in the HAZOP process 
during 2011

Achieved. 69 incidents were reported in 
2011 (2010: 31) which included 
near-miss reports, unsafe acts and 
hazards

Achieved. We carried out H2S drills at 
Koshekhablskoye and ER planning and 
drills for the LPG in Poltava, with 
improved emergency response 
outcomes

Initial assessment confirmed by the 
Carbon Disclosure Project for Q3 2012

Keep our AIFR to 0.3 or below  
and exceed the OGP performance 
benchmark

Maintain ISO 14001 accreditation

Maintain OHSAS 18001 accreditation

Complete OHSAS 18001 accreditation 
for PPC

Develop, approve and implement a 
formal Stakeholder Management 
Plan in all our locations

Continue to improve local 
engagement in our Group Risk 
Management Systems and reporting 
into our Group Risk Register 

Continue to improve incident 
reporting, using safety moments, 
workshops, site campaigns, training 
sessions, tool-box talks and briefings 
through 2012

Further improve ER arrangements 
and plans with simulated exercises, 
drills and training in each of our 
operational areas during 2012
 

Implement plans for inclusion of 
supply chain management in the 
Carbon Disclosure Project

Reduce the AIFR by 5% and continue  
to beat the performance benchmark  
set by the Association of Oil and Gas 
Producers (OGP)

Maintain ISO 14001 accreditation for 
JKX Oil & Gas plc

Maintain OHSAS 18001 accreditation  
for JKX Oil & Gas plc

Complete OHSAS 18001 accreditation 
for PPC

Continue to improve our Stakeholder 
engagement and Community Liaison
Plan with a particular focus on our 
Russian activities

Improve our Risk Management and 
Assessment activities across the Group
 

Identify opportunities for improved 
hazard, near-miss and incident 
reporting

Improve Emergency Response (ER) 
plans particularly in Russia

Update the Carbon Management Plan  
to include our supply chain 

Targets 2011 Achievements 2011 Targets 2012
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Continuous improvement in 
Health and Safety
We are committed to continuously 
improving our health and safety 
performance. 

During 2011 we again maintained 
our progress, with a significant 
decrease in our AIFR figures from 
0.62 in 2010 to 0.17 in 2011  
(0.85 per million man-hours).  
The AIFR figures represent the 
health and safety incidents per 
200,000 man-hours. 

The industry benchmark set by  
the OGP was an AIFR of 1.68 per 
million man-hours worked; during 
2011 we achieved 0.85 health and 
safety incidents per million 
man-hours worked.

We also improved our hazard, 
near-miss, unsafe conditions and 
potential loss reports during 2011 
to 69 (2010: 31).

 Although this is a good 
performance, we are not 
complacent and continue to 
improve our health and safety 
monitoring systems and remain 
alert to potential new health and 
safety issues in our business.

CSR review  Health and safety

We work in environments that are challenging and hazardous by nature.  
We provide personnel with the tools to achieve their highest potential by 
creating a challenging, performance-based work environment that fosters 
enthusiasm, pride, creativity and teamwork through development, recognition, 
reward, and respect.

Our priority is to ensure that all staff and contractors work in a safe 
environment, where effective systems of work are maintained and appropriate 
procedures and processes are followed.

PoliciesAreas of focus

Awareness, competence and 
behaviours.

Suppliers, contractors and partners 
in the supply chain.

Customers and products.

We select our people with care, train 
them in key safety-related skills and 
competences and regularly assess 
their performance. 

We rely on suppliers, contractors  
and partners to carry out our work 
safely and effectively. We ensure  
that they are aligned with our HSEC 
expectations and we monitor their 
performance against these 
expectations.

We assess, manage and 
communicate the hazards associated 
with our products, communicating 
topical information to help users 
handle them in a safe and 
environmentally-responsible manner.

All injury frequency rate (AIFR) 2001 – 2011 
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Safety statistics 2011

CSR review  Health and Safety continued

Our safety statistics for 2011
We work hard to ensure that 
suppliers and others meet the high 
standards we set ourselves, and 
during the year our team 
completed the fabrication and 
construction of the new Russian 
gas processing facility without a 
Lost Time Injury. In addition PPC 
completed our LPG plant without  
a LTI.

The last 12 months have seen us 
influence operating standards on 
our joint venture in Hungary, and 
also working with the Volgograd 
Design Institute to monitor the 
designs being produced for 
Koshekhablskoye plant.

During 2011 we received final 
approval of the Health, Safety, 
Environment and Community 
(HSEC) Management System at our 
gas processing plant in 
Koshekhablskoye, Russia.

In occupational health, the drug 
and alcohol policy has been 
successfully implemented right 
across the Group with no instances 
of breaches noted. The policy 
applies to all our staff and 
contractors and forbids the 
possession and/or use of defined 
prohibited substances which 
includes drugs and alcohol. Our 
policy also clarifies our testing and 
inspection procedures.

Health and Safety risk 
management
Risk management is a central  
part of our strategic management. 
We believe that investment in 
education and continual 
professional development leads to 
more effective risk management. 

We are proud to continue to 
maintain our OHSAS 18001 Health 
& Safety accreditation which is now 
accompanied by our ISO 14001 
Environmental Accreditation in 
conjunction with Lloyds Register 
(LRQA). These are both interna-
tionally recognised specifications 
for occupational health and safety 
and environmental management 
systems.  

The accreditation process demands 
regular and comprehensive 
management reviews; we carried 
out such a review in 2011 which 
gave us the assurance that we 
have the appropriate systems and 
processes in place. 

The ISO 9000 series Quality 
Management accreditation is 
planned for 2012.

Drilling risks
As drilling operations can pose 
significant risk, we again improved 
the risk management aspects of 
these activities in 2011. We 
continued to utilise the skills and 

knowledge of UK expatriate 
supervisors on-site which has 
enabled us to define and manage 
risk more clearly using Western 
methodology. 

We select supervisors for their 
expertise as well as for their 
familiarity with the regions where 
we operate. They understand local 
working practices and look to 
enhance the education and training 
of our contract drillers. 

In 2011 we employed an 
experienced Lead Drilling Engineer 
in the London office to plan, review 
and authorise Group drilling 
operations which has significantly 
strengthened our capability to 
identify and manage the risk.

Hazard assessment processes
In both Russia and Ukraine,  
we continued to carry out risk 
management studies using our 
proven Hazard and Operability 
(HAZOP), Hazard Identification 
(HAZID) and As Low as Reasonably 
Practical (ALARP) methodologies.

We have developed an integrated 
assessment process for the safety 
assurance of development 
proposals which are potentially 
hazardous. The integrated 
hazards-related assessment 
process comprises:

Lost Time Incidents 
Safety exposure man-hours 2,315,487

Medical treatment / recordable injury / 
restricted work cases

First aid cases

Environment incidents

Near miss / loss / hazard /  
property damage / unsafe act or condition

0

2

6
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• a preliminary hazard analysis to 
support the development 
application by demonstrating 
that risk levels do not preclude 
approval

• a fire, safety and explosion 
studies, emergency response 
plans and updated hazard 
analysis undertaken during the 
design phase of projects

• a construction safety study to 
ensure facility safety during 
construction and commissioning, 
particularly when there is 
interaction with existing 
operations

• implementation of a safety 
management system to give 
on-going safety assurance during 
operations

• regular independent hazard 
audits to verify the integrity of the 
safety systems and that the 
facility is being operated in 
accordance with its hazards-
related conditions of consent

• independent risk control using a 
structured process of identifying, 
measuring, monitoring and 
reporting risks. 

Cable pulling at our Koshekhablskoye facility - over 250km of cable was installed during 2011
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CSR review  Environment

We work hard to protect our people, their communities and also the 
environment, both close to our projects and in the wider world.

We were very proud to achieve ISO 14001 Environmental Management 
accreditation in 2011. ISO 14001 is the principal management system standard 
which specifies the requirements for the formulation and maintenance of an 
Environmental Management System. 

The environmental performance  
of our operations has implications 
for our relationships with our 
people, their communities, partner 
organisations, the media, 
governments, investors and other 
stakeholders.

In 2011, we were pleased to 
continue the ongoing work with 
The Carbon Disclosure Project on 
our Carbon Management Plan. Our 
performance was good for 2011 
even with a significant increase in 
construction in Russia.

We have started a more detailed 
baseline study to engage in Supply 
Chain Management in the Carbon 
Disclosure Project during 2012.

We have committed to reducing 
emissions by 12.5%, from 2008 to 
the end of 2012, in line with EU 
targets. Having initiated a reduction 
programme in 2009, we are well on 
our way to achieving this target by 
the end of 2012. With significant 
construction in 2011, our risk 
assessment processes identified 
the possibility that emissions would 
increase during the year. 

Despite the increase in production 
and construction activity, 
emissions remained within 
expected levels in 2011. We are 
confident that 2012 will see a 
controlled reduction in emissions.

Climate change 
We recognise that CO2 and 
CH4 emissions from the use of 
hydrocarbons in our exploration 
and production activities 
contribute to climate change. 
These are generated primarily 
through operating combustion 
engines, cold venting of gas, 
electricity generation and well test 
operations.

We monitor CO2 and CH4 emissions 
attributable to drilling, well testing 
and production across the Group 
allowing the targeting and 
implementing of appropriate 
reduction strategies. In Poltava and 
Koshekhablskoye our terminals 

are now self-sufficient and can 
maintain operations without the 
need for grid electricity, improving 
security of supply.

In Ukraine, at our central 
production facilities, we upgraded 
generators resulting in improved 
emissions performance. It also 
means greater resilience for site 
production given the reduced 
requirement for diesel. 

The concept of climate change and 
the manner in which we work to 
reduce our potential contribution is 
an ongoing activity. In 2012 we are 
planning to assess how we can 
assist the Clean Development 

Objectives Achievements

Reducing Emissions

Zero discharge of chemicals to land 
or surface waters

Restored habitat and hydrological 
regime to pre-construction state as 
soon as reasonably practical

No loss of containment of product

Consulting with Stakeholders ie local 
communities, workforce, NGOs and 
government agencies

Continuously monitored

We continuously seek new initiatives 
to reduce emissions and monitor the 
impact we have on the environment. 
Baseline studies have been 
completed in Russia and 
environmental monitoring systems 
have been identified , installed and in 
operation 

Achieved in 2011; continuously 
monitored

Achieved in 2011; continuously 
monitored

Achieved in 2011; continuously 
monitored

By following the same rules and 
working together towards consistent 
goals, we can have a more 
meaningful and quicker impact on 
greenhouse gas reductions and 
improve our communities.
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Mechanism (CDM), a mechanism 
defined in the Kyoto Protocol to 
prevent dangerous climate change 
and to assist in achieving emission 
reduction commitments.

Sustainable performance
Sustainability reporting is the 
practice of measuring, disclosing, 
and being accountable to internal 
and external stakeholders for 
organisational performance 
towards the goal of sustainable 
development. 

The Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) is a worldwide multi-
stakeholder organisation that 
created and maintains the 
Reporting Framework, a global 
sustainability reporting standard. 

We have commenced reporting 
according to the GRI’s 
Sustainability Reporting 
Guidelines.

Supply chain management
The nature of our assets means we 
have an ongoing demand for 
services. This is will allow us to 
forge reliable agreements and offer 
longer-term commitments to our 
suppliers. Apart from the 
opportunity to maximise our 
expenditure to create business 
benefits, it also enables us to 
influence our suppliers’ behaviour 
in critical areas such as safety, 
local content and the environment 
through leveraging our contract 
performance management 
processes. 

At the heart of our sustainable 
supply chain is a policy of localising 
supply by fabricating, 
manufacturing and sourcing as 
much as possible as close to the 
point of use. This means that those 
supplies are provided to us by 
indigenous companies. By sourcing 
close to the point of use we greatly 
reduce the distance over which our 
supply chain is spread and this in 
turn greatly reduces the impact  
on the environment, project cost 
and time. 

We can also improve our supply 
operations by focussing on the use 
of green technology for managing 
and developing logistics handling, 
particularly in new projects such as 
Russia. 

In 2012 we are meeting with the 
Carbon Disclosure Project to 
formulate plans and procedures on 
how to engage suppliers effectively 
and manage our supply chain.

Sunset at our Central Processing Facility, Poltava
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CSR review  Employment

We have more than 900 staff in five different countries which puts people as 
a top priority, and this is strongly reflected in our approach to people matters 
and management. 

At the year-end, YGE our Russian subsidiary had 267 staff at our Maikop office 
and at our Koshekhablskoye production facilities. Our Ukrainian subsidiary 
PPC had 632 personnel in our Poltava office and at the production site. 

The London office has 33 employees and 6 contracted staff. The number of 
contractors and supply chain vendors across the Group can vary from time to 
time and has previously peaked at over 500 support and associated personnel.

Employment policies
We operate across a number of 
different countries, cultures and 
environments, therefore we have a 
decentralised management 
structure, with employment 
policies designed to suit the needs 
of individual locations. Each Group 
company complies with certain key 
principles, including:

• providing safe and healthy 
working conditions for all 
employees

• creating an open, challenging, 
rewarding and participative 
environment which, through 
development and training, aims 
to maximise the talent, skills and 
abilities of all employees

• communicating to provide the 
fullest possible understanding of 
our goals, directions and 
performance of the business

• providing compensation and 
benefits which reflect good 
current local practices and which 
reward collective and individual 
abilities and personal 
performance

• providing a working environment, 
development opportunities and 
incentives to promote team effort 
and commitment to the 
performance of the Group

• referencing the International 
Labour Organisation to verify 
standards and best practice.

Our Group-wide values of Integrity, 
Teamwork, Excellence and 
Respect, are essential in helping to 
guide our employees in the way 
that they behave. 

Dealing with growth
In a five-year period since 2006  
our employee numbers have grown 
from 250 people to over 850 full 
time employees at the end of 2011. 
Regular and effective 
communication in a growing in and 
an ever changing organisation is 
key to its continued success.  
We now have a small team of 
internal communication specialists 
in Ukraine and Russia. 

Vladimir Kurilov 
Electrical  Supervisor, YGE

Evgeniya Belyaeva  
Laboratory Technician, YGE

Danilo Agostini  
Operations Manager, YGE

Irina Fedorkova 
Document Controller, YGE
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CSR review  Community

We are an integral part of the communities in which we operate and are 
determined to play our part through financial donations as well as practical 
support. All our operations are managed with local interests in mind, thereby 
increasing public confidence in the integrity of our assets and underlining our 
commitment to HSEC performance.

PPC fire incident attendance in the local community in 2011

Rudenkovka
 
Nekhvoroshcha
Rudenkovka

Svitlivshchyna 
Area of well site No. 9 

Rudenkovka
 
Rudenkovka

Area of well site No. 150

Rudenkovka  

Extinguishing of oil residue tank fire at a printing company

Extinguishing a fire at a tyre centre
Extinguishing a dry grass fire

Extinguishing a domestic building fire
Extinguishing a domestic building fire

Extinguishing a tree fire

Extinguishing a tree fire

Extinguishing a corn crop fire

Two trips were made to extinguish a fire at a domestic building

Month Location Assistance provided

January

March

 
April
 

August
 
September

October

November

Assistance in our local 
communities 
In practical terms, our community 
support frequently involves using 
the Company’s plant and machinery 
– as well as manpower – to provide 
much-needed assistance.

Working with the local authorities, 
we deployed available vehicles 
including our fire engines, 

personnel and safety equipment on 
a number of occasions during the 
year (see table below).

In addition we have assisted 
communities local to our operations 
in Ukraine by providing the use of 
our cranes, trucks, excavators and 
road clearing equipment to assist in 
a number of small isolated tasks 
that benefit the local community.

Human rights
We support and respect the 
protection of internationally 
recognised human rights in our 
areas of operation. The policy is 
applicable to all our operations.  
We uphold and promote human 
rights within our sphere of 
influence which includes, but is not 
limited to, employees, contractors, 
local communities, suppliers, and 
business partners. We also actively 
engage with key stakeholders to 
address the rights of the 
communities surrounding our 
operations. 

Diversity and equality 
We believe that access to work 
opportunities should be based on 
merit, equality, fairness and need 
and that no one should be treated 
less favourably on the basis of their 
sex, racial or ethnic origin, colour, 
religion, disability, marital status, 
sexuality or age. 

Our approach to Equality and 
Diversity is core to our business 
and we will ensure that this is 

PPC firetruck assisting the local community
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CSR review  Community continued

reflected in all our policies, 
practices and procedures. We are 
committed to respecting diversity 
in all aspects of our work and we 
will not tolerate any form of 
discrimination – either direct or 
indirect. Acts of discrimination, 
prejudice, harassment and 
victimisation which occur within 
the workplace or within the 
communities in which we work will 
not be tolerated and will always be 
challenged. 

We aim to involve all aspects of the 
business in valuing the diversity of 
our customers, staff and stake-
holders at all times eradicating 
inequality and discrimination. 

Charitable donations and 
volunteering
Each operation has a limited 
budget for good causes and we 
handle charitable donations at a 
local level. Locally, donations  
from the Group during 2011 
amounted to: Ukraine $433,491 
(2010: $543,000); Russia $25,121 
(2010: $188,000); UK $15,921 
(2010: $30,000) and Georgia $2,279 
(2010: $3,000).

Subject to management approval, 
staff may be given additional time 
off in order to join in certain 
charity-related activities. 

Local charitable projects
Charity projects that are local to 
our operations and that we have 
supported during the year were:

Ukraine:
• construction of a playground at 

the Andriivka boarding school 

• provision of fuel tickets for the 
Andriivka boarding school 

• provision of Easter cakes to 
children staying in the Sokola 
Balka hospital 

• provision of gifts to physically 
challenged children in Sokolova 
Balka Village to commemorate 
Children’s Day 

• purchase and installation of 
sports facilities and equipment in 
the Novi Sanzhary town park in 
Poltava to commemorate 
Children’s Day 

• sponsoring of the Novi Sanzhary 
District Competition of Young 
Friends of Traffic Police, 
purchasing dummy road signs 
and arranging the driving 
training and ground marking. 

Russia:
• improving the building and road 

for Maikop Children’s and Youth’s 
Crafts Development Centre 

• supplying basic equipment and 
supplies to the Medical Centre 
for ‘Dmitrovskoye rural 
settlement’ 

• supplying books and academic 
equipment for Children and Youth 
Schools in Maikop. 

Stakeholder engagement
We recognise that our stakeholders 
include local communities, 
government (national, regional and 
local), NGOs, inter-governmental 
organisations, academics, 
investors, the media and 
employees. While we have always 
aimed to be open and transparent 
in all that we do, we implement a 
strategic approach to building 
relationships.

In 2011 we continued to make 
progress by improving our 
stakeholder communications in 
Poltava and in Koshekhablskoye. 

In 2011, we held regular meetings 
with local leaders to explain our 
projects; we held informal round 
table discussions with community 
groups to listen to and discuss 

their concerns with stakeholders 
from local government, media, 
NGOs and CSOs (Civil Society 
Organisations) and local business 
people. These are in addition to the 
daily contact our community liaison 
officers have with the communities 
near to our operations. The 
outcome of events such as the 
Town Hall meetings in 
Koshekhablskoye and Maikop, in 
Russia, influenced the way in which 
we now manage carbon emissions.

In 2012 we plan to implement an 
approved Stakeholder 
Management Plan for our Russian 
operations, engaging with 
stakeholders in key locations. This 
will help us to shape an improved 
dialogue and to respond 
appropriately to stakeholder needs 
and concerns. It will also help us to 
demonstrate the depth of our 
legacy in Russia, our desire and 
commitment to creating shared 
prosperity there and to promote 
and contribute to the development 
of the local area and ultimately the 
nation as a whole.

There are genuine risks in failing to 
recognise and respond to the 
concerns of our stakeholders 
which can translate into real 
business and opportunity costs. 
The need to formalise and 
implement an external Stakeholder 
Management Plan in Russia has 
been identified by the Board as key 
aim for 2012. 

Investors
In 2011, we took part in a number 
of meetings and interactions with 
investors. The Board places 
considerable importance on 
communication with shareholders 
and addresses investors’ questions 
on all aspects of corporate 
responsibility, in person or in 
writing.
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LPG Poltava – case study

Why LPG?  Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) is a flammable mixture of 
hydrocarbon gases used as a fuel in vehicles and heating appliances.  
When specifically used as a vehicle fuel it is often referred to as autogas. 
It is much cheaper to buy than either petrol or diesel. Far less tax is added 
to the pump price because it creates less pollution. European governments 
encourage the use of LPG to help meet environmental targets.

LPG market in Ukraine, 2006–2011 (thousand tonnes)

Production Import  Export Consumption

Sources: Oil market/Nfterynok, January 2012
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The project
Oilfield projects are always a 
challenge, particularly in areas of 
the world with limited 
infrastructure and experience in 
completing such projects. 

The PPC LPG Project from concept 
to first production was completed 
with an excellent safety and 
environmental record, on budget, 
ahead of schedule, exceeded its 
goals for national training and 
content and has been able to 
produce as planned.

On the first major project that PPC 
completed in 1997 we engaged a 
Ukraine design institute and it 
became obvious that if PPC were to 
actually make any progress we 
needed to be in control of 
engineering and construction 
activities.

PPC were awarded Ukraine 
licenses for engineering and 
construction activities in 1998/9 
which have been vital to the speed 
at which we can complete projects 
at the PPC Production Site. The 
licences mean we are self-
sufficient and avoid the necessity of 
utilising Ukraine institutes or 
contractors and therefore can 
control schedules and costs. 

What worked well
By most project standards, 
milestones were met in a very 
short time. Such speed in 
development can be attributed to 
the following fundamentals:

• Ukraine licenses (1998/9) to 
perform most engineering and 
construction activities

• highly motivated team made up 
mostly of Ukrainian nationals

• project team was led by PPC 
in-house staff with minimum 
involvement from contractors

• experienced Project Leaders 
were used who regularly work in 
Ukraine 

• PPC management’s foresight 
and willingness to place a high 
priority on the project 

• atmosphere of trust amongst the 
project team and project 
management to deliver

• stakeholders were aligned

• the project was self-financed 
through PPC’s operating cash 
flow

• ample feed gas supply was 
already available on site from 
existing wells

• we had significant prior 
experience of highly technical 
projects in the oil and gas 
industry.

LPG consumption in Ukraine, 2010 and 2011  

LPG Poltava – case study continued

2010 2011

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) production commenced at our Poltava plant on 
4 July 2011 and the first commercial cargoes were dispatched on 5 July. 

Dr Paul Davies, JKX’s Chief Executive said, “The facilities came in on schedule 
and on budget and we achieved pay-back on the incremental investment 
in approximately six months. The added value of this product stream has 
enhanced the economic performance of our Ukraine operation and effectively 
increased gas realisations by approximately 10%.”

1%  Petrochemistry

22%  Petrochemistry

9%  Cylinders 7%  Cylinders

1%  Heating 1%  Heating

89%  Autogas 70%  Autogas
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Why was it successful

There were a number of reasons why our LPG project was successfully 
merged into our existing operations on time and with minimum 
interruption. These included:

Planning
• Significant LPG market analysis took place for many months before a 

business plan was developed 

• A detailed annual Business Plan was developed in advance to 
organize and focus its commercial activities 

• The preparation of a high quality engineering design at the conceptual 
design stage 

Health and safety
• The project was executed with an HSEC Plan which was agreed with 

senior management and implemented rigorously at site – a very 
strong site safety culture was embedded within the team

• We used proven technology – the process plant was purchased as a 
packaged unit from an existing vendor who has already supplied 
many similar units to many customers throughout the world 

• Proven suppliers – the chosen supplier had intimate knowledge of our 
existing plant from previous work completed enabling the very best 
performance from interface with the existing process

• Deviations from the suppliers standard design were kept to an 
absolute minimum 

• The LPG Project Management Team resided in the field at the job site 

• No Lost Time Incidents

Environment
• The planning process included a detailed Environmental Impact 

Assessment 

• The project team approved an Environmental Management Plan 
which was adhered to throughout construction

Community
• We worked hard on community relations which ensured local 

communities were well informed

• We focused on purchasing from local and national Ukrainian 
companies where possible

• Proven local sub-contractors were used, who brought with them 
lessons learned from previous projects

Rigorous control of cost and schedule was exercised throughout the 
duration of the LPG project with project schedule and cost reports 
updated weekly. Communication throughout the project was frequent, 
rapid and clear.

Conclusion
The LPG Project is another benchmark of what is possible within PPC 
when talented and motivated people work together towards common 
goals of safety, quality, cost, national content and schedule. 

Experienced local employees
Wherever possible the project was 
staffed by existing PPC Ukrainian 
employees. For ongoing production 
and commercial operations, 
additional local staff were recruited 
early in the project and were able 
to gain experience on the existing 
operations before LPG start-up. 

Experienced Project Managers 
were used who had completed 
many previous projects on this 
location. In addition a number of 
group departments collaborated 
throughout to ensure the 
successful project delivery 
including: Health Environmental 
and Safety, Operations, 
Maintenance, Engineering, 
Construction, Purchasing, Finance, 
Human Resources, Commercial, 
Government Relations, Community 
Relations, Logistics and IT.
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The Directors

Sir Ian Prosser
Chairman (68)
Sir Ian was Chairman and Chief Executive 
of Bass plc and latterly Chairman of 
InterContinental Hotels until 2003. He was 
formerly Non-Executive Deputy  
Chairman of BP plc, having joined as a 
Non-Executive Director in 1997, and was 
also Senior Independent Director of 
GlaxoSmithKline, a Non-Executive of  
The Boots Company and of Lloyds TSB.  
He is Chairman of The Navy Army & Air 
Force Institutes, Chairman of BP Pension 
Trustees Ltd and a Non-Executive 
Director of Sara Lee Corporation.

Martin Miller   
Technical Director (64)
Martin Miller joined JKX in 1994 as Chief 
Geologist and has held a number of senior 
positions in the Company, including 
directing JKX’s Georgian operations. Most 
recently, he has assumed responsibility 
for JKX’s ventures in Russia and Ukraine. 
Martin is a Chartered Engineer and has 
over 35 years of experience in the oil and 
gas industry, including senior positions 
with Mobil and BP.

Dr Paul Davies
Chief Executive Officer (62)
Dr Paul Davies joined the Board on  
30 January 1998. He has been active in 
the oil and gas industry since 1976 and 
was the co-founder of the JP Kenny  
Group of Companies which traded 
internationally in oil and gas engineering, 
oil and gas exploration and production, 
subsea survey and inspection, and 
shipping. He has extensive experience of 
business in the former Soviet Union and 
was a founder of JP Kenny Exploration  
& Production Ltd, the forerunner of 
JKX Oil & Gas plc. He holds an Honours 
degree in Civil Engineering and PhD in 
structural mechanics from University 
College London.

Peter Dixon
Commercial Director (57)
Peter Dixon joined the Board on 1 July 
2007 with 27 years of broad experience in 
the upstream oil and gas industry in the 
UK, Middle East, Africa and the former 
Soviet Union. Peter graduated in Physics 
and Geology from Sunderland University 
and spent 15 years working in geophysical 
and management roles within the SSL 
and Schlumberger group companies. 
Since joining JKX in 1995, Peter has 
occupied a number of senior positions 
within the group including Asset Manager 
Ukraine, Group Commercial Executive and 
General Director of Poltava Petroleum 
Company.

Cynthia Dubin
Finance Director (50)
Cynthia Dubin has more than 27 years 
experience in the oil and gas and energy 
sectors. She was previously a co-founder 
and Chief Financial Officer of Canamens 
Energy Ltd, an oil and gas exploration 
and production company which focused 
on North Africa, the Middle East and the 
North and Caspian Sea regions. Prior to 
that, Cynthia worked for Edison Mission 
Energy in London for 12 years where 
she joined as Finance Manager before 
becoming Vice President and Finance 
Director for Europe, the Middle East and 
Africa in 1998. 
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Alastair Ferguson
Non-Executive Director (54)
Alastair Ferguson joined the Board as 
Non-Executive Director on 1 November 
2011 with an extensive background in the 
oil and gas industry and considerable 
experience of the Russian gas market. 
Alastair recently retired from the position 
of Executive Vice-President Gas & Power 
with TNK-BP after eight years in Moscow 
having successfully led its gas and  
power business in Russia and Ukraine. 
Prior to that, he held a wide range of 
senior positions with BP during his  
33 year career in the oil and gas industry.  
His expertise ranges from developing to 
managing major integrated projects 
across the world. Alastair is a member of 
the Audit Committee.

Nigel Moore 
Non-Executive Director (68)
Nigel Moore is a Non-Executive Director 
and Chairman of the audit committee of 
Hochschild Mining plc, Vitec Group plc and 
Ascent Resources plc. He is also  
Non-Executive Chairman of TEG Group plc.
He was formally a London based partner of 
Ernst & Young where he was responsible 
for the Ernst & Young operations in Russia 
and Eastern Europe for several years.
Nigel is chairman of the Audit Committee 
and a member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees.

Lord Oxford   
Non-Executive Director (59)
Earl of Oxford & Asquith joined the  
Foreign Office in 1980 and was the 
Counsellor at the British Embassy in  
Kiev from 1992 until his resignation in 
1997 to pursue private business interests.

Dipesh Shah, OBE
Non-Executive Director (58)
Dipesh Shah joined the Board with over  
30 years experience of the oil and gas sector. 
He was Chief Executive of several 
businesses in BP and the UK Atomic Energy 
Authority, and Chairman of Viridian Group 
plc. Dipesh is currently a Non-Executive 
Director at Thames Water and Kemble Water 
Group of Companies, The Crown Estate, and 
the EU Marguerite Fund where he is 
Chairman of the Investment Committee, 
Trustee of the British Youth Opera and 
Governor of Merchant Taylors’ School. He is 
a graduate of the Universities of London and 
Warwick and of the Harvard Business School 
management programme. He is Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee and a 
member of the Audit Committee.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report and the audited  
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2011.

Principal activities, business review and future 
developments
The principal activities of the Group are oil and gas 
exploration, appraisal, development and production, 
conducted through subsidiary undertakings. 

The Company is required by the Companies Act 2006 
to set out in this report a fair review of the business of 
the Group during the financial year ended  
31 December 2011 and of the position of the Group at 
the end of the year (the business review). 

A review of principal business activities and future 
developments are set out in the following sections of 
the Annual Report and these sections are incorporated 
into the Directors’ Report by reference:

Section  Page(s)

– JKX At a glance  1–17
– Chief Executive’s statement 21–23
– Operational review 24–36
– Financial review 37–41
– Measuring our progress 12–13
– Principal risks and how we manage them 42–47
– Health and safety, Environment, Employment   48–59 

and Community matters within the  
Corporate Social Responsibility review

– Liquidity risk management (note 14 to the 111
 financial statements)
– Currency risk management 47
– Credit risk management (note 14 to the 111 

financial statements)

The Chairman’s statement, Chief Executive’s 
statement and the Financial Review also include 
details of expected future developments in the 
business of the Group.

Results and dividends
The consolidated income statement on page 87 sets 
out the results of the Group for the year. 

Following the foregoing of the interim dividend (2010: 
2.4p per share), details of which are set out in note 28 
of the financial statements, the Directors do not 
recommend the payment of any final dividend (2010 
2.6p per share) for the year ended 31 December 2011 
(Total dividend in respect of 2010: 5.0p per share). 

Going concern
The Board closely monitors and manages its liquidity 
risk. Cash flow forecasts are regularly produced and 
sensitivities run for different scenarios including, but 
not limited to, changes in commodity prices, different 
production and tax rates in relation to the Group’s 
producing assets and delays to development projects.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s forecast  
cash flows for the next twelve months and through to 
the end of 2013. Capital and operating costs are  
based on approved budgets and latest forecasts in the 
case of 2012 and current development plans in the 
case of 2013. 

In addition the Directors have made enquiries into and 
considered the Ukrainian and Russian business 
environments and future expectations regarding 
country and currency risks that the Group may 
encounter. 

Having considered the sensitivities and potential 
outcomes relating to these country and currency risks, 
the Group’s ability to change the timing and scale of its 
discretionary capital expenditure if required and the 
Group’s ability to draw up to net $10m on the credit 
facility in Ukraine which is currently available until  
30 June 2012, the Directors consider that the Company 
and Group have adequate resources to continue for 
the foreseeable future. The going concern basis for 
the accounts has therefore continued to be adopted.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be 
held at 10am on 24 May 2012 at the premises of the 
Institute of Directors, 116-123 Pall Mall, London  
SW1Y 5ED.

The business for the meeting includes 8 resolutions as 
Ordinary Business and 3 resolutions proposed as 
Special Business.

Included as Ordinary Business are resolutions to 
re-appoint two Directors who have been appointed 
since the last annual general meeting and re-elect  
two Directors.

As previously reported, the Board believes it 
appropriate to seek annual re-election of all Non-
Executive Directors who serve on the Board for more 
than nine years therefore Lord Oxford is proposed for 
re-election. The Board has conducted a rigorous 
review and concluded that Lord Oxford remains 
independent. In addition the Board supports the 
continued appointment of Lord Oxford as a Non-
Executive Director because of his unrivalled knowledge 
and experience of doing business in Ukraine.

Dipesh Shah retires on rotation in accordance with the 
Articles of Association and is seeking re-election. 
Cynthia Dubin and Alastair Ferguson have been 
appointed to the Board since the last annual general 
meeting.

Included in Special Business there are three special 
resolutions:

(1) Purchase of own shares: The Directors recommend 
that the Company seeks authorisation at the 
Annual General Meeting to renew the authority for 
the Company to make on-market purchases of 
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, such 
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authority to expire on the earlier of 15 months  
from the date of the passing of the resolution and 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
(if sooner). 

 The minimum price payable per share under the 
proposed authority in this resolution is the nominal 
amount of each share (currently 10p) and the 
maximum price (exclusive of expenses) is 5% above 
the average market price per share for the five 
business days immediately preceding any 
purchase. If granted, the authority will allow the 
Company to take advantage, if appropriate, of stock 
market conditions to purchase its own shares.  
In assessing whether to purchase the Company’s 
own shares, the Directors will take into account all 
relevant factors including the effect on earnings 
per share and assets per share ratios and other 
benefits to Shareholders. Any shares purchased 
would be held as treasury shares.

(2) The Directors be empowered pursuant to section 
570 of the Act to allot equity securities for cash as  
if section 561 (1) of the Act did not apply to the 
allotment up to an aggregate nominal value of 
£860,352 such power to expire on the date falling 
15 months from the date of passing of the 
resolution unless previously revoked, varied or 
extended by the Company in General Meeting. 

(3) To allow a general meeting other than an annual 
general meeting to be called on not less than  
14 clear days’ notice.

Political and charitable contributions
The Group made charitable contributions of $476,812 
(2010: $764,128) for local educational, health and 
village infrastructure initiatives in Ukraine and Russia. 
In line with Group policy, the Group did not make any 
political contributions during the year (2010: nil)

Disabled employees
The Group gives full consideration to applications for 
employment from disabled persons where the 
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by 
such persons.

Should an existing employee become disabled, it is  
in the Group’s policy wherever practicable to provide 
continuing employment under normal terms and 
conditions and to provide training and career 
development and promotion.

Shares in JKX Oil & Gas plc
Details of movements in share capital during the  
year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements. 
The Company has one class of Ordinary Share which 
carries no right to fixed income. Each share carries the 
right to one vote at General Meetings of the company. 
There are no significant restrictions on the transfer of 
securities.

Treasury Shares
In 2011 the Company did not purchase in the market 
any of its own ordinary 10p shares, to be held as 
Treasury Shares. At 31 December 2011, 402,771  
(2010: 402,771) shares continued to be held as 
Treasury Shares representing 0.23% (2010: 0.23%) of 
the shares then in issue.

Directors and their interests
The Directors and their interests at the beginning and 
end of the year in the shares of the Company, all 
beneficially held, were as shown in the table on the 
following page.

Details of Directors’ remuneration and share options 
are shown in the Remuneration Report on pages 74 to 
83. There were no contracts existing during or at the 
end of the year in which a Director was, or is, 
materially interested.

The share capital structure is listed in note 15 in the 
notes to the financial statements and the significant 
holdings are listed on the following page. 

Directors’ indemnities 
As permitted by the Articles of Association, the 
Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a 
qualifying third party indemnity provision as defined by 
Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity 
was in force throughout the last financial year and is 
currently in force. The Company also purchased and 
maintained throughout the financial year Directors’ 
and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and 
its Directors.

Significant contracts and transparency directive 
information
There are a number of agreements that take effect, 
alter or terminate upon a change of control of the 
Company such as commercial contracts, finance 
agreements, property lease arrangements and 
employees’ share plans. None of these is considered 
to be significant in terms of their likely impact on the 
business of the Group as a whole. Furthermore, the 
directors are not aware of any agreements between 
the Company and its directors or employees that 
provide for compensation for loss of office or 
employment that occurs because of a takeover bid.

Events after the reporting date
Events after the reporting date are discussed in note 
33 to the financial statements.

Creditor payment policy and practice
It is the Company’s policy that payments to suppliers 
are made in accordance with those terms and 
conditions agreed between the Company and its 
suppliers, providing that all trading terms and 
conditions have been complied with. The Company has 
no trade creditors (2010: none).
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Directors’ interests 1 January 2011 31 December 2011 26 March 2012 
 Ordinary Share Ordinary Share Ordinary Share 
 Number Number Number

Lord Fraser (retired 28 Feb 2011) 75,000 Not applicable Not applicable

Lord Oxford 94,000 94,000 94,000

Nigel Moore 14,000 14,000 14,000

Michel-Marc Delcommune (retired 31 Dec 2011) – Not applicable Not applicable

Dipesh Shah OBE1 – 5,000 5,000

Dr Paul Davies2 3,632,272 3,632,272 3,632,272

Bruce Burrows (retired 30 Sep 2011) 181,896 Not applicable Not applicable

Martin Miller 190,000 190,000 190,000

Peter Dixon 163,179 163,179 163,179

Sir Ian Prosser (appointed 1 Mar 2011) Not applicable 15,000 15,000

Cynthia Dubin (appointed 14 Nov 2011) Not applicable – –

Alastair Ferguson (appointed 1 Nov 2011) Not applicable – –

1. Dipesh Shah’s interest is held by members of his immediate family. 

2. Dr Paul Davies’ interest is partly indirect with 1,975,000 ordinary shares registered in the name of Investec Trust ITCL2513  
and held in trust, the beneficiary of which is the family of Dr P Davies. Of the remaining ordinary shares 1,000 are held by  
Mr D Davies, the son of Dr P Davies with the balance held directly by Dr P Davies.

Substantial shareholders 31 December 2011 31 December 2011  26 March 2012 26 March 2012 
 Number of shares % of total voting rights  Number of shares % of total voting rights

Ralkon Commercial Ltd 46,432,027 27.05%  46,432,027 27.05%

Glengary Overseas Ltd 19,656,344 11.45%  19,656,344 11.45%

BlackRock Investment    
Management (UK) 12,384,460 7.21% 13,085,210 7.62%

Interneft Ltd 11,368,460 6.62%  11,368,460 6.62%

JSC Naftogaz of Ukraine 9,957,214 5.80%  9,957,214 5.80%

Aberforth Partners 9,697,349 5.65%  9,898,461 5.77%

The Boston Company  5,351,797 3.12%  5,485,179 3.20% 
Asset Management 

Directors’ report continued

By order of the Board
Cynthia Dubin
Company Secretary
27 March 2012

Substantial shareholders
At 31 December 2011 and at 26 March 2012, the 
Company had received notification from the following 
institutions of interests in excess of 3% of the total 
number of voting rights of the Company (below).
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Corporate governance

Statement by the Directors on compliance with the 
UK Corporate Governance Code
The Company is committed to the principles of the 
revised UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Code’) 
which was published by the Financial Reporting 
Council in May 2010 and which replaced the 2008 
Combined Code during the year. The Code is publicly 
available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 
at: www.frc.org.uk.

Composition of the Board
JKX has a diverse Board comprising directors drawn 
from a wide range of professional backgrounds. 

As at 31 December 2011, the Board comprised nine 
directors: a Non-Executive Chairman, four Executive 
Directors, and four independent Non-Executive 
directors. During the year there have been three new 
appointments to the Board and three retirements. 
Details of each of the current directors are provided on 
pages 62 and 63.

The planned succession to the Board of the  
Non-Executive Chairman resulted in the appointment 
of Sir Ian Prosser on 1 March 2011.

Following the retirement of the Finance Director and an 
evaluation of the skills and experience sought by the 
Board, an external advisory firm was appointed to 
undertake the search for a replacement. Subsequently, 
as a result of this search, Cynthia Dubin was appointed 
as Finance Director on 14 November 2011. 

In addition on 1 November 2011 Alastair Ferguson 
joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director. Alastair 
has an in-depth knowledge and considerable 
experience of working in the Russian gas market. 

Michel-Marc Delcommune retired from the Board on 
31 December 2011. 

The range of skills, experience and expertise brought 
to JKX by the three new appointments during 2011 will 
bring new perspective and balance to the Board.

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible to shareholders for leading, 
developing and protecting the interests of the 
Company and delivery of sustainable financial 
performance and long-term shareholder value.

Matters reserved specifically for the Board are clearly 
laid down. Key matters reserved for the consideration 
and the approval of the Board are: 

• setting and monitoring Company strategy

• review of Company business plans, trading 
performance and overhead costs

• approval of major capital investment projects across 
the Group

• setting any interim dividend and recommendation of 
the final dividend

• examination of acquisition opportunities, divestment 
possibilities and significant financial and operational 
issues

• review and approval of the Company’s financial 
statements

• review and approval of the annual operating and 
capital expenditure budgets and

• ensuring that the major business risks are actively 
monitored and managed using robust control and 
risk management systems (supported by the Audit 
Committee). 

All other authorities are delegated by the Board, 
supported by appropriate controls, to the Chief 
Executive Officer on behalf of senior management.

The Chairman, in consultation with the Executive 
Directors, sets the agenda for Board meetings. All 
Directors receive comprehensive documentation prior 
to each meeting on the matters to be discussed to 
enable them to exercise their judgement in the 
discharge of their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in site visits 
to the Group’s operations and to meet local employees. 
As at the date of this report all of the current Board 
members have visited both our operations in Ukraine 
and Russia during the past 12 months.

As well as appropriate training and briefings and 
access to the Company Secretary, all Directors may 
obtain independent professional advice in respect of 
their duties to the Board and to its committees at the 
Company’s expense. The Company maintains liability 
insurance for its Directors and officers.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
A clear division of responsibilities at the head of the 
Company is demonstrated in the separation of 
positions of the Non-Executive Chairman, Sir Ian 
Prosser, and the Chief Executive Officer, Dr Paul 
Davies. Sir Ian is responsible for the leadership of the 
Board and for ensuring effective communication with 
shareholders, Paul is responsible for leading and 
managing the business.

Non-Executive Directors 
The Non-Executive Directors bring a broad range of 
business and commercial experience to the Company 
which allows them to challenge effectively, 
independently and constructively the performance of 
the Executive Board and their strategy and monitor the 
performance of the senior management team in the 
delivery of the agreed objectives and targets.

Nigel Moore is the Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director. As Senior Independent Director, Nigel is 
available to meet shareholders if they have concerns 
that cannot be resolved through discussion with the 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or Finance Director 
or for which such contact is inappropriate.
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In addition to Board meetings, the Non-Executive 
Directors meet in private session, both as a group and 
without the Chairman, at least once annually to 
discuss current issues affecting the Group.

Board evaluation 
Evaluation of the performance of Directors, the  
Board and its committees is undertaken as follows: 

• the Executive Directors are evaluated by the 
Non-Executive Directors in informal session

• the Chairman is evaluated by the other Non-
Executive Directors, led by the Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director, taking into account the 
views of the Executive Directors 

• the Committees are evaluated by the Senior 
Independent Non-Executive Director along with the 
Chief Executive, taking into account the views of the 
other Executive Directors 

• the Non-Executive Directors, excluding the 
Chairman, are evaluated by the Chairman and Chief 
Executive, taking into account the views of the other 
Executive Directors and 

• the Board as a whole evaluates its own performance 
by consolidating and discussing the reviews set out 
above.

Compliance 
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, the 
Company has maintained policies and procedures that 
ensured compliance with the Code and the related 
Financial Services Authority Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements. The Listing Rules of the UK Listing 
Authority require that companies report on the extent 
to which they comply with the Principles of Good 
Governance and Code of Best Practice.

The Board believes the Company has been in full 
compliance with the provisions set out in the Code with 
the following exceptions:

• B.2.3 The terms of appointment of the Non-
Executive Directors are set out in their service 
contracts, which for Sir Ian Prosser is dated 1 March 
2011, for Lord Oxford is dated 1 January 2002, for 
Nigel Moore is dated 12 July 2007, for Dipesh Shah is 
dated 1 June 2008 and for Alastair Ferguson is dated 
1 November 2011 and includes a termination notice 
of three months by either party. However, the service 
contracts are for an indefinite term, not a finite term, 
subject to re-election on an as required basis. The 
Board continues to believe this is appropriate given 
the company size, Non-Executive skill set, and 
evaluation of performance and independence on an 
ongoing basis with regards to Non-Executives. The 
Company continues to believe the unspecified term 
is reasonable.

• B.7.1 of the new Code recommends that, in the 
interests of greater accountability, all directors of 

FTSE 350 companies should be subject to annual 
re-election. All other directors should be subject to 
election by shareholders at the first Annual General 
Meeting after their appointment, and to re-election 
thereafter at intervals of no more than three years. 
Non-Executive Directors who have served longer 
than nine years should be subject to annual 
re-election. The Board considers that the annual 
re-election is not appropriate at this time due to the 
number of changes to the Board during the year. The 
Board will consider the relevance of this requirement 
during 2012.

• B.6.2 Evaluation of the Board of FTSE 350 companies 
should be externally facilitated at least every three 
years which has not currently been the case. An 
evaluation of the full Board and Chairman was 
carried out during 2011 by Michael Kayser, the 
Interim Director of Finance, at the end of his tenure, 
and overseen by Nigel Moore. 

In considering that the Company is, other than as 
noted above, in full compliance, the Board notes that 
excluding the Chairman, independent Non-Executive 
Directors comprise 50% of the Board as the Board 
considers that the four other Non-Executive Directors 
are wholly independent. 

The Executive Directors have undertaken a review of 
the independence of each of the Non-Executive 
Directors and Chairman. The review addressed the 
matters highlighted at Section B.1.1 of the Code,  
which could appear to affect a Director’s judgment.  
In undertaking the review, one specific matter 
addressed was that Lord Oxford has served on the 
Board for more than nine years. Following the review, 
the Executive Directors do not consider that this 
matter in any way influences the independent 
judgment of Lord Oxford. Accordingly the Executive 
Directors believe each of the Non-Executive Directors 
and Chairman to be independent in accordance with 
Section B 1.1 of the Code both during the period under 
review and subsequently.

In addition the Board supports the continued 
appointment of Lord Oxford as a Non-Executive 
Director because of his unrivalled knowledge and 
experience of doing business in Ukraine.

It is the Board’s view that the Non-Executive Directors 
have sufficient time to fulfil their commitments to the 
Company and that no Executive Director holds a 
Non-Executive Directorship, or Chairmanship, in a 
FTSE 100 company. None of the Non-Executive 
directors who have served during the year had any 
material business or other relationship with the Group, 
and there were no other matters that were likely to 
affect their independence of character and judgement. 

Corporate governance continued
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Committees of the Board
The Board has established the following standing 
committees. 

Audit Committee

Membership
Nigel Moore (as Chairman), Dipesh Shah and  
Alastair Ferguson

(Michel-Marc Delcommune stepped down from the 
Audit Committee on 31 December 2011) 

The Audit Committee is chaired by Nigel Moore, who 
as a former audit partner with Ernst & Young LLP 
possesses relevant financial experience. Nigel also 
chairs the Audit Committee of four other UK listed 
companies, and maintains a regular pattern of 
attendance at relevant seminars and courses. 

The Audit Committee has Terms of Reference agreed 
by the Board and available to shareholders on request. 
On an on-going basis the Audit Committee:

• reviews the Company’s accounting policies 

• monitors the integrity of the financial statements of 
the Company and any announcements relating to the 
Company’s financial performance, reviewing 
significant financial reporting judgements contained 
in them 

• reviews the Company’s internal financial controls 

• reviews internal control and risk management 
systems and compliance procedures 

• reports to the Board any matters upon which it 
considers actions or improvement are required, with 
associated recommendations as to steps to be taken 
and 

• makes recommendations to the Board, for it to put 
to shareholders for their approval in a general 
meeting, in relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and 
to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor.

In addition to regular topics, during the year the 
committee engaged in additional matters including:

• Bribery Act 2010

• whistleblowing policy and

• the tender process and appointment of the Group’s 
external auditor.

The Committee met four times during the year  
(2010: four).

The meetings may, by invitation, be attended by the 
Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer, Finance 
Director, the group financial controller and 
representatives from the external auditors. Nigel 
maintains contact with those other attendees 
throughout the year. Twice during the year, external 

auditors were given an opportunity to meet with the 
committee members in private to raise any issues.

The Audit Committee maintains an objective and 
professional relationship with the Company’s auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who have been  
auditors to the Group since 2006, and meets in private 
session with them on a periodic basis. Following a 
competitive tender process in June 2011, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were reappointed as the 
Company’s auditors. 

From time to time, the auditor is requested to perform 
non-audit engagements for the Group. In such 
instances the continued objectivity and independence 
of the auditors in their capacity of auditor is an 
objective of the Group. To meet this objective the Audit 
Committee is delegated the role of vetting the 
appointment of the auditor on specific engagements 
including considerations of materiality and, where 
necessary, requiring a competitive tender for such 
work. Full disclosures of the non-audit fees paid to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP during the year is made 
in note 21 to the financial statements.

The Company promotes a culture of openness and 
encourages staff to raise any concerns of possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other 
matters, if necessary in confidence. The Audit 
Committee has reviewed arrangements for such 
concerns to be raised, investigated and if necessary 
followed up.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Code, 
specifically Section C that addresses audit committee 
aspects, and considers that it has complied with all 
the provisions identified apart from the need to have a 
dedicated internal audit function, which has not yet 
been established however its development is now in 
progress; further details are given below in the 
Internal Audit section. 

Remuneration Committee

Membership
Dipesh Shah (as Chairman), Sir Ian Prosser and  
Nigel Moore

(Lord Oxford and Michel-Marc Delcommune  
stepped down from the Remuneration Committee 
during 2011) 

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 
three Non-Executive Directors and is chaired by 
Dipesh Shah. The Chief Executive Officer may attend 
meetings by invitation.

The Remuneration Committee, which has terms of 
reference agreed by the Board and available to 
shareholders on request, meets at least twice a year, 
to assist the Board in determining the remuneration 
arrangements and contracts of the Directors and 
senior employees.
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During 2011 the Remuneration Committee met twice 
with four members attending the first meeting and the 
full five members attending the second.

The Remuneration Committee employs the services of 
Kepler Associates as remuneration consultants on an 
as required basis. Kepler Associates has no other 
connection with the Company.

No Director is involved in deciding his own 
remuneration.

The report of the Directors’ remuneration, which 
involves details of the Directors’ interest in options 
together with information on service contracts, is set 
out on pages 74 to 83.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the Code, 
specifically Section D that addresses the level, make 
up and procedural aspects of remuneration. The 
Remuneration Committee considers that it complies 
with all the provisions and practices identified.

Nomination Committee

Membership
Sir Ian Prosser (as Chairman), Lord Oxford and  
Nigel Moore 

The members of the Nomination Committee are Sir  
Ian Prosser as Chairman, Lord Oxford and Nigel Moore. 
The Committee meets at least once a year and more 
frequently if required and is responsible for reviewing 
and recommending to the Board suitable candidates 
for appointment as Directors of the Company. 

The Nomination Committee met three times during 
2011 with full attendance by all members who were 
eligible to attend the meetings. 

The Committee regularly reviews the structure, size 
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and 
experience) required on the Board. There is a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure, which is based  
on merit and against objective criteria, for the 
appointment of new directors to the Board. Proposals 
for new Board members are submitted to the full 
Board for approval.

In making appointments to the Board, the Nomination 
Committee considers the skills, experience and 
knowledge of the existing Directors and assesses 
which of the potential candidates would most benefit 
the Board with due regard to the benefits of diversity, 
including gender diversity. It considers the potential 
candidate’s knowledge and experience of eastern and 
central European markets, the oil and gas industry in 
that region, capital markets and the regulatory 
environment, and in the case of Non-Executive 
Director appointments, they have sufficient time to 
devote to the role. 

Cynthia Dubin was identified as a potential candidate 
for the role of Finance Director by an external advisory 
firm and subsequently recommended to the Board by 

the Nomination Committee on the basis of her 
significant international experience in financial markets 
gained over 27 years in various senior positions in the 
oil and gas and energy sector including roles with 
international companies in challenging markets.

The whole Board subsequently discussed the 
recommendation before her appointment was 
confirmed. Appointing Cynthia during the year also 
enabled us to make progress towards Lord Davies’ 
targets on gender diversity at Board level.

The Chairman ensures that any new Directors are 
provided with a full induction on joining the Board.  
The letters of appointment of each Non-Executive 
Director are available for inspection at the registered 
office of the Company.

Separate to the Nomination Committee, the Board 
discusses the skill set and experience of the individual 
Board members, the need for additional appointments, 
succession planning and the need for progressive 
refreshing of the Board. 

Attendance at meetings
The number of meetings of the Board and its 
committees during 2011 and individual attendance by 
Director is shown opposite.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for identifying and evaluating 
the major business risks faced by the Company and for 
determining and monitoring the appropriate course of 
action to manage these risks. The Audit Committee 
monitors the integrity of the financial statements and 
announcements, reviews the Company’s internal 
control processes and risk management systems and 
reports its conclusions to the Board.

A system of internal control is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material miss-
statement or loss.

The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of 
internal control and risk management and, for the 
year under review and up to the date of approval of the 
2011 Annual Report, has reviewed its effectiveness. 

It has concluded that the Company’s procedures, 
policies and systems are appropriate and suitable to 
enable the Board to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment and the Company’s assets, and comply 
with Turnbull Guidance.

The Audit Committee annually reviews, and has 
reviewed for 2011, the need for a dedicated internal 
audit function. In the past, it has recommended to the 
Board that, due to the scale and geographic 
distribution of the Company’s licences and operating 
interests, the Board continues to be best served by 
using external specialist assistance on dedicated 

Corporate governance continued



JKX Oil & Gas plc  Annual Report 2011 71

A
t a glance 

01–17
B

oard statem
ents 

18–23
O

perational review
 

24–36
F

inancial review
 

37–47
C

SR
 review

 
48–61

D
irectors’ reports 

62–83
F

inancial statem
ents 

84–136

business and financial risk areas to supplement the 
Company’s own risk analysis. Following the growth in 
the size of the Group’s operations during 2011 the 
Audit Committee has recommended that a group 
internal audit function is implemented during 2012 and 
this process is already underway.

The key procedures, which the Directors have 
established with a view to providing effective internal 
control, are described below. In addition, the 
Company’s independent auditors present reports to 
the Audit Committee, which include any significant 
internal control matters that they have identified as 
part of their normal audit work.

Business risk
A process is in place to enable the Board to identify the 
major business, operational, financial and compliance 
risks faced by the Company and to determine the 
appropriate course of action to manage and monitor 
these risks. This process is regularly reviewed by the 
Audit Committee and reported to the Board as 
appropriate.

The Company identifies and distinguishes ‘High Profile 
Events’, i.e. those risks that could have material effect 
on the Company’s financial position or reputation, 
from other business risks that it assesses and 
considers to be acceptable for the Company to bear 
taking into account the industry and the markets in 
which it operates.

The Audit Committee reviews annually the Company’s 
subsidiaries and investments from a business, 

operational and financial risk perspective to ensure 
that the system of internal control and accountability is 
embedded in the operations of the Group. Members of 
the Audit Committee visit subsidiaries and operations 
on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee considers that managers are 
conscious of the need to identify and assess risks in 
their operations and the effect of changes in the 
business environment, to respond quickly and 
appropriately and to report immediately any significant 
control failings and weaknesses that are identified, 
together with details of corrective action.

Management structure
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group and 
there is a formal schedule of matters specifically 
reserved for decision by the Board. Each Executive has 
been given responsibility and is accountable for 
specific aspects of the Group’s affairs. 

Financial reporting
In light of the recent challenging economic times our 
continued focus on good corporate governance helps 
us to identify and resolve any issues before they 
become major problems.

The Company maintains an effective and reliable 
accounting and management information system.  
The Board receives a monthly report that monitors: 
actual performance against budget and forecast for oil 
and gas production; sales and costs; and provides the 
Board with information on issues including debtors, 

 Board  Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number of meetings 9 4 2 3

Attendance

Sir Ian Prosser 8/8 – 1/1 2/2

Lord Fraser 0/1 – – 3/3

Lord Oxford 8/9 – 2/2 2/2

Nigel Moore 9/9 4/4 2/2 –

Michel-Marc Delcommune 7/9 2/4 1/2 –

Dipesh Shah OBE 8/9 4/4 2/2 –

Dr Paul Davies 9/9 – – –

Bruce Burrows 6/6 – – –

Martin Miller 9/9 – – –

Peter Dixon 9/9 – – –

Cynthia Dubin 1/1 – – –

Alastair Ferguson 1/1 1/1 – –
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the cash position, cash flow forecasting and the 
financial implications of key sensitivities including 
changes in commodity prices, production and 
exchange rates.

Budgetary process
Each year the Board approves the Group’s annual 
budget with key risk areas identified. The preparation 
of the annual Group budget is a multi-stage 
comprehensive process led by the Finance Director 
assisted by the group financial controller who works 
closely with local finance directors for operating 
subsidiaries in Russia and Ukraine and other senior 
management with specific responsibilities for our 
Hungarian, Slovakian and other operations.

Performance is monitored through the monthly 
reporting to the Board of variances from the budget. 
Relevant action is taken by the Board throughout the 
year based on updated forecasts which are prepared 
using current information on the key risk areas and 
sensitivities.

Corporate accounting and procedures manual
Responsibility levels are communicated throughout 
the Group as part of the corporate accounting and 
procedures manual. This sets out, inter alia, the 
general ethos of the Group, delegation of authority and 
authorisation levels, segregation of duties and control 
procedures together with accounting policies and 
procedures. The manual, which includes policies 
common to all Group companies along with company 
specific procedures and controls is reviewed regularly 
and updated as required.

The application of internal financial control and 
operational procedures in our overseas operations are 
reviewed regularly and updated as necessary during 
frequent visits to the overseas offices by Head Office 
staff.

Quality and integrity of personnel
The integrity and competence of personnel is ensured 
through high recruitment standards and subsequent 
training courses. High quality personnel are seen as 
an essential part of the Group’s control environment. 
The ethical standards expected of staff are 
communicated through the corporate accounting and 
procedures manual.

Investment appraisal
For each capital intensive project there is a rigorous 
project analysis and risk and return appraisal 
completed using technical, financial, commercial, and 
operational specialists across the Group. 

During 2011 we recruited a sub-surface technical 
team into our London Head Office to monitor, assess, 
appraise and oversee all on-going Group projects and 
potential opportunities. This has improved our ability 
to identify the potential risks, rewards and value in new 
capital intensive opportunities and to efficiently utilise 

the available resources to maximise returns from our 
existing portfolio of oil and gas assets. 

Capital investment is regulated by the budgetary 
process and pre-defined authorisation levels. 

For expenditure beyond specified levels, detailed 
written proposals are required to be submitted to the 
Board. Capital expenditures are reviewed with major 
overruns in terms of cost and time being investigated. 

The authority of the Directors is required for key 
treasury matters including changes to equity and loan 
financing, interest rate and foreign currency policy 
including foreign currency hedging, oil price hedging, 
cheque signatories and opening of bank accounts.

The internal financial control situation is reported to 
the Audit Committee, which has reviewed the 
effectiveness of the system of internal financial 
controls as it operated during the year and reported its 
conclusions to the Board.

Communication with shareholders
The Board places considerable importance on 
communication with shareholders and is proactive in 
obtaining an understanding of shareholder 
preferences. A number of formal communication 
channels are used to account to shareholders for the 
performance of the Group, which include the Annual 
Report and Accounts, AGMs and periodic reports to 
the London Stock Exchange. Presentations given by 
Executive Directors at appropriate intervals to 
representatives of the investor community and major 
shareholders and are available to all shareholders to 
download from the Group’s website (www.jkx.co.uk). 

Extensive information about the Group’s activities is 
provided in the Annual Report and Accounts and the 
Half-yearly Report which are sent to shareholders. 
Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their 
shareholding and the business of the Group are 
welcomed and are dealt with in an informative and 
timely manner. Shareholders are encouraged to attend 
the Annual General Meeting to discuss the progress of 
the Group.

Conflicts of interest
The Company complies with the provisions on conflicts 
of interest in the Companies Act 2006. The Company 
has in place procedures for the disclosure and review 
of any conflicts, or potential conflicts, of interest which 
the Directors may have and for the authorisation of 
such conflicting matters by the Board. In deciding 
whether to authorise a conflict or potential conflict the 
Directors must have regard to their general duties 
under the Companies Act 2006. The procedure 
operates to ensure the disclosure of conflicts, and for 
the consideration and if appropriate, the authorisation 
of them by non-conflicted Directors. 

The authorisation of a conflict matter, and the terms of 
authorisation, may be reviewed at any time by the 
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Board. The Nomination Committee supports the Board 
in this process, both by reviewing requests from 
Directors for authorisations of situations of actual or 
potential conflict and making recommendations to the 
Board and by reviewing any situations of actual or 
potential conflict that have been previously authorised 
by the Board, and making recommendations regarding 
whether the authorisation remains appropriate.

Board diversity
Following the appointment of Cynthia Dubin during the 
year 11% of the Board members are women.

The Board supports the longer term aspirations of 
Lord Davies’s report regarding gender diversity on 
appointment of directors to boards. Gender is only one 
aspect of diversity, and there are many other attributes 
and experience that can improve the board’s ability to 
act effectively. We will continue to search for the 
highest quality people with the most appropriate 
experience for the requirements of the business, be 
they men or women. 

Going concern
The Board closely monitors and manages its liquidity 
risk. Cash flow forecasts are regularly produced and 
sensitivities run for different scenarios including, but 
not limited to, changes in commodity prices, different 
production and tax rates in relation to the Group’s 
producing assets and delays to development projects.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s forecast cash 
flows for the next twelve months and through to the 
end of 2013. 

Having considered the sensitivities and potential 
outcomes relating to the Ukrainian and Russian 
business environments, the future expectations 
regarding country and currency risks, the Group’s 
ability to change the timing and scale of its 
discretionary capital expenditure if required and the 
Group’s ability to draw up to net $10m on the credit 
facility in Ukraine which is currently available until  
30 June 2012, the Directors consider that the Company 
and Group have adequate resources to continue for 
the foreseeable future. The going concern basis for 
the accounts has therefore continued to be adopted.

On behalf of the Board
Sir Ian Prosser
Chairman
27 March 2012
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This report has been prepared in accordance with the 
relevant requirements of Schedules 420-422 to the 
Companies Act 2006, the Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008, the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the ‘Code’) and the Listing Rules of 
the Financial Services Authority. As required by the 
regulations the report will be approved by the Board of 
the Company and signed by a Director or Company 
Secretary on behalf of the Board. 

Unaudited information

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) 
operates under the delegated authority of the Board. 
The Committee’s primary role is to review, agree and 
approve, or as required under the Code to make 
recommendations to the Board, on:

• the Company’s remuneration policy for Executive 
Directors and senior management

• service contracts of the Executive Directors

• remuneration of the Executive Directors

• remuneration of senior management identified by 
the Committee and

• participation in, and operation of, the Company’s 
long-term incentive plans.

The full terms of reference are available from the 
Company Secretary.

None of the Committee has any personal financial 
interest (other than as a shareholder as detailed on 
page 66, which given the level of holdings the Board 
accepts as not impairing independence), conflicts of 
interests arising from cross-directorships or day-to-
day involvement in running JKX. 

No Director plays a part in any discussion regarding 
his own remuneration. Committee meetings are 
attended by the Chief Executive by invitation but he is 
not able to vote and is not present when his own 
remuneration arrangements are discussed.

The Committee retains Kepler Associates (‘Kepler’)  
as its independent executive remuneration advisers. 
Kepler provides no other services to the Group. During 
the year, Mercer Limited provided information on 
remuneration levels at comparator oil and gas 
companies. Mercer provides no other services to the 
Group.

The Committee met formally on two (2010: two) 
occasions during 2011 and the meeting attendance 
record is set out in the Corporate Governance report 
on page 71.

Committee activities during 2011
The Committee’s activities during 2011 were as 
follows:

• review and approval of payments to be made under 
the 2010 Annual Bonus Scheme

• approval of executive salary levels for 2011

• confirmation of lapse of share option awards  
made in 2008 due to failure to achieve vesting 
criteria in 2011

• review and approval of performance targets for the 
2011 Annual Bonus Scheme 

• review and approval of the allocation of, and 
performance conditions applicable to, performance 
shares and share option awards made in 2011.

The topic of senior executive remuneration has 
generated considerable interest with a number of 
consultations by various bodies in 2011. The 
Committee has followed these consultations closely 
with a view of ensuring it remains abreast of any 
movements in best practice for remuneration.

Remuneration policy
The Company’s overall approach to pay and benefits is 
to reward employees competitively, taking into account 
Company and individual performance, market value 
and competitive pressures in the independent oil and 
gas sector. The Company does not seek to maintain 
any strict market position but aims to ensure that total 

Remuneration report

* Michel-Marc Delcommune and Lord Oxford resigned from the Remuneration Committee during 2011.

Table 1: Independent Non-Executive Directors who served on the Remuneration Committee during 2011

Member From To

Dipesh Shah OBE (Chairman) 1 June 2008 to date

Lord Oxford* 10 November 1997 31 December 2011

Nigel Moore 26 June 2007 to date

Michel-Marc Delcommune* 1 March 2010 31 December 2011

Sir Ian Prosser 1 March 2011 to date



JKX Oil & Gas plc  Annual Report 2011 75

A
t a glance 

01–17
B

oard statem
ents 

18–23
O

perational review
 

24–36
F

inancial review
 

37–47
C

SR
 review

 
48–61

D
irectors’ reports 

62–83
F

inancial statem
ents 

84–136

Table 3: Summary of the main elements of the remuneration package for 2011 and for 2012

Figure 2: Illustration of CEO and FD pay mix

Element Objective Policy Award level

Salary To reflect individual 
performance and market 
factors

Reviewed annually on 
1 January

Considered with reference to UK 
sector comparators and the Group 
as a whole

Annual bonus To incentivise the 
achievement of short-term 
financial and strategic 
objectives

Paid in cash Bonuses range from 0% up to: 100% 
of salary for CEO, 85% of salary for 
FD, 75% of salary for Commercial & 
Technical Directors. Up to a 
maximum of between 30% and 60% 
of salary for senior managers

Share Option 
Scheme

To incentivise superior 
long-term financial and 
share price performance

Option grants made 
annually to Executive 
Directors and senior 
managers, conditional on 
Group performance over  
3 years

100% of salary for CEO and FD,  
80% of salary for Commercial and 
Technical Directors. Between 30% 
and 70% of salary for senior 
managers

Performance 
Share Plan

To incentivise superior  
Total Shareholder Return 
(TSR) performance relative 
to peers 

Awards of nil-cost options 
made annually to Executive 
Directors, conditional on 
Group performance over  
3 years

100% of salary for CEO and FD,  
80% of salary for Commercial and 
Technical Directors

Pension Provides competitive 
retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan Employer contributions of 15% of 
salary

Share retention 
policy

To support alignment with 
shareholder interests, 
Executive Directors will be 
required to build and hold a 
significant shareholding 

Expressed as a % of salary. 
Applicable to Executive 
Directors only

100% of salary

remuneration is set at an appropriate level relative to 
peer group comparator companies.

The comparator companies are UK-based oil and gas 
companies which are primarily quoted on the London 
Stock Exchange or AIM. 

The Board believes that the performance-related 
elements of remuneration should form a significant 
proportion of the total remuneration package of 
Executive Directors. These are designed to align the 
interests of Executive Directors with those of 
shareholders and structured to provide significant 
incentives to perform at the highest level. The 

remuneration packages are prudently designed to 
attract, motivate and retain Directors of the calibre 
needed to maintain the Group’s position in the market 
and to reward them for enhancing value to 
shareholders. 

The balance of remuneration for Executive Directors is 
such that the majority of overall remuneration is 
subject to achieving performance conditions over both 
the short and long term. The pay mix for the Chief 
Executive (‘CEO’), the Finance Director (‘FD’) and 
Commercial and Technical Directors is shown in the 
charts below, with incentive awards valued on a fair 

CEO

FD

Other EDs

‘On-target’

CEO

FD

Other EDs

‘Stretch’

Salary

Pension

Annual bonus

Performance  
Share Plan

Share Option  
Scheme
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value basis (‘on-target’) and full vesting basis 
(‘stretch’). Under the scenario shown of ‘on-target’ 
performance, around 45% of the package is 
performance-related for the CEO and FD, rising to 
around 65% at ‘stretch’ levels of performance.

Internal relativity
The Committee is sensitive to the need to set 
Directors’ remuneration having regard to pay and 
conditions in the Group as a whole and is satisfied that 
the approach taken by the Company is fair and 
reasonable in light of current market practice and the 
best interests of shareholders. The Committee 
ensures that the incentive structure for Executive 
Directors does not raise environmental, social, 
governance or other operational risks by inadvertently 
motivating irresponsible behaviour.

Basic salary
An Executive Director’s basic salary is determined by 
the Committee at the beginning of each year. In 
addition to basic salary, the Executive Directors receive 
certain benefits-in-kind, principally health cover. The 
individual salaries and benefits of Executive Directors 
are reviewed and adjusted taking into account 
individual performance and market factors, with 
reference to independent and objective research that 
provides up-to-date information on a comparator 
group of UK companies operating in the independent 
oil and gas sector. 

During its annual review of Executive Directors’ pay for 
the year commencing 1 January 2012, the Committee 
decided to award basic salary increases of 2.8% for the 
Chief Executive and 2.9% for the Technical and 
Commercial Directors. The Finance Director received 
no increase since she is a recent appointee. The 
average salary increase for employees was 3.5%.  
2012 salaries for Executive Directors are listed in  
Table 4 below. 

Annual Bonus Scheme 
The Annual Bonus Scheme, which is based on the 
achievement of relevant and stretching performance 
conditions determined by the Committee, was 

introduced in 2001 for Executive Directors and certain 
senior management including senior staff in Poltava 
Petroleum Company (PPC) and Yuzhgazenergie (YGE). 
The application of the scheme in any given year is 
discretionary and annual awards are not pensionable.

For the year ending 31 December 2011, maximum 
bonus opportunities were 100% of salary for the Chief 
Executive, 85% for the Finance Director, and 75% for 
the Technical and Commercial Directors. Other senior 
managers could earn an annual bonus payment of up 
to a maximum of between 30% and 60% of their basic 
salary. 

The Committee establishes the performance 
conditions that must be met for each financial year. 
They are derived from the Company’s Annual Budget 
and Strategic Plan approved by the Board and, for the 
year ending 31 December 2011, were divided into four 
segments as shown in Table 5 (shown right). 

To earn the maximum level of bonus requires the 
maximum to be met or exceeded for each performance 
measure and all of the strategic objectives to be met. 
Bonus outcomes are determined on a formulaic basis.

For 2011, the weighting applied to each performance 
condition was identical for each Executive Director and 
for senior management. In 2011, the performance 
conditions established and the actual achievements 
for the financial and share price segments were as 
shown in Table 6 (shown right).

At the request of the Remuneration Committee, the 
Executive Directors agreed to defer half of the Bonus 
earned into JKX shares. These shares are deferred 
until 31 March 2013 and are subject to claw back in the 
event that certain performance conditions relating to 
the Koshekhablskoye gas field are not satisfied.

The 2011 results above and individual achievement 
against strategic objectives resulted in cash bonus 
payments of between 20.4% and 32.5% of Basic Salary 
for Executive Directors. Other senior management 
received bonus payments of between 7.1% and 31.0% 
of Basic Salary.

Remuneration report continued

Table 4: Executive Director basic salaries for 2011 and 2012

Name Role Salary at 1 January 2012 (£’000 p.a.) Salary at 1 January 2011 (£’000 p.a.)

Dr Paul Davies Chief Executive 398 387

Bruce Burrows1 Finance Director n/a 266

Cynthia Dubin2 Finance Director 280 n/a

Peter Dixon Commercial Director 212 206

Martin Miller Technical Director 212 206

1. Bruce Burrows retired from the company on 30 September 2011

2. Cynthia Dubin was appointed Finance Director on 14 November 2011
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Table 6: Actual achievement of 2011 Annual Bonus Scheme performance conditions

Table 5: Summary of Annual Bonus Scheme (2011)

Element Weighting Performance measures for 2011 Performance targets

Financial objectives 40% Pre-Tax Profit

Return on Average Capital Employed

Targets established against each 
measure with a sliding scale between 
threshold and maximum

Strategic objectives 30% Includes increases in production, 
booking of new reserves from existing 
and new licences, and acquisition of 
new exploration licences

Based on quantifiable figures to limit 
subjectivity as far as possible

Relative TSR 20% Average TSR and spot TSR at start and 
end of the year measured relative to 
both the FTSE 250 Index and the FTSE 
All-Share Oil & Gas Producers index

No payment below a threshold of 
performance in line with index TSR

Maximum bonus under this element is 
earned if the TSR outperformance is 
10% above index. Bonus earned 
increases on a straight-line basis 
between threshold and maximum

HSE 10% Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIF), 
and All Injury Frequency Rate (AIFR)

LTIF=0.5; AIFR=1.5

  % of bonus earned  (% opportunity)  
 Achievement for this element for this element

Financial 

Pre-Tax Profit Exceeded target  

ROCE Exceeded target

   40% 40%

Strategic objectives 

Production Below threshold  

Reserves and resources Exceeded both targets 

   15% 30%

Relative TSR 

vs. FTSE 250 Index  Below threshold 

vs, FTSE All-Share Oil & Gas Producers Index Below threshold 

   0% 20%

HSE 

LTIFR Exceeded targets   

AIFR Exceeded targets  

   10%  10%

   65% 100% 
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Figure 7: Vesting schedule for the DSOSAnnual Bonus Scheme for 2012 
For 2012 the Annual Bonus Scheme will operate on a 
similar basis to 2011. The Committee has set 
stretching financial, strategic and HSE objectives and 
relative TSR targets. The relative weightings of each 
element of the annual bonus are fixed for each of the 
Executive Directors, in the interests of simplicity and to 
encourage executive management to operate as a 
team. The relative weightings for 2012, as in 2011, will 
be as follows:

• Financial objectives: 40%

• Strategic objectives: 30%

• 1-year relative TSR: 20%

• HSE: 10%

These are seen as the key drivers and indicators of 
both short-term and long-term performance and value 
creation. Relative TSR is included in the Annual Bonus 
Scheme as the Committee believes this measure 
effectively isolates management performance from 
short-term fluctuations in the oil price, and from other 
market influences.

Long-term incentive arrangements
The Company currently operates two long-term 
incentive plans, the 2010 Discretionary Share Option 
Scheme and the 2010 Performance Share Plan, both of 
which were approved by shareholders at the 2010 
Annual General Meeting. The Committee feels that a 
balance of nil cost and market value options provides 
the most appropriate mix of pay for the most senior 
executives. The maximum market value of shares that 
may be granted in any financial year under the DSOS 
and under the JKX Oil & Gas 2010 Performance Share 
Plan shall not exceed three times basic salary for any 
Executive.

JKX Oil & Gas plc 2010 Discretionary Share Option 
Scheme (‘DSOS’)
The normal maximum grant of Options in any  
financial year under the DSOS is 100% of basic salary. 
In exceptional circumstances the Committee has the 
discretion to grant options with a face value of up to 
200% of basic salary. To date, awards have not 
exceeded 100% of salary. Maximum award 
opportunities in 2012 under the DSOS will be 100% of 
base salary for the CEO and FD and 80% of base  
salary for the Technical and Commercial Directors. 

Options vest at the end of a 3-year performance period, 
subject to achievement of 3-year Earnings per Share 
(‘EPS’) growth targets. The Committee considers EPS 
to be an appropriate measure, since it is the primary 
internal benchmark of long-term financial performance 
and promotes alignment between management and the 
Company’s shareholders. 

The performance targets for the 2010, 2011 and 2012 
cycles require 3-year nominal EPS growth of 22.5% 
p.a. for maximum vesting with threshold vesting (25% 

of an award) at 7.5% p.a. (and on a straight-line basis 
in between these points). The performance targets are 
reviewed on an annual basis at the start of each 3-year 
performance cycle to ensure their continued 
appropriateness.

JKX Oil & Gas plc 2010 Performance Share Plan 
(‘PSP’)
The normal maximum award of Nil-cost Options in any 
financial year under the PSP is 100% of a participant’s 
basic salary. In exceptional circumstances the 
Committee has the discretion to make awards of up to 
200% of a participant’s basic salary. To date, awards 
have not exceeded 100% of salary. Maximum award 
opportunities in 2012 will be 100% of salary for the 
CEO and FD and 80% of salary for the Technical and 
Commercial Directors.

PSP awards vest based on 3-year TSR performance 
relative to the FTSE 250 and FTSE All-Share Oil & Gas 

Remuneration report continued
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Figure 8: Vesting schedule for the PSP
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Producers indices (with half of the award being 
assessed against each index). Each part of the award 
will be based on performance relative to the relevant 
index, with 25% vesting for performance in line with 
the index. Vesting would increase on a straight-line 
basis between 25% and 100% for index out-
performance of up to 10% p.a. Historically this has 
been broadly equivalent to upper quartile 
performance. In addition, the Committee must be 
satisfied that the recorded TSR is a genuine reflection 
of the underlying performance of the Company over 
the performance period.

The Committee considers the use of TSR to be 
appropriate since it is dependent on the Company’s 
relative long-term share price performance and 
therefore provides strong alignment with the interests 
of the Company’s shareholders. TSR performance is 
measured using percentage out-performance rather 
than a ranking approach since it is less sensitive to the 
TSR of individual comparators, and uses a 12-month 
averaging period due to the volatility of the Company’s 
share price and the long-term nature of the 
Company’s investments. Whilst noting market practice 
is typically to use a shorter averaging period, the 
Committee feel that 12-month averaging would give a 
fairer result for both management and shareholders. 
There is no re-testing of performance targets.

Legacy Share Option Schemes
At the time of implementation in 2001, the HM 
Revenue & Customs (‘HMRC’) Approved JKX Oil & Gas 
plc Discretionary Share Option Scheme 2001 
(‘Approved Scheme’) and the Unapproved JKX Oil & 
Gas Discretionary Share Option Scheme 2001 
(‘Unapproved Scheme’) (together, the ‘Share Option 
Schemes’) reflected the best practice aspects 
recommended by the ABI Guidelines at that time. 
Following the introduction of new plans in 2010, no 
further awards will be made under the 2001 Share 
Option Schemes.

The Committee has discretion as to the application of 
the Rules of the Share Option Schemes, and in the 
event of a change of control, the Committee retains 
discretion to determine the treatment of unvested 
options.

Options vest based on 3-year share price performance 
both in absolute terms and relative to external 
benchmarks. The Committee considers that 
comparison against the FTSE Index in which the 
Company is a constituent at the time of the grant and 
against the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index is the 
most appropriate external benchmark. 

For options granted between 2006 and 2009, the 
number of options that vest and therefore can be 
subsequently exercised is determined by two factors: 
(1) the actual increase in the Company’s share price; 
and (2) a comparison of the actual increase in the 
Company’s share price to the higher of the change in 
the FTSE 250 and the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index. 
The performance conditions are summarised in  
Table 9 above.

The Company’s share price and FTSE Index factors are 
multiplied together and the resultant figure is applied 
to the number of options granted to an individual to 
determine the number of options that vest.

The structure was designed to introduce a sliding 
scale as distinct from a specific individual benchmark. 
It requires the Company’s share price to double and for 
this increase to be in the top quartile of the growth in 
the higher of the FTSE 250 and FTSE Oil & Gas 
Producers Index for all of the options to vest. 

To encourage the retention of key staff, the Committee 
has determined that an option holder will be able to 
exercise up to 50% of vested options immediately 
following vesting and the remaining vested options 
only after a period of 12 months from vesting, unless 
otherwise determined by the Committee. 

Table 9: Summary of Legacy Share Option Scheme performance conditions (grants made 2006 to 2009)

Absolute share price performance Share price factor

At exercise price or below 0 

Between exercise price and 150% of exercise price Up to 0.5 

In excess of 150% and up to 200% of exercise price 0.66 

In excess of 200% of exercise price 1

Relative share price performance FTSE 250/Oil & Gas Producers Index factor

In the lower quartile of the % growth in the FTSE Index 0.25 

In the second quartile of the % growth in the FTSE Index 0.5 

In the third quartile of the % growth in the FTSE Index 0.75 

In the top quartile of the % growth in the FTSE Index 1
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Since the JKX share price on 27 March 2012 was below 
the exercise price for the options granted in 2009, none 
of these options vested. The options granted in 2009 
have, therefore, lapsed.

Dilution
In any ten year period, the number of shares which 
may be placed under option, or issued under any 
discretionary employees’ share scheme adopted by the 
Company, may not exceed five per cent; and under any 
other employees’ share scheme adopted by the 
Company, may not exceed ten per cent of the 
Company’s ordinary share capital in issue immediately 
prior to that date.

As at 31 December 2011, the maximum available 
shares under the Company’s 5% and 10% limits was 
6.4 million and 14.1 million shares respectively, out of 
an issued share capital of 172.1 million shares.

 

Share ownership guideline
In 2010, the Committee introduced executive share 
ownership guidelines of 1 times salary for Executive 
Directors. Details of the directors’ personal 
shareholdings are shown on page 66.

Historical TSR performance
Figure 10 below shows the Total Shareholder Return 
for a holding in the Company’s shares for the period 
from 31 December 2006 to 31 December 2011 relative 
to a holding of shares representing each of the FTSE 
250 and FTSE All-Share Oil & Gas Producers indices. 
The calculation of the return assumes dividends are 
reinvested to purchase additional equity. An 
investment of £100 in the Company on 31 December 
2006 was worth £49.38 at 31 December 2011 (same 
investment on 31 December 2005 was worth £135.63 
at 31 December 2010).

Pension arrangements
The Company makes a contribution equivalent to 15% 
of basic salary to the pension scheme of the Director’s 
choice. All Executive Directors participated in the 
Company’s defined contribution scheme.

Directors’ contracts
It is the Group’s policy that service contracts for the 
Executive Directors be unlimited in term and capable 
in normal circumstances of termination on 12 months 
notice. In the event of early termination, the Directors’ 
contracts provide for compensation up to a maximum 
level of basic salary for the notice period. The 
Directors’ contracts of service that include details of 
remuneration will be available for inspection at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Remuneration report continued

Dilution limits
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Table 11: Summary of Executive Directors’ service contracts

External board appointments
The Committee considers that external directorships 
provide the Company’s senior executives with valuable 
experience that is of benefit to the Company, and 
believes that it is reasonable for the individual 
Executive Director to retain any fees received from 
external appointments given the additional personal 
responsibility that this entails. 

Executive Directors are entitled to accept 
appointments outside the Company providing that the 
Chairman’s permission is sought and granted.

Non-Executive Directors
All Non-Executive Directors have specific terms of 
engagement and their remuneration is determined by 
the Board within the limits set by the Articles of 
Association and based on independent surveys of fees 
paid to Non-Executive Directors of similar companies. 
The setting of the Chairman’s remuneration is the 
responsibility of the Board and not the Committee, as 
recommended by Section D.2.3 of the Code. 

Non-Executive Directors service contracts are for an 
indefinite term, not a finite term as recommended by 
Section B.2.3 of the Code, subject to re-election on an 
as required basis. The Board continues to believe 
these terms are appropriate given the Company size, 
the Non-Executive skill set, and the continuing 
evaluation of performance and independence. In the 

event of early termination, the Non-Executive 
Directors’ contracts provide for compensation of three 
months base fee.

The Non-Executive Directors’ contracts specify the 
powers and duties of the Non-Executive Directors, the 
time commitments anticipated and remuneration 
arrangements. The Non-Executive Directors are paid a 
base fee £45,000 p.a. for carrying out their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors, and fees for membership 
and, where applicable, chairmanship of each of the 
remuneration and audit committees. The base fee was 
last reviewed in 2011 and is based on a per annum rate 
(in Sterling) that is compared to published material 
concerning Non-Executive Director fees in similar size 
companies and comparable companies in the sector.

In 2011, the total fees paid to each Non-Executive 
Director in the year are shown on the following page. 
The fees include compensation for performing the 
additional roles in respect of the Audit and 
Remuneration Committees. 

Non-Executive Directors cannot participate in any of 
the Company’s share schemes and are not eligible to 
join the Company’s pension scheme.

 

Name Date Unexpired term Notice period

Dr Paul Davies 1 January 2007 Rolling contract 12 months from Company or Director

Bruce Burrows* 1 January 2007 Rolling contract 12 months from Company or Director 
(retired 30 Sep 2011)

Martin Miller 1 July 2007 Rolling contract 12 months from Company or Director

Peter Dixon 1 July 2007 Rolling contract 12 months from Company or Director

Cynthia Dubin 14 November 2011 Rolling contract 12 months from Company or Director

* Notice period in contract was shortened by mutual agreement.

 
Table 12: Summary of Non-Executive Directors’ service contracts

Name Date Notice period

Lord Fraser  (retired 28 Feb 2011) 1 January 2002 3 months from Company or Director

Lord Oxford 1 January 2002 3 months from Company or Director

Nigel Moore 12 July 2007 3 months from Company or Director

Dipesh Shah OBE 1 June 2008 3 months from Company or Director

Michel-Marc Delcommune  (retired 31 Dec 2011) 1 June 2008 3 months from Company or Director

Sir Ian Prosser  1 March 2011 3 months from Company or Director

Alastair Ferguson 1 November 2011 3 months from Company or Director
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Directors’ share options (see table opposite)
The market price of a JKX share at 31 December 2011 
was 136.0p (2010: 314.8p). The range during the year 
was 128.0p to 335.1p. This report was approved by the 
Board of Directors on 27 March 2012 and signed on its 
behalf by 

Dipesh J Shah OBE; FRSA
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
27 March 2012

Remuneration report continued

Audited information

Aggregate directors’ remuneration
The total amounts for directors’ remuneration were as follows:

      2011 2010 2011 2010 
      £000 £000 $000 $000

Emoluments      1,829 1,676 2,928 2,611 

Gains on exercise of share options      70 508 112 799 

Pension contributions      158 155 254 239

      2,057 2,339 3,294 3,649 

The remuneration of the directors of JKX Oil & Gas plc:

 Salary  Annual Total Total Total Total Pension Pension 
 and fees Benefits bonus 2011 2010 2011* 2010* 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 £000 £000 $000 $000

Executive Directors 

Dr Paul Davies 623 9 195 827 826 519 529 93 87

Bruce Burrows1 437 4 85 526 542 328 348 54 60

Martin Miller  331 3 78 412 407 258 261 50 46

Peter Dixon 331 5 78 414 409 259 263 50 46

Cynthia Dubin2 49 1 – 50 – 32 – 7 –

Non-Executive Directors 

Lord Fraser3 64 – – 64 124 40 80 – –

Sir Ian Prosser4 201 – – 201 – 125 – – –

Lord Oxford 107 – – 107 93 65 60 – –

Dipesh Shah OBE  113 – – 113 70 70 45 – – 

Michel-Marc Delcommune5 95 – – 95 62 59 40 – – 

Nigel Moore 97 – – 97 78 60 50 – – 

Alastair Ferguson6 22 – – 22 – 14 – – – 

 2,470 22 436 2,928 2,611 1,829 1,676 254 239 

Annual bonus payments are in respect of the 2011 Annual Bonus Awards and were paid in February 2012.

Benefits include health cover.

*  These totals are shown in Sterling for information purposes only. Sterling is the currency in which remuneration payments are 
made to the Directors. The average exchange rate used was £1/$1.6096 (2010: £1/$1.5595). 

1. Retired 30 September 2011   2. Appointed 14 November 2011
3. Retired 28 February 2011  4. Appointed 1 March 2011
5. Retired 31 December 2011  6. Appointed 1 November 2011
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Directors’ share options

   Options Options Options Options    Market price  
  Number of granted exercised surrendered lapsed Number of  Date from of shares  
  options at during during during during  options at Exercise which at exercise Date of Expiry 
Date of grant 1 Jan 2011 period period period period 31 Dec 2011 price exercisable date exercise date*

Bruce Burrows 

(b) 17 Mar 05     106,500 –        50,000                    –    –           56,500  £1.5150 17.03.08 £2.9170 21.01.11 31.03.12 

(c) 19 Mar 08        57,500  –                 – 57,500  –                    –    £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a n/a 

(d) 27 Mar 09     132,500 –                 –  –  –    132,500  £2.3075 27.03.12 n/a n/a 30.04.12 

(e) 29 Jun 10     107,000 –                 – 44,583       62,417 –    £2.4100 30.09.11 n/a n/a n/a 

(e) 29 Jun 10     107,000 –                 – 44,583       62,417 –    – 30.09.11 n/a n/a n/a 

(f) 31 Mar 11                – 74,877               – 56,158 – 18,719  £3.1500 30.09.11 n/a n/a 31.03.12 

(f) 31 Mar 11                –  9,523               –  7,142 – 2,381  £3.1500 30.09.11 n/a n/a 31.03.12 

(f) 31 Mar 11                –  84,400               – 63,300 21,100 –    £0.0000 30.09.11 n/a n/a n/a

        510,500 168,800 50,000 273,266 145,934 210,100        

Dr Paul Davies 

(b) 17 Mar 05      90,000 – – – – 90,000 £1.5150 17.03.08 n/a n/a 17.03.15 

(c) 19 Mar 08       85,000 –                 – 85,000 –  –    £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18 

(d) 27 Mar 09     194,500 –                 – –  – 194,500  £2.3075 27.03.12 n/a n/a 27.03.19 

(e) 29 Jun 10      155,500 –                 – – – 155,500  £2.4100 29.06.13 n/a n/a 29.06.20 

(e) 29 Jun 10      155,500 –                 – –  – 155,500  £0.0000 29.06.13 n/a n/a 29.06.20 

(f) 31 Mar 11                –  122,900               – – –  122,900  £3.1500 31.03.14 n/a n/a 31.03.21 

(f) 31 Mar 11                –  122,900               – –  – 122,900  £0.0000 31.03.14 n/a n/a 31.03.21

      680,500 245,800 – 85,000 – 841,300        

Peter Dixon 

(b) 17 Mar 05        16,750 – –  – – 16,750  £1.5150 17.03.08 n/a n/a 17.03.15 

(c) 19 Mar 08       35,000 –                 – 35,000 – –    £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18 

(d) 27 Mar 09      82,000 –                 –  –  – 82,000  £2.3075 27.03.12 n/a n/a 27.03.19 

(e) 29 Jun 10       66,500 –                 – – – 66,500  £2.4100 29.06.13 n/a n/a 29.06.20 

(e) 29 Jun 10       66,500 –                 – – – 66,500  £0.0000 29.06.13 n/a n/a 29.06.20 

(f) 31 Mar 11                – 52,300               – – – 52,300  £3.1500 31.03.14 n/a n/a 31.03.21 

(f) 31 Mar 11                – 52,300               – –  –  52,300  £0.0000 31.03.14 n/a n/a 31.03.21

       266,750 104,600 – 35,000 –  336,350        

Martin Miller 

(a) 18 Mar 04       82,500 – – – – 82,500  £0.6800 18.03.07 n/a n/a 18.03.14 

(b) 17 Mar 05       33,500 –                 – – – 33,500  £1.5150 17.03.08 n/a n/a 17.03.15 

(c) 19 Mar 08       35,000 –                 – 35,000 – –    £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18 

(d) 27 Mar 09      82,000 –                 – – – 82,000  £2.3075 27.03.12 n/a n/a 27.03.19 

(e) 29 Jun 10       66,500 –                 – – – 66,500  £2.4100 29.06.13 n/a n/a 29.06.20 

(e) 29 Jun 10       66,500 –                 – – – 66,500  £0.0000 29.06.13 n/a n/a 29.06.20 

(f) 31 Mar 11                – 52,300               – – –  52,300  £3.1500 31.03.14 n/a n/a 31.03.21 

(f) 31 Mar 11                – 52,300               – – – 52,300  £0.0000 31.03.14 n/a n/a 31.03.21

      366,000 104,600               – 35,000 – 435,600        

(a) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2004 (b) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2005 (c) 2001 Share Option Scheme  
in respect of 2008 (d) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2009 (e) 2010 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2010 (f) 2010  
Share Option Scheme in respect of 2011.

*  the expiry date of Bruce Burrows share options were modified on 30 September 2011 following his retirement from the Board.
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Statement	of	Directors’	responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law the Directors have prepared the 
Group financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European Union, and the parent 
company financial statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and 
applicable law). Under company law the Directors 
must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company 
and of the profit or loss of the Company and 
Group for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and applicable UK Accounting Standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the 
Group and parent company financial statements 
respectively;

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Company will continue in 
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and the Group and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements and the 
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Company and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions 
are listed in the Directors’ Report confirm that, to 
the best of their knowledge:

• the Group financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; 
and

• the Directors’ report contained in the Annual 
Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position 
of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

The Directors in office at the date of this report have 
each confirmed that:

•  so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware; and

• he or she has taken all the steps that he or she 
ought to have taken as a Director in order to make 
himself or herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

By order of the board 
Cynthia Dubin 
Company secretary 
27 March 2012
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Independent	Auditors’	Report	to	the	members	of	JKX	Oil	&	Gas	plc	

We have audited the Group financial statements of 
JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year ended 31 December 
2011 which comprise the consolidated income state-
ment, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of financial 
position, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows and 
the related notes. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.  

Respective responsibilities of Directors  
and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 85, the Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the Group financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the Group financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the company’s members as 
a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We 
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by 
our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This 
includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. 
If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the Group financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit and 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and 
Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ 
Report for the financial year for which the Group 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the Group financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit;

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

• the Directors’ statement, set out on page 64, in 
relation to going concern; 

• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement 
relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
specified for our review; and

• certain elements of the report to shareholders by 
the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the parent  
company financial statements of JKX Oil & Gas plc 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 and on the 
information in the Remuneration Report that is 
described as having been audited. 

Jason Burkitt (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
27 March 2012

Notes:

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the JKX Oil & Gas plc website 
is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by 
the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters 
and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements 
since they were initially presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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   2011 2010 
  Note $000 $000

Revenue  4 236,854 192,879

Cost of sales    

Provision for impairment of oil and gas assets/write off of  
exploration and evaluation costs  5(b) (12,920) (13,676) 

Production based taxes  18 (67,102) (5,219) 

Exceptional item – impairment of Russian assets  5(d),5(e) – (74,600) 

Other cost of sales    (49,573) (51,073)

Total cost of sales  18 (129,595) (144,568) 

Gross profit   107,259 48,311 

Administrative expenses   (25,705) (25,300) 

Profit/(loss) on foreign exchange   460 (2,644) 

Profit from operations before exceptional item   82,014 94,967 

Profit from operations after exceptional item   82,014 20,367

Finance income  19 915 868 

Finance costs  20 (852) (443)

Profit before tax   82,077 20,792 

Taxation – current   (21,769) (30,288) 

Taxation  – deferred     

– before the exceptional item   (1,171) 16,152 

– on the exceptional item   – 14,500

Total deferred taxation    (1,171) 30,652

Total taxation   25 (22,940) 364

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent   59,137 21,156 
   

Basic earnings per 10p ordinary share (in cents)     

– before exceptional item  27 34.37 47.56 

– after exceptional item   34.37 12.38

Diluted earnings per 10p ordinary share (in cents)     

– before exceptional item   34.22 47.33 

– after exceptional item   34.22 12.32

Consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	
for the year ended 31 December
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Profit for the year     59,137 21,156 

Currency translation differences   (18,383) (2,790)

Net movement on cash flow hedges          2,872 –

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Owners of the parent    43,626 18,366 

Group financial statements
Consolidated	income	statement	
for the year ended 31 December
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   2011 2010 
  Note $000 $000

ASSETS     
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment  5(a) 498,834 403,342 
Other intangible assets  5(b) 23,546 23,371 
Other receivable  6 24,238 20,485 
Deferred tax assets  26 13,432 13,583

   560,050 460,781

Current assets    
Inventories   8 3,669 2,343 
Trade and other receivables  9 21,405 24,396 
Restricted cash  10 9,777 – 
Cash and cash equivalents  10 19,122 62,018

   53,973 88,757

Total assets   614,023 549,538

LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities    
Current tax liabilities   (2,778) (3,630) 
Trade and other payables  11 (44,509) (58,332) 
Borrowings  12 (35,930) – 
Derivative liability  13 (3,169) –

   (86,386) (61,962)

Non-current liabilities    
Provisions  17 (3,445) (3,274) 
Other payables   (4,356) (3,595) 
Deferred tax liabilities  26 (13,061) (12,041)

   (20,862) (18,910)

Total liabilities   (107,248) (80,872)

Net assets   506,775 468,666 

EQUITY    
Share capital  15 26,657 26,649 
Share premium   97,476 97,363 
Merger reserve   30,680 30,680 
Other reserves:    
– Capital redemption reserve   587 587 
– Equity – share options   5,483 3,914 
– Equity – foreign currency translation   (46,479) (28,096) 
– Equity – hedge reserve   2,872 – 

Retained earnings   389,499 337,569

Total shareholders’ equity   506,775 468,666 

These financial statements on pages 87 to 124 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2012 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Dr Paul Davies Cynthia Dubin 
Director Director

Group financial statements
Consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	
as at year ended 31 December
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     Equity Foreign    
    Capital Share currency    
 Share Share Merger redemption options translation Hedge Retained Total 
 capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings equity 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 $000 $000

At 1 January 2010  24,335 41,317 30,680 587 3,139 (25,306) – 329,572 404,324 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 21,156 21,156 

Exchange differences arising on  
translation of overseas operations – – – – – (2,790) – – (2,790)

Total comprehensive income  
attributable to owners of the parent – – – – – (2,790) – 21,156 18,366

Transactions with owners          

Issue of ordinary shares 2,314 58,294 – – – – – – 60,608 

Transaction cost for issue of  
ordinary shares – (2,248) – – – – – – (2,248) 

Share-based payment charge – – – – 775 – – – 775 

Dividends paid – – – – – – – (13,159) (13,159)

Total transactions with owners 2,314 56,046 – – 775 – – (13,159) 45,976

At 31 December 2010 26,649 97,363 30,680 587 3,914 (28,096) – 337,569 468,666 

At 1 January 2011  26,649 97,363 30,680 587 3,914 (28,096) – 337,569 468,666 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 59,137 59,137 

Exchange differences arising on  
translation of overseas operations – – – – – (18,383) – – (18,383) 

Net movement on cash flow hedges – – – – – – 2,872 – 2,872

Total comprehensive income  
attributable to owners of the parent – – – – – (18,383) 2,872 59,137 43,626

Transactions with owners          

Issue of ordinary shares 8 113 – – – – – – 121 

Share-based payment charge – – – – 1,569 – – – 1,569 

Dividends paid – – – – – – – (7,207) (7,207)

Total transactions with owners 8 113 – – 1,569 – – (7,207) (5,517)

At 31 December 2011 26,657 97,476 30,680 587 5,483 (46,479) 2,872 389,499 506,775 

Group financial statements
Consolidated	statement	of	changes	in	equity	
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   2011 2010 
  Note $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities      

Cash generated from operations  29 124,150 146,271 

Interest paid   (2,416) (32) 

Income tax paid   (22,737) (28,526)

Net cash generated from operating activities   98,997 117,713 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Deferred payment on Russian acquisition  11 (2,214) (3,000) 

Interest received   724 749 

Purchase of intangible assets   (12,836) (8,345) 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment    (149,873) (164,499)

Net cash used in investing activities   (164,199) (175,095) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares   121 58,359 

Restricted cash   (9,777) – 

Repayment of borrowings   (10,000) – 

Funds received from borrowings (net of costs)   49,500 – 

Dividends paid to shareholders  28 (7,207) (13,159)

Net cash generated from financing activities   22,637 45,200 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year   (42,565) (12,182) 

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (331) (168) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   62,018 74,368

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  10 19,122 62,018 

Group financial statements
Consolidated	statement	of	cash	flows	
for the year ended 31 December
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1.  General information
JKX Oil & Gas plc (the ultimate parent of the 
Group hereafter, ‘the Company’) is a public limited 
company listed on the London Stock Exchange 
which is domiciled and incorporated in England and 
Wales under the UK Companies Act. The registered 
number of the Company is 03050645. The registered 
office is 6 Cavendish Square, London, W1G 0PD and 
the principal place of business is disclosed in the 
introduction to the Annual Report. The principal 
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries,  
(the ‘Group’), are the exploration for, appraisal and 
development of oil and gas reserves.  

2.  Basis of preparation
The Group’s financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union, International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations 
and the Companies Act 2006 applicable for 
Companies reporting under IFRS and therefore 
the consolidated financial statements comply with 
Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulations. The principal 
accounting policies adopted by the Group are set 
out below. The disclosed policies have been applied 
consistently by the Group for both the current and 
previous financial year with the exception of the new 
standards adopted.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s forecast 
cash flows for the next twelve months and through 
to the end of 2013. Capital and operating costs are 
based on approved budgets and latest forecasts 
in the case of 2012 and current development plans 
in the case of 2013. In addition the Directors have 
made enquiries into and considered the Ukrainian 
and Russian business environments and future 
expectations regarding country and currency risks 
that the Group may encounter. 

Having considered the sensitivities and potential 
outcomes relating to these country and currency 
risks, the Group’s ability to change the timing 
and scale of its discretionary capital expenditure 
if required and the Group’s ability to draw up to 
net $10m on the credit facility in Ukraine which is 
currently available until 30 June 2012, the Directors 
consider that the Company and Group have adequate 
resources to continue for the foreseeable future. The 
going concern basis for the accounts has therefore 
continued to be adopted.

The critical accounting estimates and management 
judgements used in preparing these financial 
statements are Recoverability of tangible 
and intangible oil and gas costs, Carrying 
value of intangible exploration and evaluation 
expenditure, Depreciation of oil and gas assets, 
Decommissioning, Taxation and Derivatives, further 
details of which can be found in note 3. 

There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that 
are effective for the first time for the financial year 
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the Group.

The following new and amended standards and 
interpretations are mandatory for the first time 
for the financial year beginning 1 January 2011 but 
are not currently relevant to the Group financial 
statements:

 − IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’

 − IAS 32 (amendment), ‘Classification of rights 
issues’

 − IFRIC 14 (amendment), ‘Prepayments of a 
minimum funding requirement’

 − IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with 
equity instruments’

 − Improvements to International Financial Reporting 
Standards 2010.

The following new standards, amendments and 
interpretations are issued but not effective for the 
financial year beginning 1 January 2011 and the 
Group has not early adopted them:

 − IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’*

 − IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’*

 − IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’*

 − IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’*

 − IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’*

 − IAS 27 (revised), ‘Separate financial statements’*

 − IAS 28 (revised), ‘Associates and joint ventures’*

 − IFRIC 20, ‘Stripping costs in the production phase’*

Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’*, IAS 19*, 
‘Employee benefits’, IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: 
Disclosures’, IAS 1, ‘Financial statement 
presentation’* and IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption of 
international financial reporting standards’*.

The Group is evaluating the impact of the above 
pronouncements. The above changes are currently 
not expected to be material to the Group’s earnings 
or to shareholders’ funds but will result in further 
disclosure requirements. 

Where a change in presentation between the prior 
year and current year financial statements has 
been made during the period, comparative figures 
have been restated accordingly. During the year 
Restricted cash of $0.5m previously included in Cash 
and cash equivalents has been reclassified (note 
10). In the prior year, $0.5m of Restricted cash was 
included in Cash and cash equivalents. 

Group financial statements
Notes	to	the	financial	statements	

* Subject to endorsement by the EU
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Group financial statements
Notes	to	the	financial	statements	continued	

3.  Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up 
to 31 December each year. All intragroup balances, 
transactions, income and expenses and profits or 
losses, including unrealised profits arising from 
intragroup transactions, have been eliminated on 
consolidation.

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies in order to obtain benefits from their 
activities. Control is presumed to exist where 
the Group owns more than one half of the voting 
rights (which does not always equate to percentage 
ownership) unless it can be demonstrated that 
ownership does not constitute control. Control 
does not exist where other parties hold veto rights 
over significant operating and financial decisions. 
In assessing control, potential voting rights that 
are currently exercisable or convertible are taken 
into account. The consolidated financial statements 
include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, 
expenses and cash flows of the Companies and 
their subsidiaries after eliminating intragroup 
transactions as noted above. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases. Uniform 
accounting policies are applied across the Group.

Interests in joint venture agreements
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby 
the Group and other parties undertake an economic 
activity that is subject to joint control. Where a Group 
company undertakes its activities under joint venture 
arrangements directly, the Group’s shares of jointly 
controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly 
with other venturers are recognised in the financial 
statements of the relevant company and classified 
according to their nature.

Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect 
of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted 
for on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use 
of the Group’s share of the output of jointly controlled 
assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are 
recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the transactions will 
flow to/from the Group and their amount can be 
measured reliably.

Joint venture arrangements which involve the estab-
lishment of a separate entity in which each venturer 
has an interest are referred to as jointly controlled 
entities (JCE). The Group reports its interests in jointly 
controlled entities using proportionate consolidation – 
the Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses of jointly controlled entities are combined 
with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial 
statements on a line-by-line basis.

Where the Group transacts with its jointly controlled 
entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint 
venture.

Foreign currencies
The presentation currency of the Group is the US 
Dollar based on the fact that the Group’s primary 
transactions originate in, or are dictated by, the US 
Dollar, these being amongst others oil sales and 
procurement of rigs and drilling services.

Each entity in the Group is measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or 
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the income statement.

On consolidation of subsidiaries and JCEs with a non 
US Dollar presentation currency, their statements 
of financial position are translated into US Dollar 
at the closing rate and income and expenses at 
the average monthly rate. All resulting exchange 
differences arising in the period are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, and cumulatively in 
the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are reclassified to profit or loss in 
the period in which any such foreign operation is 
disposed of.

Subsidiaries within the Group hold monetary 
intercompany balances for which settlement is 
neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future and thus this is considered to be part of the 
Group’s net investment in the relevant subsidiary. 
An exchange difference arises on translation in the 
company income statement which on consolidation 
is recognised in equity, only being recognised in 
the income statement on the disposal of the net 
investment.

The major exchange rates used for the revaluation of 
the closing statement of financial position at  
31 December 2011 were 1$/£0.6 (2010: 1$/£0.6),  
$1/UAH 8.1 (2010: $1/UAH 8.1), $1/RUB 32.2 (2010: 
$1/RUB 31.2), $1/HUF 241.7 (2010: 1$/HUF 204.8), 
1$/BGN 1.5 (2010: 1$/BGN 1.4).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition are treated as assets/liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Property, plant and equipment 
Property plant and equipment comprises the Group’s 
tangible oil and gas assets together with computer 
equipment, motor vehicles and other equipment 
and are carried at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes purchase price and construction costs 
for qualifying assets, together with borrowing costs 
where applicable, in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets 
commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use.

Oil and gas assets
Exploration, appraisal and development expenditure 
is accounted for under the ‘successful efforts’ 
method. The successful efforts method means that 
only costs which relate directly to the discovery and 
development of specific oil and gas reserves are 
capitalised.

Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised 
within intangible assets. Development expenditure 
on producing assets is accounted for in accordance 
with IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’. Costs 
incurred prior to obtaining legal rights to explore are 
expensed immediately to the income statement.

All lease and licence acquisition costs, geological 
and geophysical costs and other direct costs 
of exploration, evaluation and development are 
capitalised as intangible assets or property 
plant and equipment according to their nature. 
Intangible assets are not amortised and comprise 
costs relating to the exploration and evaluation 
of properties which the Directors consider to 
be unevaluated until reserves are appraised as 
commercial, at which time they are transferred 
to property plant and equipment following an 
impairment review and are depreciated accordingly. 
Where properties are appraised to have no 
commercial value, the associated costs are treated 
as an impairment loss in the period in which the 
determination is made.

Costs related to hydrocarbon production activities 
are depreciated on a field by field unit of production 
method based on commercial proved plus probable 
reserves of the production licence, except in the case 
of assets whose useful life differs from the lifetime 
of the field, which are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their anticipated useful life of up to 10 years.

The calculation of the ‘unit of production’ 
depreciation takes account of estimated future 
development costs and is based on current period 
end unescalated price levels. Changes in reserves 
and cost estimates are recognised prospectively.

Other assets
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, 
less estimated residual value, over their estimated 

useful lives, using the straight-line method, for the 
following classes of assets:

Motor vehicles –  4 years 
Computer equipment –  3 years 
Other equipment  –  5 to 10 years

The estimated useful lives of property plant and 
equipment and their residual values are reviewed on 
an annual basis and, if necessary, changes in useful 
lives are accounted for prospectively. Assets under 
construction are not subject to depreciation until the 
date on which the Group brings them into use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an asset is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in the income statement for 
the relevant period.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using 
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition 
is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, 
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued 
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities that meet the criteria for 
recognition under IFRS 3 (revised) are recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition 
costs are expensed.  

Goodwill is recognised as an asset and is initially 
measured at cost being the excess of the cost of 
the business combination over the Group’s share 
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. After 
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses and is tested 
annually for impairment. Impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed. 

On disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled 
entity, the attributable amount of unamortised 
goodwill, which has not been subject to impairment, 
is included in the determination of the profit or loss 
on disposal.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets, excluding goodwill, 
to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. Individual assets are grouped together as a 
cash-generating unit for impairment assessment 
purposes at the lowest level at which their 
identifiable cash flows, that are largely independent 
of the cash flows of the other Groups assets, can be 
determined.
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If any such indication of impairment exists the Group 
makes an estimate of its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. Where the carrying 
amount of an individual asset or a cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset/cash-
generating unit is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. Fair value less 
costs to sell is determined by discounting the post 
tax cash flows expected to be generated by the cash-
generating unit, net of associated selling costs, and 
takes into account assumptions, market participants 
would use in estimating fair value. In assessing the 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
adjusted for the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit and are discounted to their present 
value that reflects the current market indicators.

Excluding goodwill, where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset/cash-generating unit is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as 
income immediately.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised on the Group’s statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group may use derivative financial instruments 
(derivatives) primarily to hedge its risks associated 
with oil price fluctuations and foreign currency 
fluctuations relating to certain firm commitments 
and forecasted transactions. Any such derivatives 
are initially recorded at fair value on the date at which 
the contract is entered into and subsequently re-
measured at fair value on subsequent reporting dates.

A financial asset or liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the asset or liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

During the period the Group has used a derivative 
financial instrument to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in oil prices.

The purpose for which a derivative is used is 
established at inception. To qualify for hedge 
accounting, the derivative must be ’highly effective’ in 
achieving its objective and this effectiveness must be 
documented at inception and throughout the period of 
the hedge relationship. The hedge must be assessed 
on an ongoing basis and determined to have been 
’highly effective’ throughout the financial reporting 
periods for which the hedge was designated.

The pre-paid swap transaction with Credit Suisse 
International has been structured to enable 
repayment by JKX from future sales of oil. Under 
this structure, the Group has sold forward 36,000 
bbl/month of crude. The swap and option embedded 
in that transaction have been designated cash flow 
hedges of forecast future sales of oil.

For the cash flow hedge, the portion of the gains and 
losses on the hedging instrument that is determined 
to be an effective hedge is taken to equity and the 
ineffective portion, as well as any change in time 
value, is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. The gains and losses taken to equity 
are subsequently transferred to the consolidated 
income statement during the period in which the 
hedged transaction affects the consolidated income 
statement or if the hedge is subsequently deemed to 
be ineffective. 

Gains or losses on derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting treatment (either from inception or 
during the life of the instrument) are taken directly to 
the consolidated income statement in the period.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective 
yield basis. The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially 
at fair value and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, reduced by any provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due. Indicators of impairment would 
include financial difficulties of the debtor, likelihood 
of the debtor’s insolvency, default in payment or a 
significant deterioration in credit worthiness. Any 
impairment is recognised in the income statement 
within ‘Administrative expenses’.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial instruments which have a fixed or easily 
determinable value. They are recognised at cost, 
less any provisions for impairment in their value.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand 
and current balances with banks and similar 
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institutions, which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash. Cash equivalents are short-term 
with an original maturity of less than 3 months, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash is disclosed separately on the face 
of the statement of financial position and denoted as 
restricted when it is not under the exclusive control 
of the Group.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured 
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method if the time value of money is significant.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are 
classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the 
Company are recorded at the proceeds received net 
of direct issue costs.

Inventories
Inventory is comprised of produced oil and gas or 
certain materials and equipment that are acquired 
for future use. The oil and gas is valued at the lower 
of average production cost and net realisable value; 
the materials and equipment inventory is valued 
at purchase cost. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs plus 
attributable overheads based on a normal level of 
activity and other costs associated in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. 
Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution and any provisions for 
obsolescence.

Treasury shares
JKX Oil & Gas plc treasury shares held by the 
Company are classified in shareholders’ equity. 
The consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs is deducted from 
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where 
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any 
consideration received, net of transaction costs, 
is included in equity attributable to the Company’s 
equity holders. No gain or loss is recognised in the 
financial statements on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of treasury shares.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the 
current tax payable and deferred tax.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit 
for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit 
as reported in the income statement because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or 
recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax base used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or 
from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the 
accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, and interests in joint ventures, except 
where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered. Any such reduction shall 
be reversed to the extent that it becomes probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset realised based on tax rates and 
laws substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged 
or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there exists a legal and enforceable right to offset 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Segmental reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Chief 
Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of 
the operating segments, has been identified as the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the Group 
that make the strategic decisions. 

Share options
The Group issues equity-settled share-based 
payments to the Executive Directors and Senior 
Management. Equity-settled share-based payments 
are measured at fair value at the date of grant. 
The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of options is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on 
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually 
vest. At each subsequent reporting date the Group 
calculates the estimated cumulative charge for 
each award having regard to any change in the 
number of options that are expected to vest and the 
expired portion of the vesting period. The change 
in this cumulative charge since the last reporting 
date is expensed. Once an option vests, no further 
adjustment is made to the aggregate amount 
expensed. The expected life of the options depends 
on the behaviour of the option holders, which is 
incorporated into the option model consistent with 
historic data. The fair values calculated are inherently 
subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions 
made and the limitations of the model used.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs are credited to share capital 
(nominal value of 10p per share) and share premium 
when the options are exercised.

The rules regarding the scheme are described in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 74 and 83 and in note 
24 on share based payments.

Bonus scheme
The Group operates a bonus scheme for its Directors 
and employees. The scheme has four performance 
conditions: 1. financial objectives; 2. increase in 
share price; 3. key strategic objectives and 4. safety 
performance conditions. The bonus payments are 
made annually, normally in January of each year and 
the costs are accrued in the period to which they 
relate.

Pension costs
The Group contributes to the individual pension 
scheme of the qualifying employees’ choice. Contri-
butions are charged to the income statement as they 
become payable. The Group has no further payment 
obligations once the contributions have been paid.

Decommissioning
Provision is made for the cost of decommissioning 
assets at the time when the obligation to 
decommission arises. Such provision represents 
the estimated discounted liability (the discount rate 
used currently being at 10%, (2010: 10%)) for costs 
which are expected to be incurred in removing 
production facilities and site restoration at the end of 
the producing life of each field. A corresponding item 
of property plant and equipment is also created at an 
amount equal to the provision. This is subsequently 
depreciated as part of the capital costs of the 
production facilities. Any change in the present value 
of the estimated expenditure attributable to changes 
in the estimates of the cash flow or the current 
estimate of the discount rate used are reflected 
as an adjustment to the provision and the property 
plant and equipment. The unwinding of the discount 
is recognised as a finance cost.

Revenue recognition
Sales of oil and gas products are recognised when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
passed to the buyer and it can be reliably measured. 
This generally occurs when the product is physically 
transferred into a vessel, pipe or other delivery 
mechanism. Revenue from other services are 
recognised when the services have been performed. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, 
value added tax (‘VAT’) and other sales taxes or duty.

Revenue resulting from the production of oil and 
natural gas from properties in which the Group has 
an interest with other producers is recognised on the 
basis of the Group’s working interest (entitlement 
method). Gains and losses on derivative contracts are 
reported on a net basis in the consolidated income 
statement.  

Interest income is recognised as the interest 
accrues, by reference to the net carrying amount at 
the effective interest rate applicable.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares are recognised as a deduction from share 
premium, net of any tax effects. When share capital 
recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount 
of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised 
as a deduction from share premium. Repurchased 
shares are classified as treasury shares and are 
presented in the reserve for own shares. When 
treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, 
the amount received is recognised as an increase 
in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is presented in share premium.
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Leasing
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the relevant lease. The Group has no 
finance leases.

Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid 
to the Company’s shareholders. Final dividends are 
recognised when they are approved by shareholders.  

Exceptional item 
Exceptional items comprise items of income and 
expense, including tax items, that are material 
in amount and unlikely to recur and which merit 
separate disclosure in order to provide an 
understanding of the Group’s underlying financial 
performance. Examples of events giving rise to the 
disclosure of material items of income and expense 
as exceptional items include, but are not limited 
to, impairment events, disposals of operations or 
individual assets, litigation claims by or against the 
Group and the restructuring of components of the 
Group’s operations. See note 5(d) for further details.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 
below.

(a) Recoverability of oil and gas assets and  
intangible oil and gas costs (Note 5)
Costs capitalised as oil and gas assets in property, 
plant and equipment, and intangible assets are 
assessed for impairment when circumstances 
suggest that the carrying value may exceed its 
recoverable value. As part of this assessment, 
management has carried out an impairment test 
(ceiling test) on the oil and gas assets classified as 
property, plant and equipment. This test compares 
the carrying value of the assets at the reporting 
date with the expected discounted cash flows from 
each project. For the discounted cash flows to be 
calculated, management has used a production 
profile based on its best estimate of proven and 
probable reserves of the assets and a range of 
assumptions, including an internal oil and gas price 
profile benchmarked to mean analysts’ consensus 
and a discount rate which, taking into account other 
assumptions used in the calculation, management 
considers to be reflective of the risks. This 
assessment involves judgement as to (i) the likely 
commerciality of the asset, (ii) proven and probable 
reserves which are estimated using standard 

recognised evaluation techniques (iii) future  
revenues and estimated development costs 
pertaining to the asset, (iv) the discount rate to be 
applied for the purposes of deriving a recoverable 
value and (v) the value ascribed to contingent 
resources associated with the asset. 

(b) Carrying value of intangible exploration and 
evaluation expenditure (Note 5 (b))
The amounts for intangible exploration and evaluation 
assets represent the costs of active exploration 
projects the commerciality of which is unevaluated 
until reserves can be appraised. Where a project is 
sufficiently advanced the recoverability of intangible 
exploration assets is assessed by comparing the 
carrying value to estimates of the present value of 
projects. The present values of intangible exploration 
assets are inherently judgemental. Exploration 
and evaluation costs will be written off to the 
income statement unless commercial reserves 
are established or the determination process 
is not completed and there are no indications of 
impairment. The outcome of ongoing exploration, and 
therefore whether the carrying value of exploration 
and evaluation assets will ultimately be recovered,  
is inherently uncertain. 

(c) Depreciation of oil and gas assets (Note 5)
Oil and gas assets held in property, plant and 
equipment are mainly depreciated on a unit of 
production basis at a rate calculated by reference to 
proved plus probable reserves and incorporating the 
estimated future cost of developing and extracting 
those reserves. Future development costs are 
estimated using assumptions as to the numbers of 
wells required to produce those reserves, the cost of 
the wells, future production facilities and operating 
costs; together with assumptions on oil and gas 
realisations.

(d) Decommissioning (Note 17)
The Group has decommissioning obligations in 
respect of its interests in Ukraine, Russia and 
Hungary. The full extent to which the provision is 
required depends on the legal requirements at 
the time of decommissioning, the costs and timing 
of any decommissioning works and the discount 
rate applied to such costs. The decommissioning 
provision is updated each year to reflect 
management’s best estimates based on the current 
economic environment of the key assumptions 
used. Actual decommissioning costs will ultimately 
depend upon future market prices for the necessary 
decommissioning works required, which will reflect 
market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, 
the timing of decommissioning is likely to depend 
on when the fields cease to produce at economically 
viable rates. This in turn will depend upon future oil 
and gas prices, which are inherently uncertain. 
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(e) Taxation (Note 25)
Tax provisions are recognised when it is considered 
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds 
to the tax authorities. In this case, provision is 
made for the amount that is expected to be settled. 
The provision is updated at each reporting date 
by management by interpretation and application 
of known local tax laws with the assistance of 
established legal, tax and accounting advisors.  
These interpretations can change over time 
depending on precedent set and circumstances in 
addition new laws can come into effect which can 
conflict with others and, therefore, are subject to 
varying interpretations and changes which may 
be applied retrospectively. A change in estimate of 
the likelihood of a future outflow or in the expected 
amount to be settled would result in a charge or 
credit to income in the period in which the change 
occurs. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent it is considered probable that those assets 
will be recoverable. This involves an assessment 
of when those deferred tax assets are likely to 
reverse, and a judgement as to whether or not 
there will be sufficient taxable profits available to 
offset the tax assets when they do reverse. This 
requires assumptions regarding future profitability 
and is therefore inherently uncertain. To the extent 
assumptions regarding future profitability change, 
there can be an increase or decrease in the level of 
deferred tax assets recognised that can result in a 
charge or credit in the period in which the change 
occurs. 

Tax provisions are based on enacted or substantively 
enacted laws. To the extent that these change there 
would be a charge or credit to income both in the 
period of charge, which would include any impact on 
cumulative provisions, and in future periods. 

(f) Derivatives (Note 13)
Under the pre-paid swap transaction with Credit 
Suisse International (see note 12) JKX has sold 
forward 36,000 bbl/month of crude at $94.00 Urals 
Med per barrel while retaining value if prices 
rise above $130 per bbl. This derivative financial 
instrument is stated in the statement of financial 
position at the reporting date at its fair value. 

Changes in the fair value of this derivative are 
recorded each period in comprehensive income as 
specific hedge accounting criteria have been met. 
The fair value is determined using forward oil price 
curves which represent the Group’s estimates of 
the prices at which a buyer or seller could contract 
today for delivery of oil or settlement of an oil-price 
contract, at future dates. The Group generally bases 
forward price curves upon readily obtainable market 
price quotations, as the Group’s oil contracts do not 
generally extend beyond the actively traded portion 
of these curves. However, the forward price curves 
used are only an estimate of how future prices will 
move and are, therefore, subjective. 

4.  Segmental analysis
The Group has one single class of business, being 
the exploration for, appraisal, development and 
production of oil and gas reserves. Accordingly the 
reportable operating segments are determined by 
the geographical location of the assets.

There are five reportable operating segments 
which are based on the internal reports provided 
to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Ukraine 
and Hungary are involved with production and 
exploration; Russia and the ‘Rest of World’ are 
involved in exploration and development and the 
UK is the home of the head office and purchases 
material, capital assets and services on behalf of 
other segments. The ‘Rest of the World’ segment 
comprises operations in Bulgaria and Slovakia. 
Transfer prices between segments are set on 
an arms length basis in a manner similar to 
transactions with third parties. Segment revenue, 
segment expense and segment results include 
transfers between segments. Those transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Segment results and assets include items directly 
attributable to the segment. Segment assets 
consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, 
inventories and receivables. Capital expenditures 
comprise additions to property, plant and equipment.
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 UK Ukraine Russia Hungary Rest of world Sub Total  Eliminations  Total 2011
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 

External revenue         

Revenue by location of asset:         

– Oil – 80,000 – 1,508 – 81,508 – 81,508 

– Gas – 133,288 – 9,779 – 143,067 – 143,067 

– Liquefied petroleum gas – 10,881 – – – 10,881 – 10,881 

– Management services/other 132 1,266 – – – 1,398 – 1,398

 132 225,435 – 11,287 – 236,854 – 236,854 

Inter segment revenue:         

– Management services/other 17,260 – – – – 17,260 (17,260) – 

– Equipment 11,338 – – – 3,907 15,245 (15,245) –

 28,598 – – – 3,907 32,505 (32,505) – 

Total revenue 28,730 225,435 – 11,287 3,907 269,359 (32,505) 236,854 

Profit before tax         

(Loss)/profit from operations (9,465) 106,632 (3,745) (3,579) (6,240) 83,603 (1,589) 82,014 

Finance income      915 – 915 

Finance cost      (852) – (852)

      83,666 (1,589) 82,077 

Assets         

Property, plant and equipment 1,599 226,667 246,238 20,937 3,393 498,834 – 498,834 

Intangible assets – 4,119 – 12,916 6,511 23,546 – 23,546 

Other receivable – – 24,238 – – 24,238 – 24,238 

Deferred tax 3,828 1,634 7,916 54 – 13,432 – 13,432 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,406 3,356 5,953 15 4,392 19,122 – 19,122 

Restricted cash 9,504 – – 273 – 9,777 – 9,777 

Other segment assets 2,889 7,436 6,997 8,016 (264) 25,074 – 25,074

Total assets 23,226 243,212 291,342 42,211 14,032 614,023 – 614,023 

Total liabilities (43,157) (28,482) (22,780) (11,007) (1,822) (107,248) – (107,248) 

Non cash expense (other than  
depreciation and impairment) 1,569 403 – – 176 2,148 – 2,148 

Impairment of fixed assets 
/write off of exploration costs – – – 6,704 6,216 12,920 – 12,920 

Increase in property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets 1,924 41,447 101,428 12,382 2,819 160,000 – 160,000 

Depreciation, depletion and 
amortisation 618 29,632 56 3,938 83 34,327 – 34,327
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 UK Ukraine Russia Hungary Rest of world Sub Total Eliminations Total 2010
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

External revenue         

Revenue by location of asset:         

– Oil – 77,092 – 1,723 – 78,815 – 78,815 

– Gas – 100,007 – 12,890 – 112,897 – 112,897 

– Management services/other – 1,167 – – – 1,167 – 1,167

 – 178,266 – 14,613 – 192,879 – 192,879 

Inter segment revenue:         

– Management services/other 28,623 – – – – 28,623 (28,623) – 

– Equipment 17,439 – – – 34,242 51,681 (51,681) –

  46,062 – – – 34,242 80,304 (80,304) –   

Total revenue 46,062 178,266 – 14,613 34,242 273,183 (80,304) 192,879 

Profit before tax         

Profit/(loss) from operations  
before exceptional item (8,514) 110,243 (4,335) 2,509 (1,265) 98,638 (3,671) 94,967 

Exceptional item – impairment  
of Russian assets – – (74,600) – – (74,600) – (74,600)

Profit/(loss) from operations  
after exceptional item (8,514) 110,243 (78,935) 2,509 (1,265) 24,038 (3,671) 20,367 

Finance income      868 – 868 

Finance cost      (443) – (443)

      24,463 (3,671) 20,792 

Assets         

Property, plant and equipment 1,093 214,301 161,542 23,064 3,342 403,342 – 403,342 

Intangible assets – 3,448 – 9,049 10,874 23,371 – 23,371 

Other receivable – – 20,485 – – 20,485 – 20,485 

Deferred tax 5,737 – 7,846 – – 13,583 – 13,583 

Cash and cash equivalents 30,605 19,444 7,413 972 3,584 62,018 – 62,018 

Other segment assets 766 8,814 754 10,361 6,044 26,739 – 26,739

Total assets 38,201 246,007 198,040 43,446 23,844 549,538 – 549,538 

Total liabilities (6,127) (26,724) (32,445) (13,466) (2,110) (80,872) – (80,872) 

Non cash expense (other than  
depreciation and impairment) 3,211 458 – 471 38 4,178 – 4,178 

Impairment of fixed assets/ 
write off of exploration costs – 7,253 2,883 1,855 1,685 13,676 – 13,676 

Exceptional item – impairment  
of Russian assets – – 74,600 – – 74,600 – 74,600 

Increase in property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets 744 56,867 107,997 9,873 3,063 178,544 – 178,544 

Depreciation, depletion and  
amortisation 561 28,353 83 4,885 1,507 35,389 – 35,389
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       Rest 
     Ukraine  Hungary  of world Total 2011

      $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue by location of customer         

External revenue:         

– Oil     80,000 1,508 – 81,508 

– Gas     133,288 9,779 – 143,067 

– Liquefied petroleum gas     10,881 – – 10,881 

– Management services/other     1,266 – 132 1,398

     225,435 11,287 132 236,854 
   

       Rest 
     Ukraine  Hungary  of world Total 2010

     $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue by location of customer         

External revenue:         

– Oil     77,092 1,723 – 78,815 

– Gas     100,007 12,890 – 112,897 

– Management services/other     1,167 – – 1,167

     178,266 14,613 – 192,879 

       2011 2010 Major customers
       $000 $000

1  Ukraine       87,999  64,244 

2  Ukraine       46,878  39,485

There are 2 (2010: 2) customers in the Ukraine that exceed 10% of the Group’s total revenues.
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5.(a)  Property, plant and equipment

       Other 
    Oil and  Oil and property,  2011

    gas fields Gas field gas fields plant and  
    Ukraine Russia Hungary equipment Total 
    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP         

Cost         

At 1 January    416,654 236,992 29,688 17,123 700,457 

Additions during the year*    40,776 103,428 1,811 2,559 148,574 

Foreign exchange equity adjustment    – (18,732) – (28) (18,760) 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment   – – – (1,155) (1,155)

At 31 December    457,430 321,688 31,499 18,499 829,116 

Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortisation  
and provision for impairment         

At 1 January    202,353 75,450 6,624 12,688 297,115 

Depreciation on disposals of property, plant and equipment  – – – (1,148) (1,148) 

Foreign exchange equity adjustment    – – – (12) (12) 

Depreciation charge for the year    28,410 – 3,938 1,979 34,327

At 31 December    230,763 75,450 10,562 13,507 330,282 

Carrying amount     

At 31 December    226,667 246,238 20,937 4,992 498,834 

* Finance costs that have been capitalised within oil and gas properties during the year total $3.2m (2010: nil), at a weighted  
average interest rate of 25.2 per cent.

Oil and gas fields in Ukraine and Russia include $14.3m and $246.2m respectively relating to items under 
construction (2010: $42.4m and $161.5m). 

Group financial statements
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       Other 
    Oil and  Oil and property,  2010

    gas fields Gas field gas fields plant and  
    Ukraine Russia Hungary equipment Total 
    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP         

Cost         

At 1 January    361,786 130,609 22,481 15,771 530,647 

Additions during the year    54,864 107,822 5,833 1,680 170,199 

Foreign exchange equity adjustment    – (1,439) – (1) (1,440) 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment   – – – (323) (323) 

Reclassification    4 – 1,374 (4) 1,374

At 31 December    416,654 236,992 29,688 17,123 700,457 

Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortisation  
and provision for impairment 

At 1 January    174,000 – 1,739 10,742 186,481 

Depreciation on disposals of property, plant and equipment  – – – (204) (204) 

Exceptional item – impairment of Russian assets   – 72,568 – – 72,568 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment   – 2,882 – – 2,882 

Foreign exchange equity adjustment    – – – (1) (1) 

Depreciation charge for the year    28,353 – 4,885 2,151 35,389

At 31 December    202,353 75,450 6,624 12,688 297,115 

Carrying amount        

At 1 January    187,786 130,609 20,742 5,029 344,166 
At 31 December    214,301 161,542 23,064 4,435 403,342 

Reclassifications of $1.4m relates to Hungarian assets being reclassified to property, plant and equipment.

Oil and gas assets
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5.(b)  Intangible assets: exploration and evaluation expenditure

       Rest 
     Ukraine Hungary of world Total 2011

      $000  $000 $000 $000

Cost         

At 1 January      4,756 9,049 17,229 31,034 

Additions during the year     671 10,571 2,184 13,426 

Write off of unsuccessful exploration costs    – (6,704) (6,216) (12,920) 

Effect of exchange rates on intangible assets    – – (331) (331)

At 31 December      5,427 12,916 12,866 31,209 

Provision against oil and gas assets        

At 1 January and 31 December     1,308 – 6,355 7,663 

Carrying amount         

At 1 January      3,448 9,049 10,874 23,371

At 31 December      4,119 12,916 6,511 23,546 

The amounts for intangible exploration and appraisal assets represent costs incurred on active exploration and 
appraisal projects.

The write off of exploration and evaluation costs of $12.9m (2010: $10.8m) recognised in Cost of sales 
comprises Bulgarian exploration and license costs for B-Golitza ($6.2m) and exploration and drilling costs 
incurred in Hungary in respect of our Turkeve licence ($6.7m).

       Rest 
     Ukraine Hungary of world Total 2010

      $000  $000 $000 $000

Cost         

At 1 January      10,764 8,239 15,794 34,797 

Additions during the year     1,245 4,039 3,061 8,345 

Write off of unsuccessful exploration costs    (7,253) (1,855) (1,686) (10,794) 

Effect of exchange rates on intangible assets    – – 60 60 

Reclassification to tangible assets     – (1,374) – (1,374)

At 31 December      4,756 9,049 17,229 31,034 

Provision against oil and gas assets        

At 1 January and 31 December     1,308 – 6,355 7,663 

Carrying amount         

At 1 January      9,456 8,239 9,439 27,134

At 31 December      3,448 9,049 10,874 23,371 

5.(c)  Impairment test for property, plant and equipment and goodwill

In 2010 a review was undertaken at the reporting date of the carrying amounts of property, plant and 
equipment to determine whether there was any indication of triggers that may have led to these assets 
suffering an impairment loss. Following this review in 2010 impairment triggers were noted in relation 
to Poltava Petroleum Company (PPC) in Ukraine. In addition goodwill in relation to Yuzhgazenergie 
(YGE) in Russia was assessed for indications of impairment and triggers were noted.

Group financial statements
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In 2011 another review was undertaken at the reporting date of property, plant and equipment and 
impairment triggers were noted in relation to Yuzhgazenergie (YGE) in Russia. See note 5(d) and 5(e) for 
the results of the YGE test in 2011 and 2010.

Ukraine – 2010 disclosures in respect of the impairment review
The new Tax Code in Ukraine which became effective since 1 January 2011 resulted in rental charges being 
levied on oil and gas production since that date. In 2010 this represented an impairment trigger for its 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex which consists of four production licences, Ignatovskoye, Molchanovskoye, 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye and Rudenkovskoye.

The impairment test compared the recoverable amount of the Cash Generating Unit (CGU), being the  
Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex, to the carrying value of the CGU. The estimate of recoverable amount was based 
on fair value less costs to sell, derived by estimating discounted after tax cash flows for the CGU reflecting what 
a typical market participant would use to value such assets. 

The key assumptions used to estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU were:

• Production profiles: these were based on the latest available 2P reserves (39.1 MMboe), which were provided 
by independent reserve engineers.

• Gas prices: these were based on current prices being achieved, escalated for the remainder of 2011 only, in 
line with public statements made by Ukrainian Government officials. The gas price is assumed to increase in 
line with expected US Dollar inflation after 2012.

• Capital and operating costs: based on current development programmes and previous experience.

• Post tax nominal discount rate: 12.2%.

It was concluded that the Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex was not impaired.

5.(d)  Impairment test for property, plant and equipment 

Yuzhgazenergie (YGE), Russia
Following the 2007 acquisition of YGE in Russia, a technical and environmental re-evaluation of YGE’s 
Koshekhablskoye gas field redevelopment was undertaken by the Group. The re-evaluation resulted in a 
revised development plan and production profile. The development plan and production profile have continued 
to be refined since that time. 

The anticipated cost of the development plan has continued to increase in 2011 and although first gas sales 
from the project are imminent they are delayed from when originally planned and from the assumptions used 
for the 2010 impairment review. 

In 2011 and in 2010, the anticipated convergence of Adygean gas prices to net back European levels is forecast 
to be later than assumed in the prior year’s impairment review and in 2010 the level of gas prices in Russia was 
lower than previously anticipated. Historically gas prices in the Adygea Region are higher than the average gas 
price across all regions in Russia.

In 2010, the reduced gas price and uncertainty about the future rates of increase in Russian gas prices gave 
rise to an impairment charge and all of the Group's goodwill of $2.0m was written off and $72.6m of the 
underlying property, plant and equipment was provided against. In 2011 the Company considered that the delay 
to production start-up and the resulting additional capital expenditure incurred to constitute an impairment 
trigger. Accordingly an impairment test was undertaken in 2011.

The tests in both years compared the recoverable amount of the Cash Generating Unit (CGU), being YGE for the 
purpose of the review, to the carrying value of the CGU (including goodwill in 2010). 

The estimate of recoverable amount was based on fair value less costs to sell, using a discounted cash flow 
(DCF) methodology. The DCF was derived by estimating discounted after tax cash flows for the CGU based on 
estimates that a typical market participant would use in valuing such assets. In accordance with IAS 36, the 
impairment review in both 2010 and 2011 was been undertaken in Russian Roubles.



106

Key assumptions – Russia

The key assumptions used in the 2011 and 2010 impairment testing were:

• Production profiles: these were based on the latest available information provided by independent reserve 
engineers, Senergy (GB) Limited, such information included 2P reserves of 61.2 MMboe (2010: 44.8 MMboe). 
No value was attributed to the unconfirmed expectations of the 3P and contingent resources (2010: no value) 
which may be relevant to any valuation by a market participant.

• Economic life of field: it was assumed that YGE will be successful in extending the licence term beyond 
its current 2026 expiration to the economic life of the field (expected to be around 2059 (2010: 2032)). The 
discounted cash flow methodology used has not taken account of any opportunities that may exist to extract 
reserves in a shorter timeframe by investing to increase the current plant capacity.

• Gas prices: for 2012 these were based on the gas sales agreement that the Company has negotiated with 
Kubangazifikatziya for the forecast gas production in 2012.

• Gas prices: for 2013 and thereafter, the gas price increases were based on Russian regional gas market 
price expectations and the Russian government’s stated intention to achieve net-back convergence with the 
European gas markets. The principle of achieving European net-back parity is the driver of regulatory price 
change in Russia and it was originally anticipated that this would be achieved by 2011, later revised to 2015 
and subsequently 2017. Due to the recent sustained period of high international oil prices and hence high 
European gas prices, it is now unlikely to achieve parity in this time-frame. The Company assumed net-back 
convergence occurring in 2020 (2010: 2017) and applied the Russian government’s stated intention to increase 
gas sector tariffs by 15% on 1 July 2012 and by 15% per annum in 2013 and 2014 to calculate expected future 
Russian gas prices in those years, and by 15% thereafter to achieve European net-back convergence in 2020. 
This timing of convergence is consistent with current views expressed by many market commentators. 

• Gas prices: the gas price was assumed to increase in line with forecast Rouble inflation after 2020  
(2010: US Dollar inflation after 2017), consistent with operating cash flow assumptions.

• Capital and operating costs: these were based on current operating and capital costs in Russia, project 
estimates provided by third parties and supported by estimates from our own specialists, where necessary.

• Post tax nominal Rouble discount rate of 13.0% (2010: 13.5%). This was based on a Capital Asset Pricing 
Model analysis consistent with that used in previous impairment reviews.

Based on the key assumptions set out above, YGE’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying value by $35m 
in 2011. In 2011 it was concluded that YGE’s Koshekhablskoye gas field was not impaired (2010: impairment of 
$74.6m).

Any impairment is dependent on judgement used in determining the most appropriate basis for the assumptions 
and estimates made by management, particularly in relation to the key assumptions described above. Sensitivity 
analysis to likely and potential changes in key assumptions has therefore been reviewed below.

The impact on the 2011 impairment calculation of applying different assumptions to gas prices, production, 
future capital expenditure and post-tax discount rates, all other inputs remaining equal, would be as follows:

2011 sensitivity analysis Increase/(Decrease) in impairment 
  headroom of $35m for Yuzhgazenergie CGU 
 $m

Impact if Adygean gas price: Increased by 10% 55 

 Growth rate is reduced to 10% annually post 2014  

 through to European net-back in 2021 (64)

Impact if production volumes: Increased by 10% 51 

  Decreased by 10% (51)

Impact if future capital expenditure: Increased by 10% (7) 

  Decreased by 10% 7

Impact if post-tax discount rate: Increased by 1% to 14% (23) 

  Decreased by 1% to 12% 25

Group financial statements
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Future impairment testing 
With Russian gas prices assumed to increase on 1 July 2012 by 15% and on 1 January 2013 by 15%, in line with 
Russian government guidance, and again in 2013 and 2014, in addition to imminent gas production from YGE 
which will provide a greater understanding of the well performance of the contributing wells, the assumptions 
adopted in the impairment test will be reviewed at the next reporting date to identify whether a further 
impairment test is required.

2010: Exceptional item – impairment of Russian assets
In 2010, the changes in the key assumptions used from previous periods resulted in the asset being impaired 
by $74.6m in 2010 consisting of goodwill of $2.0m and property, plant and equipment of $72.6m. The main 
driver of the impairment was the lower sales prices anticipated in the early years together with a longer period 
before net back European gas price parity is achieved. The Group has recognised the impairment charge as an 
exceptional charge within the 2010 financial statements. The associated tax effect on the exceptional charge in 
2010 was a deferred tax credit to the 2010 income statement of $14.5m.

The impact on the 2010 impairment calculation of applying different assumptions to production, gas prices, 
capital expenditure and post-tax discount rates based on 2P reserves, would have been as set out below. 

2010 sensitivity analysis Increase/(Decrease) in impairment  
 loss Yuzhgazenergie CGU  
 $m

Impact if production: Increased by 1% (4) 

 Decreased by 1% 4

Impact if gas price: Increased by 1% (4) 

  Decreased by 1% 4

Impact if future capital expenditure: Increased by 1% 1 

  Decreased by 1% (1)

Impact if post-tax discount rate: Increased by 1% 17 

  Decreased by 1% (19)

5.(e)  Goodwill 
Goodwill was recognised in 2007 in relation to the Group’s acquisition of Yuzhgazenergie LLC (YGE). The 
goodwill arose after the application of IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’, and was attributable principally to expanded 
growth opportunities in Russia. 

2010 impairment disclosures
In 2010, in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’, and following the Group’s decision that an indication 
of potential impairment arose in relation to the property, plant and equipment (for reasons more fully disclosed 
in 5(d)) a review for impairment of the related goodwill was undertaken. The carrying amount of the goodwill 
was allocated to the YGE Cash Generating Unit (CGU) as described above. The test compared the recoverable 
amount of the CGU, being YGE for the purpose of the review, to the carrying value of the CGU including goodwill. 
The calculations use the same assumptions as used for property, plant and equipment as more fully described 
in 5(d).

   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

At 1 January   – 2,101 

Impairment of goodwill (refer to 5(d))   – (2,032) 

Foreign exchange equity adjustment   – (69)

At 31 December   – – 
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6.  Other receivable
Non-current other receivable consists of VAT recoverable as a result of expenditures incurred in Russia. The 
receivables will be recovered between 2 and 5 years following production and sales of oil, gas and condensate 
from YGE’s Koshekhablskoye gas field.

7.  Investments
The net book value of unlisted investments comprises:
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Cost    

At 1 January and 31 December   5,617 5,617 

Accumulated impairment    

At 1 January and 31 December   5,617 5,617 

Carrying amount    

At 31 December   – – 

Full provision was made against investments in 2007 which comprise an investment in a Ukrainian oil and  
gas company. At the end of 2007 there were no clear development plans relating to the investment and this 
continues to be the position at 31 December 2011. The investment reflects a 10% holding of the Company’s 
ordinary share capital. 

8.  Inventories
 

   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Warehouse stocks and materials   1,182 841 

Oil and gas stocks   2,487 1,502

   3,669 2,343 

9.  Trade and other receivables
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Trade receivables   6,714 8,024 

Other receivables   4,745 8,035 

VAT receivable   7,314 6,849 

Prepayments   2,632 1,488

   21,405 24,396 

As of 31 December 2011, there were no trade receivables which were impaired (2010: nil). At this date there 
were no trade receivables past due (2010: nil).  

Included within Other receivables is an amount of $3.4m (2010: $5.2m) relating to the Group’s share of a 
receivable of HHE North Kft (HHN) that is unsecured, bears interest based on LIBOR plus a mark up and is 
expected to be repaid within 12 months of the reporting date. 

The Group’s Russian subsidiary had total VAT receivable of $29.7m as of the reporting date of which $5.5m  
has been classified as a current receivable as recovery is expected within 12 months of the reporting date.  
The remaining receivable of $24.2m has been classified as non-current (see note 6).

There is no difference between the carrying value of trade and other receivables and their fair value.

Group financial statements
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

US Dollar   5,418 4,427 

Sterling    575 758 

Euros   5,744 12,821 

Hungarian Forints   12 2,521 

Ukrainian Hryvnia   3,649 3,374 

Russian Roubles   6,007 495

   21,405 24,396 

10.  Cash and cash equivalents
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Cash   17,817 4,967 

Short term deposits   1,305 57,051

Cash and cash equivalents   19,122 62,018 

Restricted cash   9,777 _

Total   28,899 62,018 

Short term deposits comprise amounts which are held on deposit, but are readily convertible to cash.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash comprises two elements:

–   pursuant to the pre-paid swap transaction (see note 12), the Group holds $9.5m (2010: $nil) in an account at 
Barclays Bank PLC, which is treated as restricted cash as this account is not under the exclusive control of 
the Group and the Group does not have immediate direct access to the funds;

–   $0.3m (31 December 2010: $0.5m) of the cash held in Hungary at K & H Bank Zrt was restricted as under the 
Hungarian Mining Act the Group is required to deposit cash to cover compensation for any mine damage and 
the costs of recultivation, including environmental damage of the waste management facilities.

11.  Trade and other payables
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Trade payables   18,329 19,684 

Other payables   8,541 12,455 

Other taxes and social security costs   1,246 968 

VAT payable   3,789 3,973 

Deferred consideration relating to the acquisition of Yuzhgazenergie LLC (note below)  – 2,000 

Accruals   12,604 19,252

   44,509 58,332 

During the year $2.2m (2010: $3.0m) was paid to Mostotal as part of the deferred consideration for the 
acquisition of the Group’s Russian subsidiary, Yuzhgazenergie LLC. At 31 December 2011 the remaining deferred 
consideration is nil (2010: $2.0m).

Included within other payables is an amount of $4.0m (2010: $5.8m) relating to the Group’s share of a payable of 
HHE North Kft (HHN) and Horizon Nyirseg Kft that is unsecured, bears interest based on LIBOR plus a mark up 
and is expected to be repaid within 12 months of the reporting date.  
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12.  Borrowings
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Current     

Pre-paid swap   35,930 –

Term-loans repayable within one year   35,930 – 

Pre-paid Swap
The Group’s borrowings relate to a term loan (pre-paid swap) which the Group entered into on 14 June 2011 with 
Credit Suisse International. The transaction which secured $50m for capital expenditure and other purposes 
is repayable over an 18 month schedule commencing in September 2011, concluding with a final payment in 
November 2012. There is a zero coupon rate on the outstanding balance however under the transaction JKX has 
hedged forward sales of oil (see note 13).

The pre-paid swap is secured over the shares of all those Group subsidiaries which own, control or have an 
interest in the Group’s oil and gas licences.

Credit Facility
On 31 March 2011, Poltava Petroleum Company (PPC), our subsidiary in Ukraine, entered into a reducing credit 
facility agreement with Crédit Agricole CIB (France) secured by indemnity provided by the parent company, JKX 
Oil & Gas plc. The credit facility is for a maximum of Ukrainian Hryvnia equivalent of $15.0m but requires a cash 
deposit to match any facility used over $10.0m and will be available until 30 June 2012. All provisions contained 
in the credit facility documentation have been negotiated on normal commercial and customary terms for such 
finance arrangements. The interest is calculated at prevailing Crédit Agricole CIB (France) bank rate plus a 
margin.

13.  Derivative liability
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Current     

Derivative financial instruments   3,169 –

Total   3,169 – 

Pre-paid Swap
The pre-paid swap transaction with Credit Suisse International has been structured to enable its repayment by 
JKX from future sales of oil. Under this structure, JKX has sold forward 36,000 bbl/month of crude at $94.00 
Urals Med per barrel while retaining value if prices rise above $130 per bbl.

The Urals Med index is the closest international benchmark for the range of oil and gas produced by JKX and 
delivered in local markets. The volume allocated represented approximately 10% of the Group’s current daily 
production on a barrel of oil equivalent basis.

As the amount of consideration payable to Credit Suisse International will change in response to the change 
in the Urals Med index and will be settled in the future, the payable is treated as a derivative liability. For 
the purpose of hedge accounting the oil price hedge (forward sale) entered into during the period has been 
classified as cash flow hedge. The gains and losses taken to equity that were transferred to the consolidated 
income statement during the period were $1.1m (2010: nil). 

Group financial statements
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14.  Financial instruments

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities – Group
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial 
instruments. Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length 
transaction. Where available, market values have been used (this excludes short term assets and liabilities). 

 Book and Fair Value

   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents (note 10)   28,899 62,018 

Trade receivables (note 9) – classified as loans and receivables   6,714 8,024 

Other receivables (note 9) – classified as loans and receivables   4,745 8,035

Financial liabilities 

Trade payables (note 11) – carried at amortised cost    18,329 19,684 

Other payables (note 11) – carried at amortised cost   8,541 12,455 

Deferred consideration (note 11)   – 2,000 

Borrowings – Pre-paid swap (note 12)   35,930 –

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables of $11.5m (2010: $16.1m). Financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost are carried at $62.8m (2010: $34.1m).

There are no differences between the book value and fair value of any of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities.

The Group’s borrowings relate to a term loan (pre-paid swap).

The Group’s derivative financial instrument being the forward sale of 36,000 bbl/month of crude (see note 13) is 
recorded in the statement of financial position at 31 December 2011 at its fair value and is settled on a monthly 
basis through to November 2012. The value of the derivative is calculated by reference to forward market prices 
at the reporting date compared with the contract price. As it is derived from inputs other than quoted prices in 
active markets that are observable, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) it has 
been grouped into Level 2 within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Categorisation within the fair value 
measurement hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to its fair 
value measurement.

Credit risk – Group
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products are made to customers with appropriate credit 
worthiness. Where appropriate, the use of prepayment for product sales limits the exposure to credit risk. 
There is no difference between the carrying amount of trade and other receivables and the maximum credit 
risk exposure.

Liquidity risk – Group
The treasury function is responsible for liquidity, funding and settlement management under policies approved 
by the Board of Directors. Liquidity needs are monitored using regular forecasting of operational cash flows 
and financing commitments. The Group maintains a mixture of cash and cash equivalents, long-term debt and 
committed facilities in order to ensure sufficient funding for business requirements.

The following tables set out details of the expected contractual maturity of non-derivative financial liabilities.  
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows on an undiscounted basis. To the extent that interest 
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the reporting date.
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  Within 3 months  3 months – 1 year   Less than 1 year 
   $000  $000  $000

Group – 31 December 2011 

Maturity of financial liabilities 

Trade payables (note 11)  18,329  –  – 

Other payables (note 11)  8,541  –  – 

Borrowings – Pre-paid swap  10,000  30,500  –

 

Group – 31 December 2010 

Maturity of financial liabilities       

Trade payables (note 11)  19,684  –  – 

Other payables (note 11)  12,455  –  – 

Deferred consideration (note 11)  –  2,000  –

Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities – Group
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk principally in relation to the balance outstanding on the credit facility 
with Crédit Agricole CIB (France) where interest is calculated at prevailing Crédit Agricole CIB (France) bank rate 
plus a margin. The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December is as 
follows (excluding short-term assets and liabilities, non-interest bearing):

Group – Year ended 31 December 2011

     Within 1 Year Total Floating rate
     $000 $000

Short term deposits (note 10)   1,305 1,305  
Other receivables (note 9)   4,745 4,745 

Other payables (note 11)   (8,541) (8,541)

Group – Year ended 31 December 2010

     Within 1 Year Total Floating rate
     $000 $000

Short term deposits (note 10)   57,051 57,051  

Other receivables (note 9)   5,156 5,156 

Other payables (note 11)   (5,797) (5,797)

Floating rate financial assets comprise cash deposits placed on money markets at call, seven day and  
monthly rates.

Interest rate sensitivity – Group
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates on our short term 
deposits at the reporting date. There were no interest bearing loans at the reporting date.

If interest rates had been 1 per cent higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit 
after tax and net assets for the year ended 31 December 2011 would increase/decrease by $11,000 (2010: profit 
after tax would decrease/increase by $4,000, other equity reserves would increase/decrease by the same).  
1 per cent is the sensitivity rate used as it best represents management’s assessment of the possible change  
in interest rates that could apply to the Group.

Group financial statements
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Foreign currency exposures – Group
The table below shows the extent to which the Group has monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other 
than the functional currency of the operating company involved. These exposures give rise to the net currency 
gains and losses recognised in the income statement. 

As at 31 December the (liability)/asset foreign currency exposures were:

   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

US Dollar   (3,816) 7,185 

Sterling    (2,831) 21,912 

Euros   (709) (8,059) 

Hungarian Forints   313 109 

Ukrainian Hryvnia   234 9,970 

Bulgarian Leva   2,612 (51) 

Russian Roubles   145 366

Total net   (4,052) 31,432

Foreign currency sensitivity – Group
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency fluctuations of Ukraine (Hryvnia), Russia (Rouble) and UK 
(Sterling). The sensitivity analysis principally arises on money market deposits and working capital items held 
at the reporting date.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10 per cent increase and decrease in the US Dollar 
against the stated currencies and all other variables were held constant. 10 per cent is the sensitivity rate that 
best represents management’s assessment of the possible change in the foreign exchange rates affecting the 
Group. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and equity when the US Dollar weakens  
against the relevant currency. For a strengthening of the US Dollar against the relevant currency, there would 
be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be negative. 

 Hyrvnia Rouble Sterling

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 $000  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Profit/loss for the year and equity 

10 per cent strengthening of the US Dollar (21) (906) (13) (33) 257 (1,993) 

10 per cent weakening of the US Dollar 21 906 13 33 (257) 1,993

 
Commodity Risk – Group 
The Group is exposed to the effect of fluctuations in oil, gas and condensate prices and the risks relating to 
their fluctuation in are discussed on pages on page 47, together with the discussion of financial risk factors.

Commodity Sensitivity – Group 
No sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the exposure to oil prices for outstanding monetary items at the 
reporting date which comprises the pre-paid swap transaction with Credit Suisse International as this is an 
effective cash flow hedge.
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15.  Share capital
Equity share capital, denominated in Sterling, was as follows:

 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 
  Number £000 $000 Number £000 $000

Authorised 

Ordinary shares of 10p each 300,000,000 30,000  300,000,000 30,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid 

Opening balance of 1 January 172,020,477 17,202 26,649 157,513,880 15,751 24,335 

Placement of ordinary shares – – – 14,257,270 1,426 2,277 

Exercise of share options 50,000 5 8 249,327 25 37

Closing balance at 31 December 172,070,477 17,207 26,657 172,020,477 17,202 26,649 

Of which the following are shares held in treasury:

Treasury shares held at 1 January         
and 31 December 402,771 40 77 402,771 40 77 

The Company did not purchase any treasury shares during 2011 (2010: none) and no treasury shares were used 
in 2011 (2010: none) to settle share options. There are no shares reserved for issue under options or contracts. 
As at 31 December 2011 the market value of the treasury shares held was $0.8m (2010: $2.0m).

16.  Other reserves

Share	premium represents the amounts received by the Company on the issue of its shares which were in 
excess of the nominal value of the shares. On 26 January 2010 the Company completed a placing of 14,257,270 
new ordinary shares in the Company with institutions at a price of 265 pence per placing share. The placing 
raised $60.3m. Charges to share premium in 2010 include underwriting fees and other fees for the rights issue.

Merger	reserve was created on 30 May 1995 when JKX Oil & Gas plc acquired the issued share capital of 
JP Kenny Exploration & Production Limited for the issue of ordinary shares and represents the difference 
between the fair value of consideration given for the shares and the nominal value of those instruments.

Capital	redemption	reserve relates to the buyback of shares in 2002, there have been no additional share  
buy-backs since this time.

Equity	share	options	reserve relates to the fair value of the share options that have been expensed through 
the income statement since adoption of IFRS less amounts, if any, that have been transferred to the retained 
earnings upon exercise.

Foreign	currency	translation	reserve includes movements that relate to the retranslation of the subsidiaries 
whose functional currencies are not the US Dollar.

Hedge	reserve arises as a result of recognising the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as 
hedging instruments on the statement of financial position.

Retained	earnings represent the cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income less any amounts reflected directly in other reserves.

Group financial statements
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17.  Provisions
 Ukraine Russia Hungary Total Total
    2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 Provision for site restoration

    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

At 1 January  1,474 1,380 420 3,274 2,810 

Revision to estimate  – – – – 79 

Foreign exchange adjustment  – (73) (41) (114) (29) 

Additional wells drilled/wells restored  (55) – – (55) 278 

Unwinding of discount (note 20)  64 200 76 340 136

At 31 December    1,483 1,507 455 3,445 3,274 

The provision in respect of Ukraine represents the present value of the well and site restoration costs that are 
expected to be incurred up to 2024. The Russia provision results from the decommissioning of 12 wells (2010: 
12) and removal of plant as required by the licence obligation. Decommissioning is due to take place from 2014 
to 2060 (2010: 2014 to 2051). The provisions are made using the Group’s internal estimates that management 
believe form a reasonable basis for the expected future costs of decommissioning.

18.  Cost of sales 
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Operating costs   17,226 17,835 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation   32,347 33,238 

Production based taxes   67,102 5,219

   116,675 56,292 

Provision for impairment of oil and gas assets/write off of exploration costs   12,920 13,676 

Exceptional item – impairment of Russian assets (note 5(d) and (e))   – 74,600

   129,595 144,568 

Production based taxes have increased following a new tax code becoming effective in Ukraine on 1 January 
2011 (see note 25).

The 2011 provision for impairment of oil and gas assets/write off of exploration and evaluation costs of $12.9m 
(2010: $13.7m) comprises Bulgarian exploration and license costs for B-Golitza ($6.2m) and exploration and 
drilling costs incurred in Hungary in respect of our Turkeve licence ($6.7m).

The 2010 provision for impairment of oil and gas assets/write off of exploration costs of $13.7m (2009: $5.0m) 
includes Ukrainian assets, well Zaplavskoye 3 ($6.2m) which was dry and licence cost for Chervonoyarske 
($1.0m), additionally costs were written off in Hungary for Well Gy-3 ($1.9m) and Bulgarian wells, Staro 
Oryahovo ($1.1m) and Well Shkorpilovtci ($0.6m). A provision of $2.9m was also made against an asset held for 
Russia. The exceptional item consists of impairment of Russian assets, refer to note 5(d) for further details.

The cost of inventories (calculated by reference to production costs) expensed in cost of sales in 2011 was 
$115.3m (2010: $56.2m).

19.  Finance income
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Interest income on deposits   506 854 

Other   409 14

   915 868 
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20.  Finance costs
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Bank interest payable   512 307 

Borrowing costs amortisation and fees   3,206 – 

Unwinding of discount on site restoration (note 17)   340 136

   4,058 443 

Less: finance costs capitalised at 25.2% (2010: nil)*   (3,206) –

   852 443 

*Tax relief on capitalised interest is $0.8m (2010 nil). 

21.  Profit from operations – analysis of costs by nature
Profit from operations derives solely from continuing operations and is stated after charging the following:

   2011 2010  
    $000 $000

Depreciation – other assets    1,979 2,151 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation – oil and gas assets    32,348 33,238 

Staff costs (net of $6.4m (2010: $2.6m) capitalised, see note 23)   21,808 17,813 

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss   (460) 2,644 

Operating lease payments    

– property lease rentals   1,439 1,237 

– plant and equipment   622 500

During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s 
auditors as detailed below:

   2011 2010 Group auditors’ remuneration
   $000 $000

Audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements   239 294 

Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries    213 218

   452 512  
Audit related assurance services   110 160

Total assurance services   562 672 

Taxation advisory services   354 594 

Other non-audit services   5 5

   359 599 

   921 1,271 

Group financial statements
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22.  Obligations under leases
At the reporting date, the Group’s aggregate future minimum commitments under non-cancellable operating 
leases are as follows:
    2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Within one year   165 1,302 

In the second to fifth years inclusive   2,085 1,775 

After five years   1,994 486

   4,244 3,563 

Operating lease primarily relate to rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises and staff 
accommodation.

23.  Staff costs
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Wages and salaries   22,768 16,256 

UK social security costs   584 607 

Pension contributions   3,297 2,786 

Share based payments (equity-settled) (note 24)   1,569 775

   28,218 20,424 

Staff costs are shown gross and $6.4m (2010: $2.6m) is capitalised, representing time spent on exploration and 
development activities.

During the year, the average monthly number of employees was:

    2011 2010

Management/operational   769 655

Administration support   52 45

   821 700 

Included within management/operational are 5 (2010: 4) Directors on service contracts. Further details of the 
Directors and their remuneration is included on pages 74 to 83 which form part of these financial statements.

24.  Share-based payments

Share options
Share options are granted to Executive Directors and Senior Management based on performance criteria. 
The scheme rules are described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and repeated below. All share-based 
payments are equity settled.

At 31 December 2011, there were outstanding options under various employee share option schemes, 
exercisable during the years 2011 to 2021 (2010: 2011 to 2020), to acquire 2,759,824 (2010: 2,593,724) shares of 
the Company at prices ranging from £0.00 to £4.54 per share (2010: £0.00 to £4.54). The vesting period of the 
options is 3 years, with an exercise period of 7 years, making a 10 year maximum term.

The table on the following page illustrates the number and weighted average prices (WAEP) of, and movements 
in, share options during the year.
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 2011 2011 2010 2010 
  Number WAEP Number WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 2,593,724 211.63p 2,099,551 238.93p 

Granted during the year 887,800  204.33p  1,071,000 152p 

Surrendered/lapsed during the year (671,700)  277.60p  (327,500) 298p 

Exercised during the year 1 (50,000)  151.50p  (249,327) 71.96p

Outstanding at 31 December  2,759,824  194.32p  2,593,724 211.63p 

Exercisable at 31 December  297,924 128.38p 347,924   131.7p 
1 Weighted average market price at exercise 291.7p (2010: 402.7p)

For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2011, the weighted average remaining contractual life is  
7.7 years (2010: 8.0 years).

During the year share options were granted in accordance with the new share option schemes, the Discretionary 
Share Option Scheme (‘DSOS’) and the Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’), which were introduced in 2010. They 
reflect the best practice aspects recommended by the Association of British Insurers following the publication of 
their guidelines in March 2001 (the ‘ABI Guidelines’).

2011 Share Option Schemes

DSOS
The DSOS is made up of two parts. Options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company granted under Part A are 
‘Approved Options’ and options to acquire Shares granted under Part B of the DSOS are ‘Unapproved Options’. 
No consideration shall be payable for the grant of an Option.

575,900 (2010: 675,500) options were granted under DSOS in 2011. The exercise price of options granted under 
DSOS is 315p. For these options to vest there has to be an increase in the Group’s Earnings Per Share (‘EPS’) 
growth over the performance period measured over the 3 consecutive calendar years commencing from the 
date the options were granted. The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year under the 
DSOS was 159.6p per option.

PSP
PSP are granted solely to Executive Directors. Subject to shareholder approval at the AGM, Executive Directors 
will receive awards under the 2010 Performance Share Plan in the form of nil cost options. No consideration is 
required to be paid for the grant or exercise of an Option.

311,900 (2010: 395,500) options were granted under PSP in 2011. The PSP options provide a conditional right to 
acquire shares at nil cost subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions and continued employment  
with the Group. For these options to vest a comparison is performed between the Group’s TSR against the FTSE 
250 index (half the options) and the All-Share Oil & Gas Producers index (other half of options). The weighted 
average fair value of options granted during the year under the PSP was 184.3p per option.

Pre 2011 Share Option Schemes
In 2009, share options were granted in accordance with The New Approved Share Option Scheme and the 
New Unapproved Share Option Scheme (collectively the ‘2001 Share Option Schemes’) that were introduced in 
2001. They reflect the best practice aspects recommended by the Association of British Insurers following the 
publication of their guidelines in March 2001 (the ‘ABI Guidelines’).

The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2009 under the New Approved Share Option Scheme and 
the New Unapproved Share Option Scheme was 56.90p per option.

Fair value of share options granted
The fair value of options granted under the DSOS is estimated as at the date of grant using a variance of the 
Binomial model, taking into account terms and conditions upon which the options are granted, which includes 
the performance condition related to the Company’s earnings per share directly. No dividends are paid on 
shares under the scheme prior to exercise.

Group financial statements
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The fair value of options granted under the PSP is estimated as at the date of grant using a variant of the Monte 
Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options are granted, which includes 
the performance condition related to the TSR directly. No dividends are paid on shares under the scheme prior 
to exercise.

The fair value of share options previously granted under the 2001 Share Option Schemes is estimated as at the  
date of grant using a variant of the standard binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options are granted, which includes the performance condition related to the Company’s share 
price directly. The performance condition based on performance relative to other companies is modeled with a 
Monte Carlo model.

The total share based payment charge for the year was $1.6m (2010: $0.8m).

The table below lists the inputs to the model used for the options granted in the years ended 31 December 
2011 and 31 December 2010. The expected future volatility has been determined by reference to the historical 
volatility.

  2011 2010 2011 2010  
 DSOS DSOS PSP PSP

Dividend yield (%) 1.60 2.10 1.60 2.10 

Expected share price volatility (%) 65.00 66.00 65.00 66.00 

Risk free interest rate (%) 1.90 1.70 1.90 1.50 

Exercise price (pence) 315.00p 241.00p 0.00p 0.00p 

Expected life of option (years) 3.40 3.40 3.00 3.00 

Weighted average share price (pence) 239.93p 288.30p 239.93p 288.30p

Bonus scheme
The performance criteria of the Directors and senior employees bonus payments includes a component that 
relates directly to JKX’s share performance over the vesting period and a component which relates to the 
performance of JKX share price in relation to the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index. The full details of the bonus 
performance criteria are explained in the Remuneration Report on pages 74 to 83. This component of the bonus 
accrued for 2011 was nil (2010: $0.9m which was paid in January 2011). The Executive Directors agreed to defer 
half of the Bonus earned into JKX shares until 31 March 2013 and are subject to claw back in the event that 
certain performance conditions relating to the Koshekhablskoye gas field are not satisfied.

25.  Taxation

   2011 2010 Analysis of tax on profit
   $000 $000

Current tax     

UK – current tax   – – 

Overseas – current year   21,769 30,288

Current tax total   21,769 30,288 

Deferred tax     

UK   2,121 (5,737) 

Overseas – current year   (1,083) (24,915) 

Overseas – prior year   133 –

Deferred tax total   1,171 (30,652) 

Total taxation    22,940 (364) 
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Factors that affect the total tax charge
The total tax charge/(credit) for the year of $22.9m (2010:$0.4m) is higher (2010: lower) than the average rate of 
UK corporation tax of 26.5% (2010: 28%). The differences are explained below:

   2011 2010 Total tax reconciliation
   $000 $000

Profit before tax     82,077 20,792

Tax calculated at 26.5% (2010: 28%)   21,750 5,822 

Other fixed asset differences   179 68 

Net change in unrecognised losses carried forward   2,197 (2,295) 

Other temporary differences   806 1,135 

Permanent foreign exchange differences   392 140 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions   (2,958) 2,618 

Other non-deductible expenses    2,446 2,775 

Recognition of prior period losses    (24) (7,549)

Total excluding impact of change in tax rates, tax losses of prior year  
not previously recognised and impairment and write down of fixed assets   24,788 2,714 

Effect of changes in tax rates    (3,415) (4,945) 

Impairment of oil and gas assets/write off of exploration costs   1,567 1,867

Total tax charge/(credit)    22,940 (364) 

No liability to UK taxation has arisen during the year (2010: $nil) due to the availability of tax losses and relief 
for overseas taxes paid on dividends received. The current tax charged in the period relates to Ukrainian 
corporation tax which has arisen in the Group subsidiary, Poltava Petroleum Company. Taxes charged on 
production of hydrocarbons in Ukraine and Hungary are included in cost of sales (see note 18).

Factors that may affect future tax charges
A significant proportion of the Group’s income will be generated overseas. Profits made overseas will not be able 
to be offset by costs elsewhere in the Group. This could lead to a higher than expected tax rate for the Group.

The main rate of UK corporation tax effective from 1 April 2011 was reduced from 27% to 26%. The 2012 Budget 
announced a reduction to the main rate of UK corporation tax from 26% to 24% from 1 April 2012 and proposes 
to make further reductions to the main rate of 1% per annum to 22% by 1 April 2014. The impact of the rate 
reduction is not expected to have a material impact on provided and unprovided UK deferred taxation.

In December 2010 a new Ukrainian tax rate was introduced. New corporation tax rates in the Ukraine for 2011 
are as follows: from 1 January 2011 to 31 March 2011 – 25%; from 1 April 2011 to 31 December 2011 – 23%;and 
the expected corporation tax rates in 2012 – 21%; in 2013 – 19%; after 31 December 2013 – 16%. 

Taxation in Ukraine – production taxes
The Group is subject to uncertainties relating to the determination of its tax liabilities. Ukrainian tax legislation 
and practice are in a state of continuous development, with new laws coming into effect at times which can 
conflict with others and, therefore, are subject to varying interpretations and changes which may be applied 
retrospectively. Management’s interpretation of tax legislation as applied to the transactions and activities 
of the Group may at times not coincide with that of the tax authorities. As a result, the tax authorities may 
challenge transactions and the Group may be assessed for additional taxes, penalties and fines which could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position and results of operations.

Since PPC’s inception in 1994 the Company has operated in a regime where conflicting laws have often existed, 
including in relation to effective taxes on oil and gas production. Various laws and regulations have existed and 
have implied a number of variable rates.

PPC has at times since 1994 sought clarification of their status regarding a number of production related 
taxes, and has been subject to a number of such taxes, at various rates, which have been paid and accounted 
for within Operating Costs within the Group Income Statement. In late 2009, coinciding with the lead up to 
the Presidential election in Ukraine, PPC was subjected to increased operational pressures in several areas, 
including broader taxation.

Group financial statements
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On 1 January 2010 yet another law came into force in Ukraine in the area of production related tax, the Law of 
Ukraine on ‘On Rent Charges for Oil, Natural Gas and Gas Condensate’ which had been suspended since 2004. 
During 2010 conflicting laws (most particularly the Law of Ukraine on ‘Amending Certain Legislative Acts of 
Ukraine’) which may be a basis for the Ukrainian Tax Authorities to assert that further production related taxes 
are due from various oil and gas companies, including PPC for periods through to 31 December 2010.

PPC continues to defend itself in court against action initiated by the tax authorities concerning rules of 
calculation and payment of various production related taxes for periods from January to March 2007. The 
statutory period of limitation in Ukraine for such matters is three years. If PPC was subject to maximum 
production related taxes for the periods from January to March 2007 and from April 2009 to December 2010, 
additional production related taxes could be approximately twenty per cent of Ukraine gross revenues for those 
periods (net of corporate tax savings), plus interest and penalties. The Group considers that the likelihood of 
additional production related taxes for the period from January 2008 to March 2009 is remote on the basis 
of tax audits completed, the related legal position and the three year statute of limitation. The Group would 
exhaustively challenge the payment of any further production related taxes (over and above those it has already 
paid) for the period through 31 December 2010. Given the lack of clarity over the legal position together with 
arguments that the Group has to defend its position, the Group considers that no payments are likely to be 
made in the next 12 months.

A new tax code became effective in Ukraine on 1 January 2011 replacing most of the previous tax laws. The new 
tax code has removed uncertainty over the applicability of rental fee payment by PPC from 2011 and accordingly 
PPC has paid $67.1m during the year (2010: nil) (see note 18). The fees are levied on production volumes in 
accordance with a rates schedule which may change from time to time. Such payments are recorded in Cost  
of sales.

26.  Deferred tax
 Assets Liabilities Net

   2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 Provided deferred taxation – net
   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Fixed asset differences   – – 13,061 17,049 13,061 17,049 

Other temporary differences   (4,809) (7,967) – – (4,809) (7,967) 

Tax losses   (8,623) (10,624) – – (8,623) (10,624)

Net deferred tax asset       (371) (1,542) 

A deferred tax liability of $12.1m (2010: $11.5m) arises in respect of PPC's activities and $1.2m (2010: $0.5m) in 
respect of Hungarian activities.

A deferred tax asset of $3.8m (2010: $5.7m) has been recognised in respect of brought forward UK losses,  
$7.9m (2010: $4.9m) in respect of Yuzhgaznergie LLC comprising Russian tax losses. 

The movement on the deferred tax account, without taking into account the offsetting of tax in the same 
jurisdiction, is as follows:
    1 January  Charge/(credit)   31 December 
    2011  the year  2011 
    $000  $000  $000

Deferred tax liabilities 

Fixed assets differences    14,997  1,205  16,202 

Deferred tax assets 

Other temporary differences    (7,967)  3,158  (4,809) 

Net change in recognised losses carried forward   (8,572)  (3,192)  (11,764)

    (16,539)  (34)  (16,573)

Net deferred tax movement    (1,542)  1,171  (371) 

The main rate of UK corporation tax effective from 1 April 2011 was reduced from 27% to 26% and from 26% 
to 24% from 1 April 2012. Deferred tax has therefore been provided at 25% based on when the deferred tax is 
expected to unwind and the substantively enacted rate at the reporting date. 
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New corporation tax rates in the Ukraine for 2011 were as follows: from 1 January 2011 to 31 March 2011 – 25%; 
from 1 April 2011 to 31 December 2011– 23%; and the expected corporation tax rates in 2012 – 21%; in 2013 – 
19%; after 31 December 2013 – 16%. 

The deferred tax asset in respect of Ukrainian corporation tax has been recognised with due consideration of the 
tax rate effective on the expected unwinding of those temporary differences.

       2011 2010 Unprovided deferred taxation
       $000 $000

Tax losses       (3,241) (4,023) 

Fixed asset differences       (3,365) (2,008) 

Other temporary differences       (112) (187)

       (6,718) (6,218) 

$39.7m (2010: $23.6m) of the tax losses will expire principally between 2017 and 2021 (2010: 2017 and 2020). 
There is no expiry date on the remaining tax losses of $15.1m. The deductible temporary differences do not 
expire under current tax legislation. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the unprovided deferred taxation items because it is 
not probable that future taxable profit will be available to utilise these deductible temporary differences.

27.  Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the parent is based on  
the following data:

  2011  2010 
Earnings  $000  $000

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share  
(profit for the year attributable to the owners of the parent):   

Before exceptional item  59,137  81,256 

After exceptional item  59,137  21,156

Number of shares  2011  2010

Basic weighted average number of shares  172,067,737  170,865,583 

Dilutive potential ordinary shares:  

Share options  767,342  815,147

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share  172,835,079  171,680,730 

Earnings before exceptional item in 2010 of $81,256,000 is calculated from the 2010 earnings of $21,156,000 
and adding back the exceptional item of $74,600,000 less the related deferred tax on the exceptional item of 
$14,500,000.

There were 2,759,824 (2010: 2,593,724) outstanding share options at 31 December 2011, of which 766,518  
(2010: 744,988) have a dilutive effect. 

28.  Dividends
In respect of the full year 2010 a final dividend of 2.6 pence per share was paid to shareholders on 24 June 2011 
(in respect of the full year 2009: 2.7 pence per share on 11 June 2010); no interim dividend for 2011 was paid 
(2010: 2.4 pence per share). 

Total dividends paid during the year were 2.6 pence per share (2010: 5.0 pence per share) and amounted to 
$7.2m (2010: $13.2m).

In respect of the full year 2011, the Directors do not propose any final dividend (2010: 2.6 pence per share).  
The total estimated dividend to be paid is $nil (2010: $7.2m). 

Group financial statements
Notes	to	the	financial	statements	continued	
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29.  Reconciliation of profit from operations to net cash inflow from operations
   2011 2010 
    $000 $000

Profit from operations   82,014 20,367 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation   34,327 35,388 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets   12,920 88,276 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (9) – 

Share-based payment costs   1,569 775

Cash generated from operations before changes in working capital   130,821 144,806 

Increase in operating trade and other receivables   (804) (12,954) 

Increase in operating trade and other payables   (4,540) 14,559 

Increase in inventories   (1,327) (140)

Cash generated from operations   124,150 146,271 

30.  Capital commitments
Under the work programmes for the Group’s exploration and development licenses the Group had committed 
$4.0m to future capital expenditure on drilling rigs and facilities at 31 December 2011 (2010: $3.8m).

31.  Related party transactions
The Group has taken the exemption under IAS 24 to not disclose related party transactions between wholly 
owned entities of the Group and joint ventures, which are related parties, and which have been eliminated on 
consolidation.

Key management personnel are considered to comprise only the Directors. The remuneration of Directors 
during the year was as follows:
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Short-term benefits   2,928 2,611 

Post-employment benefits   254 239 

Share-based payments, equity settled    1,104 527

   4,286 3,377 

Further information about the remuneration of individual Directors, together with the Directors’ interests in the 
share capital of JKX Oil & Gas plc, is provided in the audited part of the Remuneration Report on pages 74 to 83.

Share-based payments represents the expenses arising from share-based payments included in the income 
statement, determined based on the fair value of the related awards at the date of grant (note 24).

Subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities
The Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings including the name, country of incorporation and proportion  
of ownership interest for each are disclosed in note B to the Company’s separate financial statements which 
follow these consolidated financial statements. Transactions between subsidiaries and between the Company 
and its subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation. HHE North Kft which is a Hungarian registered company 
which is the only proportionally consolidated entity; refer to note 32 for further details.
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32.  Joint ventures 
In 2010, the Group acquired 50% of the share capital of Horizon Nyirseg Kft (HNY), a Hungarian registered 
company set up for the purpose of holding the Nyirseg licence. In September of 2011 HNY was merged with 
HHE North Kft (HHN), a Hungarian registered company set up for the purpose of holding the Hernad I and 
Hernad II Licences. The ultimate holding of the merged entity remained unchanged with JKX holding a 50% 
interest; the Group’s accounting treatment was also maintained with treatment of the merged asset as a jointly 
controlled entity. The results of HHN have been proportionally consolidated.

The following amounts represent the Group’s 50 percent share of the revenue and expenses and assets and 
liabilities of HHN for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011:

   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Revenue   11,287 14,613 

Expenses   9,687 10,351 

Profit after tax   1,600 4,262

Non-current assets   

Property, plant and equipment   18,738 18,941

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents   288 617 

Other current assets   2,558 5,108

   2,846 5,725 
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables   (3,321) (4,560) 

Short term loan   (7,473) (10,953)

Non-current liabilities   

Other non-current liabilities    (300) (265)

 
33.  Events after the reporting date 
Since the reporting date we have continued to progress our exploration and business growth strategies. 

In March 2012 we successfully completed and tested exploration well Z-04 in the Zaplavskoye exploration 
licence in Poltava, Ukraine. On completion of a 36-hour multi-choke test, well Z-04 flowed gas and condensate 
and was tied back to the main Novo-Nikolaevskoye complex processing facility with a 9km flow line and placed 
on production. 

In Hungary, Pely-02 well was drilled in January but with disappointing results: the primary target reservoir 
interval was poorly developed and a secondary objective, while evidently gas bearing, had insufficient reservoir 
quality to justify completing and testing. The well has been plugged and abandoned and the costs of the well 
will be written off in 2012. The decision to drill the second well has been deferred pending further study of the 
seismic and Pely-02 well correlation.

Also in March 2012 we announced that our wholly owned Russian subsidiary, YGE, signed a sales agreement 
with Kubangazifikatziya for the sale of 100% of the gas produced in 2012 from its Koshekhablskoye field in 
southern Russia. 

Kubangazifikatziya is a large Krasnodar-based gas trading company which has been active in the 
wholesale supply of gas and LPG products since 2008. Kubangazifikatziya will take delivery of gas from the 
Koshekhablskoye field at the export flange and will be responsible for transport through the Gazprom pipeline 
network to end users.

Group financial statements
Notes	to	the	financial	statements	continued	
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We have audited the parent company financial 
statements of JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year ended  
31 December 2011 which comprise Company balance 
sheet and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of Directors  
and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities on page 85 the Directors 
are responsible for the preparation of the parent 
company financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an opinion on the parent 
company financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the company’s members 
as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by 
our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the  
financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes 
an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant account-
ing estimates made by the Directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, 
we read all the financial and non-financial information 
in the Annual Report to identify material inconsist-
encies with the audited financial statements. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstate-
ments or inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the parent company financial 
statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 31 December 2011;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

• the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited 
has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006; and 

• the information given in the Directors’ Report for 
the financial year for which the parent company 
financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the parent company financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us 
to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept 
by the parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements and the 
part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are 
not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. 

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the group financial 
statements of JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year ended 
31 December 2011.

Jason Burkitt (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
27 March 2012

Notes:

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the JKX Oil & Gas plc 
website is the responsibility of the Directors; the work 
carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration 
of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to 
the financial statements since they were initially 
presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Independent	Auditors’	Report	to	the	members	of	JKX	Oil	&	Gas	plc	
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Company financial statements
Company	balance	sheet	–	UK	GAAP
as at year ended 31 December	

   2011 2010 
   Note $000 $000

FIXED ASSETS     

Tangible assets   38 42 

Investments  B 117 6,769

   155 6,811

CURRENT ASSETS     

Debtors – amounts falling due within one year   C 23,277  5,559  

Debtors – amounts falling due after more than one year    

– Amounts owed by group undertakings  C 450,059 350,249 

– Deferred tax assets   D 1,128 5,737 

Restricted cash   9,504 – 

Cash at bank and in hand    5,321 24,246

   489,289 385,791 

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year  E (119,082) (72,868)

Net current assets    370,207 312,923

Net assets   370,362 319,734 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES     

Called – up share capital  F 26,657 26,649 

Share premium account  F 97,476 97,363 

Other reserves:     

– Capital redemption reserve  F 587 587 

– Equity – share options  F 4,017 2,448 

– Equity – foreign currency translation  F (1,090) (1,090) 

Profit and loss account  F 242,715 193,777

Total shareholders’ funds  F 370,362 319,734 

These financial statements on pages 127 to 136 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2012 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Dr Paul Davies Cynthia Dubin 
Director Director
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A.  Presentation of the financial statements

Basis of preparation
The financial statements been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified for financial 
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss 
and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 
and applicable accounting standards in the United 
Kingdom. 

The financial statements has been prepared on a 
going concern basis following review by the Directors 
of forecast cash flows for the next 12 months from 
the date of approval of these financial statements. 
In making their assessment the Directors have 
considered sensitivities to their forecast cash flows 
from investments including reducing forecast oil and 
gas realisations, and increasing costs.

The Company’s principal accounting policies are 
summarised below and have been applied consistently 
throughout the year and the preceding year.

Tangible assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historic purchase 
cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes 
the original purchase price of the asset and the costs 
attributable to bringing the asset to its working 
condition for its intended use. Depreciation is 
calculated to write off the cost of tangible fixed 
assets, less their residual values, over their 
expected useful lives using the straight line basis.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, 
less estimated residual value, over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight-line method, for the 
following classes of assets:

Fixtures and fittings  – 5 to 10 years
Computer equipment  – 3 years
Other equipment  – 5 to 10 years

Investments
Investments are initially measured at historic cost, 
including transaction costs, and stated at cost 
less impairment losses. The Company assesses 
investments for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value of an investment may not be recoverable. If any 
such indication of impairment exists, the Company 
makes an estimate of its recoverable amount.  
Where the carrying amount of an investment 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the investment 
is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Exchange differences arising 
on the translation of monetary items are taken to 

the profit and loss account. Non-monetary items 
are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign 
currency and are translated using the exchange 
rates of the original transaction.

The presentation and functional currency of the 
Company is the US Dollar. The US$/£ exchange rate 
used for the revaluation of the closing balance sheet 
at 31 December 2011 was $1/£0.6 (2010: $1/£0.6).

Share based payments
The Company issues equity-settled share-based 
payments to the Directors and Senior Management. 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured 
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value in 
the Company is determined at the grant date of 
the equity-settled share-based payments and is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on the Company’s estimate of shares 
that will eventually vest. At each subsequent balance 
sheet date the Company calculates the estimated 
cumulative charge for each award having regard 
to any change in the number of options that are 
expected to vest and the expired portion of the 
vesting period. The movement in cumulative expense 
since the previous reporting date relating to awards 
for services to subsidiaries is expensed in the 
income statement of those subsidiaries. Once an 
option vests, no further adjustment is made to the 
aggregate amount expensed. The corresponding 
entry is shown in equity in the Company. The fair 
value which is calculated using the binomial model 
takes into account two performance criteria, being 
the actual increase in the Company’s share price 
and a comparison of the actual increase in the share 
price to the change in FTSE FI until the end of June 
2004, the FTSE SI until the end of February 2006 and 
the higher of the FTSE 250I and the FTSE Oil & Gas 
Producers Index subsequent to that. The expected 
life of the options depends on the behaviour of the 
option holders, which is incorporated into the option 
model consistent with historic data.

Leasing
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the relevant lease. The Company 
has no finance leases.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised on the Company’s balance sheet when 
the Company becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Derivative financial instruments
The Company accounts for derivative financial 
instruments in line with FRS 29 – ‘Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures’ and FRS 26 – ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.

Company financial statements
Notes	to	the	Company	financial	statements
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During the period the Company has used a derivative 
financial instrument (derivative) to manage its 
exposure to oil price fluctuations. The pre-paid swap 
transaction with Credit Suisse International has 
been structured to enable repayment by JKX from 
future sales of oil. Under this structure, JKX has sold 
forward 36,000 bbl/month of crude to November 
2012. This derivative is initially recorded at cost, 
including transaction costs and subsequently carried 
at fair value. All changes in fair value are recorded 
as financial income or expense in the year in which 
they arise.

Any such derivative is initially recorded at fair value 
on the date at which the contract is entered into 
and subsequently re-measured at fair value on 
subsequent reporting dates.

A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

Fair value is the amount for which a financial asset, 
liability or instrument could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s 
length transaction. It is determined by reference 
to quoted market prices adjusted for estimated 
transaction costs that would be incurred in an actual 
transaction, or by the use of established estimation 
techniques such as option pricing models and 
estimated discounted values of cash flows.

Bank loans
Bank loans are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective 
yield basis. The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

Debtors
Debtors are recognised initially at fair value and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, reduced 
by any provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment of trade receivables is established when 
there is objective evidence that the Company will 
not be able to collect all amounts due. Indicators of 
impairment would include financial difficulties of the 
debtor, likelihood of the debtor’s insolvency, default 
in payment or a significant deterioration in credit 
worthiness. Any impairment is recognised in the 
income statement within ‘Administrative expenses’.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash in hand and 

current balances with banks and similar institutions, 
which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash. Cash equivalents are short-term with 
an original maturity of less than 3 months, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash is disclosed separately on the face of 
the balance sheet and denoted as restricted when it 
is not under the exclusive control of the Company.

Creditors
Creditors are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method if the time value of 
money is significant.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are 
classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Company after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the 
Company are recorded at the proceeds received net 
of direct issue costs.

Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid 
to the Company’s shareholders. Final dividends are 
recognised when they are approved by shareholders.

Treasury shares
The consideration paid for shares repurchased 
by the Company and held as treasury shares is 
recognised as a reduction in shareholders’ funds 
through the profit and loss account reserve. No gain 
or loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Related parties
The Company is exempt under the terms of Financial 
Reporting Standard 8, Related Party Transactions, 
from disclosing related party transactions with 
wholly owned entities of the JKX Group.

Cash flow statement
The Company financial statements are included 
within the publicly available consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. Consequently, the Company 
has not prepared a cash flow statement under the 
exemption provided by Financial Reporting Standard 1.

Tax
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and 
foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be 
paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.
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Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences that have originated but not reversed 
at the balance sheet date where transactions or 
events have occurred at that date that will result 
in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less 
or to receive more tax. The exception to this is that 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that the Directors consider that it is more likely than 
not that there will be suitable taxable profits from 
which the future reversal of the underlying timing 
differences can be deducted.

B.  Fixed asset investments
The net book value of unlisted fixed asset investments comprise:

    2011 
    $000

Cost    

At 1 January     6,769 

Addition    28 

Repayment of share capital by a subsidiary    (6,680)

At 31 December    117 

Amounts provided     

At 1 January    –

At 31 December    – 

Net book amount    

At 31 December     117 

Company financial statements
Notes	to	the	Company	financial	statements	continued

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
periods in which timing differences reverse, based 
on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.  
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At 31 December 2011, the principal subsidiary undertakings of JKX Oil & Gas plc were:

  % held Country of 
  (ordinary incorporation and 
Name Business shares) area of operation

Adygea Gas B.V.  Holding 100.00 Netherlands

Baltic Catering Services Oil & gas services 100.00 Ukraine

Baltic Energy Trading Limited* Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 UK

Eastern Ukrainian Pipeline Ltd  Oil & gas services 100.00 Ukraine

EuroDril Limited Oil & gas exploration, production and services 100.00 UK

JKX Bulgaria Ltd* Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 UK

JKX Bulkan BG EAD Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Bulgaria

JKX Carpathian BV Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Netherlands

JKX Hungary BV  Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Netherlands

JKX (Navtobi) Limited Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Cyprus

JKX (Nederland) B.V.  Finance and Holding 100.00 Netherlands

JKX Ondava BV Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Netherlands

JKX Rusland BV Finance 100.00 Netherlands

JKX Services Limited* Services 100.00 UK

JKX Slovakia BV Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Netherlands

JKX Ukraine BV  Finance and Holding 100.00 Netherlands

JP Kenny Exploration & Production Limited*  Finance and Holding 100.00  UK 

Kharkiv Investment Company  Holding 100.00 Ukraine

PAGE Gas Ltd* Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 UK

Poltava Gas B.V. Holding 100.00 Netherlands

Poltava Petroleum Company  Oil & gas exploration and production 100.00 Ukraine

Shevchenko Farm Land lease 62.00 Ukraine

Southern Russia Gas B.V. Finance 100.00 Netherlands

Southern Russia Gas Coöperatief W.A Finance and Holding 100.00 Netherlands

Trans-European Energy Services Limited*  Oil & gas exploration, production and services 100.00 UK

Yuzhgazenergie LLC Oil & gas exploration, production and services 100.00 Russia

* Held directly by JKX Oil & Gas plc. All other companies are held through subsidiary undertakings.

In the opinion of the Directors the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.
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C.  Debtors
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Amounts falling due within one year     

Amounts owed by group undertakings   23,096 5,157 

Other debtors   129 366 

Prepayments   52 36

   23,277 5,559

Amounts falling due after more than one year     

Amounts owed by group undertakings   450,059 350,249

$462.8m (2010: $351.0m) owed by subsidiary undertakings bears interest based on LIBOR plus a mark up and is 
not secured. Amounts owed by group undertakings falling due within one year include a provision for impairment 
is nil (2010: $7.4m). The amounts determined as individually impaired were balances due from group subsidiary 
undertakings where the future cash flows from these companies were determined to be unlikely to be sufficient 
to repay the amounts owed.  

D.  Deferred tax
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

At 1 January    5,737 – 

Profit and loss account transfers   (4,609) 5,737

At 31 December   1,128 5,737

Deferred tax asset comprises:   

Losses carried forward to future periods   1,128 5,737

   1,128 5,737

   2011 2010 Unprovided deferred tax
   $000 $000

Tax losses   – – 

Fixed asset differences   (9) (7) 

Other timing differences   (82) (130)

   (91) (137) 

Neither the deductible timing differences nor the tax losses expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax 
assets have not been recognised in respect of the unprovided deferred taxation items because it is not probable 
that future taxable profit will be available to utilise these deductible timing differences.

The main rate of UK corporation tax effective from 1 April 2011 was reduced from 27% to 26%. The 2012 Budget 
announced a reduction to the main rate of UK corporation tax from 26% to 24% from 1 April 2012 and proposes 
to make further reductions to the main rate of 1% per annum to 22% by 1 April 2014. The impact of the rate 
reduction is not expected to have a material impact on provided and unprovided UK deferred taxation.

 

Company financial statements
Notes	to	the	Company	financial	statements	continued
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E.  Creditors
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Amounts falling due within one year     

Bank loan   35,930 – 

Derivative liability   3,169 – 

Amounts owed to group undertakings   79,430 72,132 

Other creditors   407 662 

Accruals   146 74

   119,082 72,868 

The Company’s Bank loan relates to a term loan (pre-paid swap) which the Company entered into on 14 June 
2011 with Credit Suisse International. This was structured to enable repayment by the Company from future 
sales of oil in the Group. Under this structure, the Company has sold forward 36,000 bbl/month of crude at 
$94.00 Urals Med per barrel while retaining value if prices rise above $130 per bbl. This derivative (forward 
sale) was initially recorded at cost, including transaction costs and subsequently carried at fair value and is 
settled on a monthly basis through to November 2012. All changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss in 
the year in which they arise.  

The fair value is determined using forward oil price curves which represent the Company’s estimates of the 
prices at which a buyer or seller could contract today for delivery of oil or settlement of an oil-price contract, at 
future dates. The Company has based forward price curves upon readily obtainable market price quotations,  
as the oil contract does not extend beyond the actively traded portion of these curves. 

In 2011, $2.9m charge was recognised in the Company profit and loss account in respect of the fair value 
movements in the derivative.

F.  Called up share capital and movements in total shareholders’ funds
Share capital, denominated in Sterling, was as follows:

 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 
 Number £000 $000 Number £000 $000

Authorised       

Ordinary shares of 10p each  300,000,000 30,000  300,000,000 30,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid       

Opening balance at 1 January 172,020,477 17,202 26,649 157,513,880 15,751 24,335 

Placement of ordinary shares – – – 14,257,270 1,426 2,277 

Exercise of share options  50,000 5 8 249,327 25 37

Closing balance at 31 December  172,070,477 17,207 26,657 172,020,477 17,202 26,649 

Of which the following are shares held in treasury:

Treasury shares held at 1 January         
and 31 December 402,771 40 77 402,771 40 77 

The Company did not purchase any treasury shares during 2011 (2010: none). There were no treasury shares 
used in 2011 (2010: none) to settle share options. There are no shares reserved for issue under options or 
contracts. As at 31 December 2011 the market value of the treasury shares held was $0.8m (2010: $2.0m). 
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Movements in the shareholders’ funds during the period were as follows:

     Equity Foreign  Total 
   Share Capital share currency Profit and share- 
  Called up premium redemption options translation loss holders’ 
  share capital account reserve reserve reserve account funds 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

At 1 January 2010  24,335 41,317 587 1,673 (1,090) 148,707 215,529 

Issue of employee share options  37 230 – – – – 267 

Issue of ordinary shares  2,277 58,064 – – – – 60,341 

Transaction cost for issue of ordinary shares – (2,248) – – – – (2,248) 

Share option charge  – – – 775 – – 775 

Profit for the financial year  – – – – – 58,229 58,229 

Dividend  – – – – – (13,159) (13,159)

At 31 December 2010  26,649 97,363 587 2,448 (1,090) 193,777 319,734 

At 1 January 2011  26,649 97,363 587 2,448 (1,090) 193,777 319,734

Exercise of employee share options  8 113 – – – – 121 

Share option charge  – – – 1,569 – – 1,569 

Profit for the financial year  – – – – – 56,145 56,145 

Dividend  – – – – – (7,207) (7,207)

At 31 December 2011  26,657 97,476 587 4,017 (1,090) 242,715 370,362 

G.  Profit and loss
The Company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, to not present the 
parent company profit and loss account. The net profit for the parent company was $56.1m prior to the payment 
of dividends (2010: $58.2m prior to payment of dividends).

H.  Share-based payments

Share options 
Share options are granted to Executive Directors and Senior Management based on performance criteria. 
The scheme rules are described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and repeated below. All share-based 
payments are equity settled.

At 31 December 2011, there were outstanding options under various employee share option schemes, 
exercisable during the years 2012 to 2021 (2010: 2011 to 2020), to acquire 2,759,824 (2010: 2,593,724) shares of the 
Company at prices ranging from £0.00 to £4.54 per share (2010: £0.00 to £4.54). The vesting period of the options 
is 3 years, with an exercise period of 7 years, making a 10 year maximum term.

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share 
options during the year.

 2011 2011 2010 2010  
 Number WAEP Number WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 2,593,724 211.63p 2,099,551 238.93p 

Granted during the year 887,800 204.33p 1,071,000 152p 

Surrendered/lapsed during the year (671,700) 277.60p (327,500) 298p 

Exercised during the year 1 (50,000) 151.50p (249,327) 71.96p

Outstanding at 31 December  2,759,824 194.32p 2,593,724 211.63p

Exercisable at 31 December   297,924 128.38p 347,924 131.70p 
 
1.  Weighted average market price at exercise 291.7p (2010: 402.7p)

Company financial statements
Notes	to	the	Company	financial	statements	continued
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For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2011, the weighted average remaining contractual life is  
7.7 years (2010: 8.0 years).

During the year share options were granted in accordance with the new share option schemes, the 
Discretionary Share Option Scheme (‘DSOS’) and the Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’), which were introduced 
in 2010. They reflect the best practice aspects recommended by the Association of British Insurers following 
the publication of their guidelines in March 2001 (the ‘ABI Guidelines’).

2011 Share Option Schemes

DSOS
The DSOS is made up of two parts. Options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company granted under Part A are 
‘Approved Options’ and options to acquire Shares granted under Part B of the DSOS are ‘Unapproved Options’. 
No consideration shall be payable for the grant of an Option.

575,900 (2010: 675,500) options were granted under DSOS in 2011. The exercise price of options granted under 
DSOS is 315p. For these options to vest there has to be an increase in the Group’s Earnings Per Share (‘EPS’) 
growth over the performance period measured over the 3 consecutive calendar years commencing from the  
date the options were granted. The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year under the 
DSOS was 159.6p per option.

PSP
PSP are granted solely to Executive Directors. Subject to shareholder approval at the 2010 AGM, Executive 
Directors will receive awards under the 2010 Performance Share Plan in the form of nil cost options. No 
consideration is required to be paid for the grant or exercise of an Option.

311,900 (2010: 395,500) options were granted under PSP in 2011. The PSP options provide a conditional right to 
acquire shares at nil cost subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions and continued employment 
with the Group. For these options to vest a comparison is performed between the Group’s TSR against the  
FTSE 250 index (half the options) and the All-Share Oil & Gas Producers index (other half of options).  
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year under the PSP was 184.3p per option.

Pre 2011 Share Option Schemes
In 2009, share options were granted in accordance with The New Approved Share Option Scheme and the 
New Unapproved Share Option Scheme (collectively the ‘2001 Share Option Schemes’) that were introduced in 
2001. They reflect the best practice aspects recommended by the Association of British Insurers following the 
publication of their guidelines in March 2001 (the ‘ABI Guidelines’).

The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2009 under the New Approved Share Option Scheme and 
the New Unapproved Share Option Scheme was 56.90p per option.

Fair value of share options granted
The fair value of options granted under the DSOS is estimated as at the date of grant using a variance of the 
Binomial model, taking into account terms and conditions upon which the options are granted, which includes 
the performance condition related to the Company’s earnings per share directly. No dividends are paid on 
shares under the scheme prior to exercise.

The fair value of options granted under the PSP is estimated as at the date of grant using a variant of the Monte 
Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options are granted, which includes 
the performance condition related to the TSR directly. No dividends are paid on shares under the scheme prior 
to exercise.

The fair value of share options previously granted under the 2001 Share Option Schemes is estimated as at 
the date of grant using a variant of the standard binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options are granted, which includes the performance condition related to the Company’s share 
price directly. The performance condition based on performance relative to other companies is modeled with a 
Monte Carlo model.

The total share based payment charge for the year was $1.6m (2010: $0.8m).
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The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the options granted in the years ended 31 December 
2011 and 31 December 2010. The expected future volatility has been determined by reference to the historical 
volatility.

 2011 2010 2011 2010  
 DSOS DSOS PSP PSP

Dividend yield (%) 1.60 2.10 1.60 2.10 

Expected share price volatility (%) 65.00 66.00 65.00 66.00 

Risk free interest rate (%) 1.90 1.70 1.90 1.50 

Exercise price (pence) 315.00p 241.00p 0.00p 0.00p 

Expected life of option (years) 3.40 3.40 3.00 3.00 

Weighted average share price (pence) 239.93p 288.30p 239.93p 288.30p 

I.  Auditors’ remuneration
   2011 2010 
   $000 $000

Audit services   

Fees payable to company auditors for the audit of the parent company   40 45

Non-audit services   

Tax advisory services   –  –

     40 45 

J.  Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the Directors is disclosed in the audited section of the Remuneration Report on pages 74 to 
83, which form part of these financial statements.

K.  Related party transactions
In respect of the full year 2010 a final dividend of 2.6 pence per share was paid to shareholders on 24 June 2011 
(in respect of the full year 2009: 2.7 pence per share on 11 June 2010); no interim dividend for 2011 was paid 
(2010: 2.4 pence per share). Total dividends paid during the year were 2.6 pence per share (2010: 5.0 pence per 
share) and amounted to $7.2m (2010: $13.2m).

In respect of the full year 2011, the Directors do not propose any final dividend (2010: 2.6 pence per share).  
The total estimated dividend to be paid is $nil (2010: $7.2m). 

L.  Operating lease commitments
At the reporting date, the Company has annual lease agreements in respect of properties for which the 
payments extend over a number of years.

   2011 2010 Annual commitments under non-cancellable opering leases expiring:
   $000 $000

Within one year – land and buildings   – 261 

After five years – land and buildings   532 303

   532 564 

M.  Related party transactions
The Company has made no related party transactions with companies other than wholly owned subsidiaries.
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Five	year	financial	record
Year ended 31 December	

    2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 
    $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue         

– Oil    81.5 78.8 76.4 121.8 122.5 

– Gas    143.1 112.9 118.1 83.1 59.4 

– Management services/other    12.3 1.2 2.0 2.1 2.6

Total    236.9 192.9 196.5 207.0 184.5

Provision for impairment/write off of exploration costs  (12.9) (13.7) (5.0) (6.9) (17.7) 

Production based taxes    (67.1) (5.2) (4.0) (4.0) (3.3) 

Exceptional item – impairment of Russian assets   – (74.6) – – – 

Other cost of sales    (49.6) (51.1) (53.5) (51.1) (37.5)

Total cost of sales    (129.6) (144.6) (62.5) (62.0) (58.5)

Gross profit    107.3 48.3 134.0 145.0 126.0 

Administrative expenses    (25.7) (25.3) (14.6) (12.7) (12.2) 

Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange    0.5 (2.6) (2.3) (6.9) (0.2) 

Gain on disposal/impairment of investment   – – 2.5 – (5.0)

Profit from operations before exceptional item   82.1 95.0 119.6 125.4 108.6 

Profit from operations after exceptional item   82.1 20.4 119.6 125.4 108.6 

Net other income and interest    – 0.4 (0.3) 2.2 4.7

Profit before tax    82.1 20.8 119.3 127.6 113.3 

Taxation     (22.9) 0.4 (34.0) (49.4) (38.9)

Profit for the year    59.1 21.2 85.3 78.2 74.4 

Profit attributable to owners of the parent   59.1 21.2 85.3 78.2 74.4

Ordinary dividends on equity shares    (7.2) (13.2) (12.3) (13.6) (10.0) 

Earnings per share before exceptional item (cents)   34.37 47.56 54.23 49.85 47.97 

Earnings per share after exceptional item (cents)   34.37 12.38 54.23 49.85 47.97

Group operating margin (%)    34.6 10.6 60.9 60.6 58.9

Employment of group capital         

Non-current assets    563.2 460.8 375.9 303.4 253.4 

Net current (liabilities)/assets    (32.4) 26.8 63.1 62.3 58.0 

Non-current liabilities    (24.0) (18.9) (34.7) (31.5) (25.2)

    506.8 468.7 404.3 334.2 286.2

Group capital employed          

Capital and reserves    506.8 468.7 404.3 334.2 286.2

    506.8 468.7 404.3 334.2 286.2

Net funds          

Cash and cash equivalents    19.1 62.0 74.4 64.8 68.1 

Restricted cash    9.8 – – – –

Total cash    28.9 62.0 74.4 64.8 68.1

Net gearing (%)    8.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
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NOTICE is given that the Annual General Meeting 
of JKX Oil & Gas plc (the ‘Company’) will be held at 
the Institute of Directors, 116-123 Pall Mall, London 
SW1Y 5ED on Thursday 24 May 2012 at 10.00am for 
the following purposes:

As ordinary business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following 
resolutions, which will be proposed as ordinary 
resolutions:

1. To receive the accounts of the Company, the 
Directors’ Report and the Auditors’ Report 
thereon for the year ended 31 December 2011. 

2. To approve the Remuneration Report for the year 
ended 31 December 2011.

3. To re-appoint Cynthia Dubin, who has been 
appointed since the last annual general meeting 
of the Company and whose biographical details 
are included at page 62 of the 2011 Annual Report, 
as a director of the Company.

4. To re-appoint Alastair Ferguson, who has been 
appointed since the last annual general meeting 
of the Company and whose biographical details 
are included at page 63 of the 2011 Annual 
Report, as a director of the Company.

5. To re-elect Lord Oxford, who has served on the 
board of directors of the Company for more than 
nine years and whose biographical details are 
included at page 63 of the 2011 Annual Report, as 
a director of the Company.

6. To re-elect Dipesh Shah, who retires by rotation 
and whose biographical details are included at 
page 63 of the 2011 Annual Report, as a director 
of the Company.

7. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as 
auditors of the Company to hold office from the 
conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of 
the next general meeting of the Company at which 
accounts of the Company are laid before the 
members.

8.  To authorise the directors to determine the 
remuneration of the auditors. 

As special business 
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following 
resolutions, which will be proposed as special 
resolutions:

9. That the Company be and is hereby generally 
authorised pursuant to Section 701 of the 
Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’) to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of Section 693(4) of 
the Act) of fully paid ordinary shares in the capital 
of the Company on and subject to the following 
conditions but otherwise unconditionally:

(a) the maximum aggregate number of ordinary 
shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 
17,166,770;

(b) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) 
which may be paid for each such ordinary 
share is an amount equal to 105 per cent of 
the average of the middle market quotations 
for an ordinary share (as derived from the 
London Stock Exchange's Daily Official List) 
for the five business days immediately 
preceding the day on which such ordinary 
share is contracted to be purchased and the 
minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which 
may be paid for such ordinary share is the 
nominal value of such ordinary share at the 
time of such purchase; and

(c) unless previously varied, revoked or renewed, 
the authority conferred by this resolution 
shall expire on the earlier of the date falling 
15 months after the passing of this resolution 
and at the conclusion of the next annual 
general meeting of the Company after the 
date on which this resolution is passed, 
provided that the Company may, before the 
expiry of the authority granted by this 
resolution, enter into a contract to purchase 
ordinary shares under this authority which 
will or may be completed or executed wholly 
or partly after the expiry of such authority and 
may make a purchase of ordinary shares in 
pursuance of such contract.

10. That the directors be and they are hereby 
empowered pursuant to Section 570 of the Act to 
allot equity securities (within the meaning of 
Section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the 
authority to allot such securities passed at the 
annual general meeting of the Company held in 
2010 or by way of a sale of treasury shares as if 
Section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to any such 
allotment, provided that this power shall be 
limited to:

(a) the allotment of equity securities in connection 
with a rights issue or offering in favour of 
ordinary shareholders where the equity 
securities respectively attributable to the 
interests of all ordinary shareholders are 
proportionate (as nearly as may be practicable) 
to the respective numbers of ordinary shares 
held by them, subject to such exclusions or 
other arrangements as the directors may 
consider necessary or expedient to deal with 
treasury shares, fractional entitlements, 
record dates, statutory restrictions, legal or 
practical problems under or resulting from the 
application of the laws of any territory or the 
requirements of any recognised regulatory 
body or stock exchange in any territory; and

Notice	of	Annual	General	Meeting
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(b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to 
sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities 
up to an aggregate nominal value of £858,338;

 and shall expire (unless previously renewed, 
varied or revoked by the Company in general 
meeting) on the earlier of the date falling  
15 months after the passing of this resolution and 
at the conclusion of the Company's next annual 
general meeting after the passing of this 
resolution save that the Company may, before the 
expiry of this power, make an offer or agreement 
which would or might require equity securities to 
be allotted after such expiry and the directors 
may allot equity securities in pursuance of such 
an offer or agreement as if the power conferred 
hereby had not expired.

 This power applies in relation to a sale of shares 
which is an allotment of equity securities by virtue 
of Section 560(2) of the Act as if, in the first 
paragraph of this resolution 10, the words 
'pursuant to the authority to allot such securities 
passed at the annual general meeting of the 
Company held in 2010’ were omitted.

11. That a general meeting, other than an annual 
general meeting, may be called on not less than 
14 clear days’ notice.

By order of the Board 
Cynthia Dubin 
Company secretary 
JKX Oil & Gas plc 
6 Cavendish Square, 
London W1G 0PD

Dated: 27 March 2012

 

Notes

1. Only those members registered on the Company’s register 
of members at:

(a) 6.00pm on 22 May 2012; or,  

(b) if this meeting is adjourned, at 6.00pm on the day two 
days prior to the adjourned meeting, shall be entitled 
to attend and vote at the meeting.

2. Information regarding the meeting, including the 
information required by Section 311A of the Act, is 
available from www.jkx.co.uk.

3. If you wish to attend the meeting in person, it will be held 
at the Institute of Directors, 116-123 Pall Mall, London 
SW1Y 5ED on 24 May 2012 at 10.00am. Registration will 
open at 9.30am. Please bring your admission card, 
enclosed with this notice of annual general meeting 
(‘AGM’), with you and on arrival hand it to one of the 
Company’s officials.

4. If you are a member of the Company at the time set out in 
note 1 above, you are entitled to appoint a proxy to 
exercise all or any of your rights to attend, speak and vote 
at the meeting and you should have received a Form of 
Proxy with this notice of meeting. You can only appoint a 
proxy using the procedures set out in these notes and the 
notes to the Form of Proxy.

5. If you are not a member of the Company but you have been 
nominated by a member of the Company to enjoy 
information rights, you do not have a right to appoint any 
proxies under the procedures set out in these notes and 
the notes to the Form of Proxy. Please read the section 
relating to ‘Nominated Persons’ below.

6. A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company but 
must attend the meeting to represent you. Details of how 
to appoint the Chairman of the meeting or another person 
as your proxy using the Form of Proxy are set out in the 
notes to the Form of Proxy. If you wish your proxy to speak 
on your behalf at the meeting you will need to appoint your 
own choice of proxy (not the Chairman) and give your 
instructions directly to them.

7. The notes to the Form of Proxy explain how to direct your 
proxy how to vote on each resolution or withhold such 
vote. To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy, 
together with the power of attorney or other authority, if 
any, under which it is signed (or a notarially certified copy 
of such power or authority) must be deposited with the 
Company’s Registrars, Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer 
Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA not less than  
48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting. Completion 
and return of the form of proxy will not preclude 
shareholders from attending or voting at the meeting if 
they wish.

8. As an alternative to completing a hardcopy Form of Proxy, 
you can appoint (a) proxy(ies) electronically by visiting 
www.sharevote.co.uk. You will need your Voting ID, Task ID 
and Shareholder Reference Number (as printed on your 
Form of Proxy). Alternatively, if you have already 
registered with Equiniti’s online portfolio service, 
Shareview, you can submit your Form of Proxy at www.
shareview.co.uk. Full instructions are given on both 
websites. To be valid your proxy appointment(s) and 
instructions should reach Equiniti no later than 10.00am 
on 22 May 2012. 

9. As at 2.00pm on 27 March 2012, the Company’s issued 
share capital comprised 172,070,477 ordinary shares of 
10p each. Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote 
at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore, 
excluding 402,771 ordinary shares held in Treasury, the 
total number of voting rights in the Company at such time 
was 171,667,706.

 The website referred to in note 2 will include information 
on the number of shares and voting rights.

10. Under section 319A of the Act, the Company must answer 
any question you ask relating to the business being dealt 
with at the meeting unless:

(a) answering the question would interfere unduly with 
the preparation for the meeting or involve the 
disclosure of confidential information;

(b) the answer has already been given on a website in the 
form of an answer to a question; or
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(c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the 
good order of the meeting that the question be 
answered.

11. If you are a person who has been nominated under Section 
146 of the Act to enjoy information rights (a ‘Nominated 
Person’):

(a) you may have a right under an agreement between you 
and the member of the Company who has nominated 
you to have information rights (a ‘Relevant Member’) 
to be appointed or to have someone else appointed as 
a proxy for the meeting;

(b) if you do not have such a right, or have such a right but 
do not wish to exercise it, you may have a right under 
an agreement between you and the Relevant Member 
to give instructions to the Relevant Member as to the 
exercise of voting rights; and

(c) your main point of contact in terms of your investment 
in the Company remains the Relevant Member (or, 
perhaps, your custodian or broker) and you should 
continue to contact them (and not the Company) 
regarding any changes or queries relating to your 
personal details and your interest in the Company 
(including as to any administrative matters). The only 
exception to this is where the Company expressly 
requests a response from you.

12. Copies of the directors’ service contracts and the terms of 
engagement for non-executive directors, together with the 
register of directors’ share interests, are available for 
inspection at the registered office of the Company during 
normal business hours on each business day until the 
conclusion of the AGM and will also be available at the 
place of the AGM for at least 15 minutes prior to the 
meeting until its conclusion.

13. In accordance with Section 311A of the Act, the contents of 
this notice of meeting, details of the total number of 
shares in respect of which members are entitled to 
exercise voting rights at the AGM and, if applicable, any 
members' statements, members' resolutions or 
members' matters of business received by the Company 
after the date of this notice will be available on the 
Company's website www.jkx.co.uk.

14. You may not use any electronic address provided in this 
notice of AGM or the Form of Proxy or in any related 
documents to communicate with the Company for any 
purpose other than those purposes expressly stated.
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Glossary

2P reserves  Proved plus probable
P50  Reserves and/or resources estimates 

that have a 50 per cent probability of 
being met or exceeded

AIFR	 All Injury Frequency Rate
Bcf	 Billion cubic feet
bcpd	 Barrel of condensate per day
boe	 Barrel of oil equivalent
boepd	 Barrel of oil equivalent per day
bopd	 Barrel of oil per day
bpd	 Barrel per day
cfpd	 Cubic feet per day
Hryvna	 The lawful currency of Ukraine	
HSEC	 Health, Safety, Environment and 

Community 
LIBOR	 London InterBank Offered Rate
LPG	 Liquified Petroleum Gas
LTI	 Lost Time Injuries
Mbbl	 Thousand barrels
Mboe	 Thousand barrels of oil equivalent
Mcf	 Thousand cubic feet
MMbbl	 Million barrels
MMboe	 Million barrels of oil equivalent
MMcfd	 Million cubic feet per day
Roubles	 The lawful currency of Russia	
sq.km	 Square kilometre
TD	 Total depth	
$	 United States Dollars
US		 United States

Conversion factors 6,000 standard cubic feet  
of gas = 1 boe
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